



Caracterización de diferentes marcadores moleculares del microambiente tumoral asociados a la progresión de la Leucemia Linfoide Crónica

Daniel Prieto Mena











Caracterización de diferentes marcadores moleculares del microambiente tumoral asociados a la progresión de la Leucemia Linfoide Crónica

Daniel Prieto Mena

Programa de Posgrado en Ciencias Biológicas Programa de Desarrollo de las Ciencias Básicas Universidad de la República

> Montevideo – Uruguay Febrero de 2018





Caracterización de diferentes marcadores moleculares del microambiente tumoral asociados a la progresión de la Leucemia Linfoide Crónica

Daniel Prieto Mena

Tesis de Doctorado presentada al Programa de Posgrado en Ciencias Biológicas, Programa de Desarrollo de las Ciencias Básicas de la Universidad de la República, como parte de los requisitos necesarios para la obtención del título de Doctor en Ciencias Biológicas.

Director:

Dr. Pablo Oppezzo

Montevideo – Uruguay Febrero de 2018

Índice general

Indice	VI
Prefacio	1
Resumen para público general	2
Resumen	3
Lista de artículos	5
Introducción	7
Leucemia linfoide crónica: Generalidades	8
El microambiente Tumoral	8
Vesículas extracelulares: generalidades	9
Exosomas y microvesículas: origen y tipos de carga	10
Vesículas extracelulares en el cáncer	10
Las vesículas extracelulares como inmunomoduladoras $\ . \ . \ .$	11
Regulación de la proliferación tumoral y quimioresistencia	12
Metástasis	12
Vesículas extracelulares en la LLC	13
Marcadores con valor pronóstico en la LLC	14
Vesículas extracelulares como marcadores con valor pronóstico en	
LLC	15
Lipoprotein lipasa (LPL) como marcador pronóstico en la LLC $$.	15
Funciones metabólicas de LPL en el linfocito B de LLC $\ldots \ldots$	17
Lipoprotein lipasa	19
Objetivos	23
Resultados	25
I. S100-A9 protein in exosomes from chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells promotes NF- κ B activity during disease progression	26

ÍNDICE GENERAL

S100-A9 protein in exosomes from chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells promotes NF- κ B activity during disease progression (paper)	28
 II. Unmutated IgHV CLL cells express more LPL protein than mutated cells and is associated with a poor clinical outcome. Unmutated IgHV CLL cells express more LPL protein than muta- 	50
ted cells and is associated with a poor clinical outcome (ma- nuscrito)	52
kemia: New Insights into Leukemic Progression Lipoprotein Lipase Expression in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia:	69
New Insights into Leukemic Progression (paper)	70
Discusión	79
Perspectivas	87
Bibliografía	89
Agradecimientos	111
Anexos	115
Activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway by microRNA-22 results in CLL B-cell proliferation (paper)	116
Dissecting chronic lymphocytic leukemia microenvironment signals in patients with unmutated disease: microRNA-22 regulates phosphatase and tensin homolog/AKT/FOXO1 pathway in	
proliferative leukemic cells (paper)	127

Prefacio

Resumen para público general

La Leucemia linfoide crónica (LLC) es la más frecuente de las leucemias entre las poblaciones adultas de origen caucásico. Su evolución sigue un curso sumamente variable, con pacientes que presentan una sobrevida que oscila entre meses y décadas. Un tercio de los pacientes no requiere tratamiento, presenta una vida prolongada, y su muerte, generalmente no se encuentra relacionada con la leucemia. Otro tercio de los pacientes comienza con una fase indolente seguida por una progresión de la enfermedad mientras que el resto presenta una enfermedad agresiva desde el debut, que requiere rápidamente de tratamiento. Debido a la heterogénea evolución clínica de los pacientes con LLC, los marcadores pronósticos que permiten predecir la evolución de la enfermedad son sumamente relevantes en avudar a la decisión clínica de dar o no tratamiento a los pacientes padeciendo esta leucemia. En el presente trabajo de tesis se analizan varios marcadores asociados al contexto celular y molecular en el que se encuentran las células tumorales, el microambiente tumoral, que puede influenciar la expansión o el control del tumor. En particular, se tratan nuestros hallazgos realizados en torno a los exosomas de la LLC, las proteínas que llevan como carga y sus cambios durante el avance de la enfermedad. También se analiza la distribución y función de la proteína lipoprotein lipasa (LPL) en la célula tumoral de LLC, y el desarrollo de un método para predecir la evolución de la enfermedad utilizando esta información.

Resumen

La leucemia linfoide crónica es la más frecuente en el adulto en poblaciones occidentales. Se caracteriza por una acumulación lenta y sostenida de linfocitos B clonales en sangre periférica y órganos linfoides secundarios. Actualmente se entiende que, al igual que otros tumores, implica más que una masa de células malignas que simplemente se acumulan. El intercambio de señales entre las células de LLC y distintos tipos de células en los tejidos linfoides es crucial para la liberacion de señales que promuevan el crecimiento de la masa tumoral, la evasión del sistema inmunitario, la quimiorresistencia, y la remodelación tisular que construyen el microambiente tumoral. Este microambiente es un participante activo en los procesos de progresión del cáncer y metástasis, por lo que su estudio constituye no solo un importante desafío para la ciencia básica, sino además una nueva esperanza de desarrollo terapéutico.

Los exosomas son pequeñas vesículas de origen endocítico secretadas por las células, y su papel en el progreso de la enfermedad tumoral, la resistencia a la quimio y radioterapia, así como el acondicionamiento del nicho metastásico a través de la transferencia de ARNs pequeños o proteínas efectoras han despertado gran interés en los últimos tiempos. Sin embargo, en LLC aun hay muy poca información referente a las cargas proteicas de los mismos. Por este motivo hemos explorado los cambios en el perfil proteómico de los exosomas plasmáticos en la LLC durante la progresión de la enfermedad. Hemos descubierto que los perfiles de los exosomas de pacientes con LLC indolente y progresiva son diferentes, y que los mismos cambian con el avance de la enfermedad. También hemos identificado la proteína S100-A9 como una proteína firma del progreso de la LLC, y la presencia de su receptor EMMPRIN en el clon maligno. Hemos descubierto que los exosomas cargados con S100-A9 son capaces de activar la vía canónica de NF- κ B, y promover la proliferación del clon tumoral. Una pregunta para la que aun no poseemos respuesta es si los exosomas cargados con S100-A9 aparecen en el plasma de los pacientes antes o sólo durante la progresión. Esto constituye una importante interrogante, ya que la LLC posee un curso clínico heterogéneo y la identificación temprana de los pacientes cuya enfermedad sera progresiva es crucial para brindarles el tratamiento oportunamente.

Numerosos esfuerzos en el área clínico/básica han sido realizados con el objetivo de encontrar un marcador pronóstico de fácil aplicación en la clínica hospitalaria y que sea lo más fiable posible en predecir la evolución de la enfermedad. Hasta el momento los tres marcadores pronósticos más utilizados en LLC tienen cada uno de ellos diferentes problemas, que restringen su

utilización como método de pronóstico único. Luego del trabajo de nuestro grupo sobre los genes *LPL* y *ADAM-29* otros artículos han confirmado, que la expresión del ARNm del gen *LPL* está asociada a un mal pronóstico y que es un excelente marcador de progresión en la LLC. A pesar de los estudios existentes y que el valor pronóstico de la expresión de LPL está consolidado, el rol funcional de su sobreexpresión en la patogénesis de la LLC aún no ha sido dilucidado, así como tampoco los mecanismos moleculares que regulan su expresión. En el presente trabajo indagamos algunos aspectos, hasta el momento desconocidos, de la biología de la proteína LPL en la célula de LLC, como su distribución subcelular y la capacidad de los linfocitos B de endocitar LPL, y describimos además el desarrollo de un método pronóstico para LLC basado en la detección de la proteína LPL mediante citometría de flujo.

Lista de artículos

Esta tesis ha generado los siguientes artículos:

I. **Prieto, D.**; Sotelo, N.; Seija, N.; Sernbo, S.; Abreu, C.; Durán, R.; Gil, M.; Sicco, E.; Irigoin, V.; Oliver, C.; Landoni, A. I.; Gabus, R.; Dighiero, G.; Oppezzo, P. (2017)

S100-A9 protein in exosomes from chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells promotes NF- κ B activity during disease progression.

Blood, 130:777-788

II. **Prieto**, **D.**; Uriepero, A.; Seija, N.; Ortega, C.; Oliver, C.; Irigoin, V.; Landoni, A.I.; Souto-Padron, T.; Gabús, R.; Oppezzo, P. (2018)

Unmutated IgHV CLL cells express more LPL protein than mutated cells and is associated with a clinical poor outcome

Manuscrito en preparación

III. Prieto, D.; Oppezzo, P. (2017)

Lipoprotein lipase expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: new insights into leukemic progression

Molecules, 22(12):2083

IV. Palacios, F.; Abreu, C.; **Prieto, D.**; Morande, P.; Ruiz, S.; Fernandez-Calero, T.; Naya, H.; Libisch, G.; Robello, C.; Landoni, A.I.; Gabus, R.; Dighiero, G.; Oppezzo, P. (2015)

Activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway by microRNA-22 results in CLL B-

cell proliferation

Leukemia, 29(1):115-125 ANEXO

V. Palacios, F.; **Prieto, D.**; Abreu, C.; Ruiz, S.; Morande, P.; Fernandez-Calero, T.; Libisch, G.; Landoni, A.I.; Oppezzo, P. (2015)

Dissecting chronic lymphocytic leukemia microenvironment signals in patients with unmutated disease: microRNA-22 regulates phosphatase and tensin homolog/AKT/FOXO1 pathway in proliferative leukemic cells

Leukemia & Lymphoma, 56(5):1560-1565 ANEXO

Introducción

Leucemia linfoide crónica: Generalidades

La Leucemia linfoide crónica (LLC) es la leucemia más frecuente del adulto en poblaciones de origen caucásico (Hallek 2015). En Uruguay, su incidencia es de 5.2 pacientes cada 100.000 habitantes por año(Bianchi et al. 2010), aunque su prevalencia es mucho mayor. La LLC es una enfermedad de linfocitos B maduros, clonales, que se acumulan en la sangre periférica, médula osea y otros tejidos linfoides, y es diagnosticada por la presencia de más de 5000 linfocitos B por microlitro de sangre periférica persistente por más de 3 meses (Fabbri y Dalla-Favera 2016). Esta leucemia se caracteriza por la acumulación de células B clonales circulantes de larga vida, como resultado de un desbalance entre la proliferación celular y la muerte por apoptosis. Cada vez más evidencia sugiere que las células B de LLC en los ganglios linfáticos y la médula osea, que interaccionan con células estromales, reciben señales de proliferación y son protegidas de la muerte celular. Estos datos han llevado a ver a la LLC como un proceso dinámico con células que proliferan y también mueren, a veces a niveles apreciables (Caligaris-Cappio y Ghia 2008). Esta interacción entre células accesorias en microambientes de tejidos especializados favorece la progresión de la enfermedad, promoviendo el crecimiento de las células B malignas, y el surgimiento de nuevas alteraciones genéticas que favorecen la resistencia a los tratamientos (Burger et al. 2009). El pronóstico de la LLC y su curso clínico heterogéneo probablemente se deben, al menos en parte, a esta señalización del microambiente, y aunque los tratamientos existentes a veces producen la remisión de la enfermedad, la LLC sigue siendo incurable en algunos casos (Oppezzo y Dighiero 2013). El debut y la evolución de la LLC son heterogéneos, con pacientes cuya sobrevida oscila entre meses y décadas (Vasconcelos et al. 2003). Un tercio de los pacientes de LLC presenta una enfermedad indolente con una larga sobrevida y nunca requiere tratamiento, otro tercio presenta una enfermedad agresiva desde el comienzo y debe ser tratado inmediatamente, y un último tercio debuta con una enfermedad indolente que puede mantenerse así por años, pero que luego progresa invariablemente hacia una enfermedad agresiva (Dighiero 2003).

El microambiente tumoral

Una visión clásica define al microambiente como el conjunto de células accesorias y matriz extracelular que provee el soporte estructural y molecular, el estroma, para las células parenquimales en un órgano. En el cáncer

ocurren complejas interacciones de naturaleza similar entre las células tumorales y el tejido estromal no tumoral que lo circunda (Ten Hacken y Burger 2014). El intercambio de señales entre las células de LLC y distintos tipos de células estromales, como las células estromales mesenquimales, nurse-like cells derivadas de monocitos, y células T, ocurre en la médula ósea y tejidos linfoides secundarios (Burger y Gribben 2014). Estos tejidos especializados proveen un microambiente favorable para la célula tumoral, promoviendo su proliferación y desarrollo de quimioresistencia en sitios microanatómicos denominados centros proliferantes o seudofoliculos (Burger 2013). Recientemente se ha demostrado mediante la administración de agua deuterada a los pacientes, que el principal sitio de proliferación de las células de LLC es el ganglio linfático, y que la tasa de proliferación en el ganglio se correlaciona inversamente con el tiempo de duplicación linfocitaria y el tiempo al primer tratamiento (Herndon et al. 2017). Tanto las células tumorales como las células accesorias son capaces de liberar vesículas extracelulares al medio tumoral y los fluidos corporales, que funcionan como vehículos de transferencia de información. Así, una visión más moderna del microambiente tumoral debería incluir en su definición también a las vesículas extracelulares (Whiteside 2017a).

Vesículas extracelulares: generalidades

Las vesículas extracelulares constituyen un sistema de comunicación intercelular, dependiente de la dinámica de membranas, que ha recibido una gran atención en las últimas décadas por su capacidad de mediar comunicación entre células a distancia dentro de un organismo. Aunque la terminología en la literatura es confusa en cuanto a su categorización, se ha aceptado que existen al menos tres tipos de vesículas extracelulares exosomas, microvesículas o ectosomas y cuerpos apoptóticos, y se las categoriza de acuerdo a su origen intracelular, tamaño y propiedades (Kosaka et al. 2013; Cocucci y Meldolesi 2015; Urabe et al. 2017). Los exosomas son vesículas cuyo diámetro medio oscila entre 30-100 nm, y tienen su origen en vesículas intraluminales de endosomas tardíos que se convierten en cuerpos multivesiculares (Raposo y Stoorvogel 2013; Cocucci y Meldolesi 2015). Las microvesículas (MV), en cambio, son de mayor tamaño con diámetros que oscilan entre 100 y 500 o 1000nm, y brotan o se desprenden directamente de la membrana plasmática en respuesta a un estimulo (Raposo y Stoorvogel 2013; Urabe et al. 2017). Los cuerpos apoptóticos tienen varias micras de diámetro (800-5000 nm), y se originan cuando las células mueren por apoptosis (Urabe et al. 2017).

Exosomas y microvesículas: origen y tipos de carga

Los exosomas y MV transportan moléculas de microARN, Y-ARN (Haderk et al. 2017), ARNm que pueden ser traducidos a proteína en sus células blanco (Ratajczak et al. 2006; Valadi et al. 2007), lípidos bioactivos, ADN y proteínas(Pando et al. 2018). Su composición refleja su origen intracelular, y permite su identificación. Los exosomas se forman por un proceso de invaginación de los endosomas para formar cuerpos multivesiculares (MVB). Los MVB se fusionan luego con la membrana plasmática liberando así los exosomas al medio extracelular. Así, los exosomas poseen como carga general, miembros de la familia de las tetraspaninas (CD9, CD63 y CD81), miembros de el complejo (endosomal-sorting complex required for transport) ESCRT (TSG101, Alix), proteínas de heat shock (Hsp60, Hsp70, Hsp90), proteínas Rab (Rab27A/B) y proteínas de endosoma tardío/lisosoma (LAMP-1/2) (Iero et al. 2008; Urabe et al. 2017; Hessvik y Llorente 2017). El proceso de formación de las MV es todavía poco conocido, pero se sabe qué ocurre directamente en la membrana plasmática y es dependiente de una vía regulada por calcio. Se requiere la formación de microdominios de membrana tipo lipid rafts, a partir de los cuales ocurre el brotamiento. Como se han identificado también tetraspaninas en las MV (CD9, CD63 y CD81), se ha sugerido que podrían jugar un papel en el brotamiento y fusión de membranas, y en su direccionamiento posterior (Rana y Zöller 2011). También poseen en su superficie externa fosfatidilserina, que normalmente se encuentra en la hemicapa interna de la membrana plasmática, pero durante el brotamiento y fusión de membranas se pierde la asimetría de membrana mediante un proceso de flip-flop. Las microvesículas circulantes forman una población aun más heterogénea y poseen en su superficie algunos marcadores de superficie de sus células de origen (Lawson et al. 2017).

Vesículas extracelulares en el cáncer

Los primeros reportes de vesículas extracelulares fueron realizados a finales de la década de 1970 por dos grupos independientes que trabajaban en neoplasias linfoides, y casi inmediatamente después fueron identificadas en otros tipos de cáncer (Pando et al. 2018). Sin embargo, no fue hasta el ano 2002, que se identificó su rol en la modulación del microambiente tumoral promoviendo la angiogenesis (Kim et al. 2002). Los exosomas y microvesículas presentes en la sangre de los pacientes con tumores constituyen una población heterogénea compuesta por exosomas y MV originadas en células sanas, células patológicas por condiciones de comorbilidad, y células tumorales. Los exosomas y microvesículas de origen tumoral poseen características moleculares diferentes que las de otras fuentes (Zhang y Grizzle 2014), y entre sus funciones biológicas se incluyen la presentación de antígenos, regulación de la muerte celular programada, angiogenesis, inflamación y coagulación (Théry, Zitvogel y Amigorena 2002).

Las vesículas extracelulares como inmunomoduladoras

Las células estromales mesenquimales, son también llamadas células madre mesenquimales (MSCs), porque son células capaces de autorenovar su población, y de diferenciarse en distintos tipos celulares. Las MSCs poseen baja inmunogenicidad ya que no expresan antígenos HLA de clase II, y son capaces de suprimir la actividad de células efectoras y de promover la actividad de células reguladoras del sistema inmunitario. En el cáncer, las MSC proveen de anclaje a las células tumorales en forma de estroma tumoral, y pueden transdiferenciar en macrófagos M2, células mieloides supresoras (MDSCs), o micrófagos M2 bajo la influencia de quimioquinas o citoquinas (Whiteside 2017a). Las células tumorales pueden ejercer actividades autócrinas, yuxtácrinas, parácrinas, y acaso endocrinas, ya que pueden diseminarse por medio de la circulación y ejercer actividades en sitios del organismo lejanos a su origen. Así, pueden actuar directamente sobre células efectoras, o mediante células de relé inmunomodulatoria como las MSCs. Estas funciones has sido cuidadosamente revisadas recientemente en (Whiteside 2017b). Asimismo, el flujo de información mediado por exosomas o MV puede ser bidireccional, tanto con las MSCs, o con células diferenciadas del sistema inmunitario innato como mastocitos, neutrófilos o células NK (Benito-Martin et al. 2015). Hay evidencias también de que los exosomas derivados de tumores pueden inhibir directamente la proliferación de T CD4+ en respuesta a IL2, que se acompaña de una imposibilidad de up-regular CD25 y de una capacidad supresora mayor de las células T regulatorias posiblemente debido al TGF β 1 asociado a los exosomas. Pueden también afectar a las células T induciendo apoptosis mediada por FAS, y por actividad enzimática, llevando a la producción de adenosina extracelular influenciando así negativamente a los leucocitos infiltrantes del tumor (Thuma y Zöller 2014).

Regulación de la proliferación tumoral y quimioresistencia

La adquisición de resistencia de novo a la quimioterapia, radioterapia, y tratamientos dirigidos representan un obstáculo mayor en la terapéutica del cáncer. Se trata de un proceso multifactorial multifactorial que involucra cambios hacia rutas bioquímicas secundarias cuando la primaria ha sido afectada, supresión epigenética de proteínas supresoras de tumores activadas por microARNs (Rovira et al. 2010), la presencia de células madre tumorales altamente resistentes con capacidad plástica para realizar transiciones epitelio-mesenquimales, o reacciones dermoplásticas que llevan a baja penetración de drogas en el microambiente tumoral, entre otros fenómenos (Azmi, Bao y Sarkar 2013). Se ha reportado que los exosomas pueden jugar un papel en la modulación de estos procesos a través de la transferencia de proteínas como Survivina, que suprime la eficacia de la irradiación por protones en modelos celulares (Khan et al. 2009). Asimismo, los exosomas son capaces de inducir la proliferación de células tumorales, como se ha demostrado en lineas de adenocarcinoma (Xiao et al. 2014) con exosomas derivados de mastocitos, o en linfocitos B con exosomas derivados de lineas celulares de linfoma de Burkitt (Gutzeit et al. 2014), o con exosomas de plasma de pacientes con LLC (Prieto et al. 2017).

Metástasis

La enfermedad metastásica diseminada es responsable de más del 90 % de las muertes relacionadas al cáncer, y representa un desafío científico, médico y tecnológico ya que es difícil de tratar desde la cirugía, la quimioterapia convencional o la radioterapia. La metástasis es un proceso microevolutivo complejo y altamente dinámico en donde algunas células tumorales son capaces de migrar y diseminarse desde su tejido de origen, sobrevivir en microambientes tisulares diferentes, y proliferar a distancia de su origen (Rankin y Giaccia 2016). Una serie de elementos como células de distintos linajes, moléculas de señalización, las matrices extracelulares, y la hipoxia están involucrados en la generación y mantenimiento del microambiente tumoral. Es generalmente aceptada la idea de que estos mismos elementos proveen constantemente al nicho metastásico de sus señales que educan a las células tumorales para volverse agresivas y quimiorresistentes (Azmi, Bao y Sarkar 2013). En los últimos años se han identificado algunos tipos de señalización mediada por exosomas como responsables del condicionamiento del nicho pre-metastásico (Kaplan et al. 2005; Peinado et al. 2012; Thuma y Zöller 2014), como las proteínas de la familia S100 con roles diversos revisadas en (Bresnick, Weber y Zimmer 2015), así como las integrinas presentes en los exosomas serian responsables del organotropismo metastásico (Hoshino et al. 2015). De este modo, los exosomas derivados de tumores han convocado la atención de una parte de la comunidad científica que ha abordado el desafío de descifrar y controlar esta importante frontera en la biología del cáncer.

Vesículas extracelulares en la LLC

El plasma de pacientes de LLC presenta un numero elevado de microvesículas (MV) y exosomas, y estos modifican vías de señalización intracelular en células estromales de médula osea (Ghosh et al. 2010; Haderk et al. 2013). Como resultado de esta estimulación mediada por MV se alteraría el funcionamiento celular normal, reprogramando vías de señalización que podrían modular el microambiente favoreciendo la progresión tumoral. Según el análisis de su inmunofenotipo, en etapas tempranas de la enfermedad las MV parecen derivar principalmente de plaquetas, mientras que en estadios avanzados son más abundantes (De Luca et al. 2017), y derivarían principalmente de linfocitos B (Ghosh et al. 2010). Recientemente, Crompot y colaboradores han mostrado que una mezcla de exosomas y microvesículas derivadas de células estromales mesenquimales de médula osea en cultivo es capaz de modificar el patrón de expresión génica de las células B de LLC in vitro, y de protegerlas de la apoptosis espontanea. Este tratamiento también mostró que podía estimular la capacidad migratoria de las células B de LLC en ensayos de migración transwell, y la quimioresistencia a 8 drogas, entre las que se encontraba la quimioterapia tradicional (fludarabina, bortezomib) e inhibidores moleculares de última generación (ibrutinib, venetoclax, idelalisib) (Crompot et al. 2017). Las células de LLC liberan más exosomas que los linfocitos B normales, como ocurre en otros tipos de cáncer (Yeh et al. 2015; Wolfers et al. 2001). Los exosomas de LLC son capaces de provocar un fenotipo inflamatorio, modulando una transición fenotípica de células estromales a fibroblastos asociados al cáncer (CAF) a través de la activación de vías de señalización como AKT y NF- κ B (Paggetti et al. 2015). Los perfiles de carga de ARNs pequeños y proteínas de los exosomas de la LLC han sido caracterizados (Paggetti et al. 2015; Yeh et al. 2015; Prieto et al. 2017; Haderk et al. 2017). El análisis de estas cargas exosómicas ha permitido comprender parte de la interacción entre las células B de LLC y el microambiente tumoral, a través de la modulación de células estromales (Paggetti et al. 2015), monocitos (Haderk et al. 2017), o del propio linfocito B (Prieto et al. 2017) que llevan a la generación de un medio inmunotolerante en el que tanto la respuesta a patógenos o a neoantígenos expresados por células malignas esta disminuida (van Attekum, Eldering y Kater 2017).

Marcadores con valor pronóstico en la LLC

La existencia de un grupo de pacientes cuya enfermedad debuta en forma indolente, y que luego progresa hacia una forma agresiva ha hecho que la búsqueda de marcadores con valor pronóstico en la LLC haya sido de importancia capital. En la clínica se utilizan para el pronóstico marcadores clásicos, que surgen de un examen físico o del laboratorio clínico, como la estratificación clínica con los criterios de Rai y Binet, el recuento linfocitario, la morfología linfocitaria en sangre periférica, el tiempo de duplicación linfocitaria, o el grado de infiltración en la médula osea en aspirado o biopsia (Moreno y Montserrat 2008). Se han desarrollado además varios marcadores moleculares con grados variables de implementación en la practica clínica, aunque el más confiable y universal sigue siendo el estado mutacional de los genes de las cadenas pesadas de inmunoglobulina (IgVH) (Damle et al. 1999; Hamblin et al. 1999). Aquellos pacientes portadores de hipermutación somática en sus genes IgVH (IgVH mutados) poseen un mejor pronóstico que aquellos con genes IgVH no mutados. El estado mutacional de los genes IgVH forma parte de un subgrupo de marcadores de tipo genético, junto con las aberraciones cromosómicas y las mutaciones que las preceden en el tiempo (Hurtado et al. 2015). Varias aberraciones cromosómicas han sido identificadas en pacientes de LLC y vinculadas a su evolución(Döhner et al. 2000), de las cuales dos ha sido descritas como marcadores fundamentales de agresividad, las deleciones TP53 en 17p y ATM en 11q (Zenz, Döhner y Stilgenbauer 2007). Otro subgrupo importante de marcadores pronósticos es el de los reporteros plasmáticos de la carga tumoral, β 2-microglobulina, CD23 soluble, lactato deshidrogenasa y en algunos casos timidina quinasa (Zenz, Fulda y Stilgenbauer 2010). Un tercer subgrupo de marcadores moleculares son los marcadores celulares, como las proteínas ZAP-70, CD38, y la integrina CD49d (Bulian et al. 2014).

Vesículas extracelulares como marcadores con valor pronóstico en LLC

Como la cantidad de exosomas y MV circulantes aumenta con el progreso de la LLC, se ha sugerido el uso de la cuenta absoluta de MV por microlitro de sangre como factor pronóstico en la LLC (De Luca et al. 2017). También se ha propuesto el uso de algunos biomarcadores derivados de exosomas, principalmente ARNs pequeños con valor pronóstico en la LLC, revisados en (Mirzaei et al. 2018). Es posible que de los resultados de proteómica tipo shotgun (Paggetti et al. 2015; Prieto et al. 2017), así como de los perfiles obtenidos de microarreglos de anticuerpos (Belov et al. 2016) de los exosomas de LLC, aparezcan en el futuro cercano marcadores proteicos con valor pronóstico derivados de exosomas circulantes.

Lipoprotein lipasa (LPL) como marcador pronóstico en la LLC

En la primera década de este siglo, se realizaron análisis de perfil de expresión génica comparando grupos de pacientes IgVH mutados y no mutados. Mediante este tipo de análisis, el nuestro y otros grupos demostraron que el gen LPL, que codifica la lipoprotein lipasa, es expresado de forma diferencial en pacientes mutados y no mutados (Klein et al. 2001; Rosenwald et al. 2001; Vasconcelos et al. 2005). Este resultado motivó el estudio y validación de la expresión de dos genes, LPL en pacientes IgVH no mutados y ADAM29 en pacientes IgVH mutados, como candidatos para proponer un nuevo método pronóstico basado en ARN. El método fue puesto a prueba en una cohorte de 127 pacientes de LLC, y correlacionado con el estado mutacional de los genes IgVH y la evolución clínica. Finalmente, nuestro grupo mostró que la cuantificación de la relación entre la expresión de LPL/ADAM29 es un marcador pronóstico fuerte en la LLC, y que provee mejor discernimiento de la evolución clínica que los marcadores serológicos en estadios avanzados de la enfermedad (Oppezzo et al. 2005). Posteriormente, un gran cuerpo de evidencia ha probado que la presencia del ARNm de LPL esta asociado a un mal pronóstico, y que es el marcador molecular más robusto en la LLC (Heintel et al. 2005; van't Veer et al. 2006; Nückel et al. 2006; Mansouri et al. 2010b; Kaderi et al. 2011; Porpaczy et al. 2013; Mátrai et al. 2017). La expresión incrementada del gen LPL en células B de pacientes IgVH no mutados es una observación destacable, ya que no

Introducción

hay expresión de LPL en las células B normales. Esta expresión especifica y ectópica constituye no solamente un marcador pronóstico adecuado para estudiar la evolución de la enfermedad, sino que también podría ser de utilidad para entender el curso proliferativo heterogéneo de la LLC. A pesar de que el valor pronóstico de la expresión de LPL esta ya bien consolidado, el papel funcional de la expresión de LPL en la patogénesis de la LLC y los mecanismos que controlan su expresión siguen siendo materia de debate (Prieto y Oppezzo 2017). A pesar de estar bien consolidado como factor pronóstico, hasta el momento no se ha implantado el uso del ARNm de LPL en la practica clínica, dado que requiere análisis de biología molecular al igual que el perfil mutacional de genes IgVH, y muchos servicios médicos aun no proveen de rutina tales análisis. Aunque desde hace tiempo se sabe que la proteína LPL se expresa en algunos pacientes de LLC, y se ha descrito que posee una distribución puntiforme en la célula, se ha intentado infructuosamente determinar la utilidad de la proteína LPL como marcador, ya que los niveles de proteína parecen no reflejar los niveles de ARNm (Heintel et al. 2005), lo que ha minado la posibilidad de utilizarlo como marcador en citología o citometría de flujo, que son las técnicas de rutina normalmente empleadas en la mayoría de los laboratorios clínicos. Esta posibilidad presenta un importante atractivo, ya que los marcadores actualmente disponibles para pronóstico de LLC mediante citometría de flujo como ZAP-70 y CD38 presentan desventajas técnicas que han impedido su universalización. En el caso de ZAP-70, el problema biológico radica en que la proteína es expresada en otras células de la sangre aparte del clon tumoral, lo que plantea problemas técnicos a la hora de establecer los controles internos en las células T o NK, o el origen de las muestras en sangre periférica o médula ósea (Rassenti y Kipps 2006); y en el caso de CD38 el problema surge del cambio que sufren sus niveles de expresión con la activación de las células de LLC (Brachtl et al. 2014). Respecto a las funciones de LPL en las células de LLC, cada vez más evidencia sugiere que su expresión podría ayudar al clon leucémico a incrementar su sobrevida y señalización proliferativa, llevando al progreso de la enfermedad.

Nuestro grupo ha mostrado que las señales del microambiente pueden inducir la expresión de LPL y un fenotipo proliferante en cultivos primarios de células B de LLC (Abreu et al. 2013; Moreno et al. 2013). En el mismo sentido, Rozovski, Grgurevic, et al. Mostraron que LPL confiere una ventaja en la sobrevida a las células de LLC, puesto que el silenciamiento de LPL con shRNA incrementa la muerte apoptótica de las mismas (Rozovski et al. 2015). Asimismo, recientemente se ha reportado que las mutaciones en el gen NOTCH1, que están asociadas a la progresión de la enfermedad y refractariedad al tratamiento (Sportoletti et al. 2010) están directamente relacionadas a la expresión de LPL en la LLC (Kristensen et al. 2016). Respecto de los mecanismos que regulan la expresión de LPL, nuestro grupo ha demostrado que la expresión anormal del gen LPL en pacientes de LLC IgVH no mutado es producto de la desmetilación en la isla CpG que abarca todo el exón 1 y los primeros nucleótidos del primer intrón de LPL (Abreu et al. 2013). Este mecanismo epigenético parece ser disparado principalmente por señales dependientes de células T, y en algunos pacientes a través del cross-linking del receptor de la célula B (BCR). Por el contrario, la señalización a través de las vías de TLR9 o TLR1/2 no son capacees de inducir la desmetilación de la isla CpG, la expresión de LPL ni la proliferación de las células B (Moreno et al. 2013). Rozovski, Grgurevic, et al. mostraron que la expresión de LPL también puede ser regulada transcripcionalmente por la fosforilación de STAT3 y su translocación al núcleo, donde puede unirse al promotor de LPL (Rozovski et al. 2015). Además, la expresión de LPL puede ser regulada postranstripcionalmente a través del micro ARN miR-29 (Chen et al. 2011; Bouvy-Liivrand et al. 2014), suya expressión se sabe que esta disminuida en pacientes de alto riesgo con IgVH no mutado (Calin et al. 2004; Fulci et al. 2007; Marton et al. 2008; Stamatopoulos et al. 2009).

Funciones metabólicas de LPL en el linfocito B de LLC

LPL es capaz de mediar procesos de lipólisis y consecuentemente alimentar la proliferación celular mediada por ácidos grasos en varios tipos de tumores sólidos (Kuemmerle et al. 2011), y recientemente se ha reportado que las lipoproteínas de baja densidad pueden potenciar respuestas proliferativas de las células de LLC en respuesta a señales pro-inflamatorias(McCaw et al. 2017). Los niveles de la proteína PPAR α en linfocitos B de LLC se han correlacionado con la leucocitosis y con la estratificación clínica de Rai, lo que sugiere un cambio metabólico hacia la oxidación de ácidos grasos vía PPAR α (Spaner et al. 2013) y PPAR δ (McCaw et al. 2017). A estos hallazgos se suma la observación de que los linfocitos B tumorales de LLC tienen estructuras vacuolares en su citoplasma, y que la incubación con ácidos grasos libres (FFAs) incrementa su tasa metabólica en función del consumo de oxígeno (Rozovski et al. 2015). Además se ha encontrado que la incidencia de la hiperlipidemia es mayor en pacientes de LLC, y que el tratamiento de la misma con estatinas retrasa el tiempo al tratamiento de la LLC(Chow, Buckstein y Spaner 2015). El mismo grupo expandió su estudio inicial a una cohorte de >2000 pacientes de LLC en retrospectiva y encontró que tanto el tratamiento con drogas que disminuyen los lípidos, como el tratamiento con estatinas, prolongaba la sobrevida total de los pacientes en 3,7 años (Mozessohn et al. 2017). Estos hallazgos sugieren que un segundo mecanismo mediado por LDL podría convergir en la fosforilación de STAT3, generando una activación de los linfocitos B en la LLC (McCaw et al. 2017). El estudio de perfiles transcripcionales ha permitido identificar un cambio metabólico hacia una estrategia tipo muscular o adiposa, con oxidación de lípidos en células B de pacientes de mal pronóstico IgVH no mutado(Bilban et al. 2006). Cómo es que esta reprogramación metabólica termina repercutiendo en una mala evolución de la enfermedad, es algo que recién se esta comenzando a entender. Los ácidos grasos de cadena larga, el colesterol libre y la vitamina E aumentan la fosforilación de STAT3 mediada por IL-10, interferon- α o esteres de forbol en células de LLC(McCaw et al. 2017). La fosforilación de STAT3 a su vez dirige directamente la expresión de LPL, a través de la unión a un elemento tipo GAS 280pb rio arriba del sitio de inicio de la transcripción de LPL, y activando su transcripción(Rozovski et al. 2015). LPL favorece la oxidación de ácidos grasos, y esto parece resulta en una mayor sobrevida celular, puesto que tanto el silenciamiento de LPL como su inhibición química reducen la viabilidad de las células de LLC(Pallasch et al. 2008; Rozovski et al. 2015), lo que podría explicarse en parte por una respuesta transcripcional(Porpaczy et al. 2013). Asimismo, la inducción de la expresión de LPL por señales del microambiente estimula la proliferación celular (Moreno et al. 2013). Estos hallazgos indican que la expresión de LPL puede ser regulada por el microambiente, sea por señales autócrinas o parácrinas, y reflejan un cambio metabólico en las células B de LLC que les confiere una ventaja adaptativa. Una retroalimentación positiva podría mantener la expresión de LPL y empeorar el escenario para los pacientes IgVH no mutado. En la LLC STAT3 esta constitutivamente activado, lo que a su vez activa la expresión de LPL(Rozovski et al. 2015). LPL degrada lipoproteínas de muy baja densidad (VLDLs) y quilomicrones, liberando ácidos grasos libres (FFAs), y generando un estado pro-inflamatorio que a su vez activa STAT3(Spaner et al. 2013) y más activación de la transcripción de LPL. Esto a su vez incrementaría los niveles de FFAs, exagerando la respuesta de las celulas de LLC a la señalización por citoquinas. Los aspectos más generales de las vías metabólicas en LLC han sido recientemente revisados(Rozovski et al. 2016).

Lipoprotein lipasa

Funciones no metabólicas de LPL en el linfocito B de LLC En muchos estudios se ha encontrado una expresión aumentada de LPL en LLC de mal pronóstico, y varias vías metabólicas podrían estar involucradas en la progresión tumoral, como se ha indicado. Sin embargo, los intentos por determinar la actividad metabólica de LPL directamente no han podido correlacionar mayor expresión con mayor actividad metabólica. Un trabajo fermental con 33 pacientes de LLC reporto menor actividad catalítica en pacientes con IgVH no mutado respecto de aquellos con IgVH mutado(Nückel et al. 2006). Otro estudio analizando datos de 42 pacientes no logro hallar diferencias entre grupos de LLC, y reporto que la actividad de LPL era comparable a la de los individuos sanos (Porpaczy et al. 2013). LPL puede mediar la internalización de lipoproteínas por parte de las células (Merkel et al. 1998), el anclaje de quilomicrones a la superficie celular a través del receptor relacionado a LDL(Beisiegel, Weber y Bengtsson-Olivecrona 1991), y la marginación de lipoproteínas en vasos sanguíneos pequeños, uniéndose por un lado a la superficie extracelular del endotelio vía GPIHBP1, y por el otro a las lipoproteínas ricas en triglicéridos (Goulbourne et al. 2014). Además de su rol canónico en el metabolismo de lípidos, una interesante e inexplorada función no metabólica de LPL se conoce desde hace 20 años. LPL puede actuar como molécula de conexión (bridging) entre células, como ocurre en la adhesión de monocitos a las células endoteliales mediada por proteoglicanos de heparán sulfato (HSPGs) y LPL(Mamputu, Desfaits y Renier 1997), cuya interacción es dinámica, según se ha reportado recientemente(Allan et al. 2017). Como las células de LLC poseen HSPGs en si superficie(Van Bockstaele et al. 2007), y LPL forma homodímeros, podría ocurrir una unión entre las células B leucémicas y otras células que posean en su superficie HSPGs o GPIHBP1, como las células endoteliales, y que esto ocurra a través de un puente de LPL. Varios grupos han especulado respecto de la función de un puente intercelular mediado por LPL en la patogénesis de la LLC(Mansouri et al. 2010a; Moreno et al. 2013; Rombout, Verhasselt y Philippé 2016), aunque aun nadie lo ha demostrado. Si tal puente ocurriera, LPL estaría entonces pivotando entre los HSPGs en la superficie del linfocito leucémico, y HSPGs o GPIHBP1 en otra célula. Rombout et al. Han descrito que dos polimorfismos de nucleótido único (SNPs) encontradas comúnmente en LPL, rs328 (codón stop prematuro) y rs13702 estaban significativamente asociadas con el curso de la LLC(Rombout et al. 2015). Aunque ambos SNPs son mutaciones de ganancia de función conocidas(Deo et al. 2009; Richardson et al. 2013), los autores reportaron no haber podido detectar diferencias significativas en LPL ni en ARNm, ni en niveles proteicos, ni en actividad enzimática en los pacientes que portaban los SNPs(Rombout et al. 2015). Cómo es que estas mutaciones afectan el curso clínico de la LLC no esta claro aun, pero tampoco se ha explorado aun si estos SNPs podrían tener una función no metabólica en la LLC. Además, se han descrito al menos nueve isoformas de LPL con diferentes puntos isoeléctricos en la sangre de individuos sanos(Badia-Villanueva et al. 2014), lo que abre un nuevo abanico de estudios posibles para las funciones de LPL en la LLC y otras patologías. LPL podría contribuir así a la progresión leucémica por si misma, a través de la reprogramación metabólica, o a través de una contribución en sinergia con un microambiente activador, en el que el clon leucémico es estimulado constantemente (Figura 1).



Figura 1: Modelo hipotético de las funciones de LPL en las células B de LLC en órganos linfoides secundarios (SLO, izquierda) y sangre periférica (PB, derecha). Las moléculas de LPL ancladas a HSPGs en la superficie del linfocito B de LLC pueden unirse a lipoproteínas de muy baja densidad y quilomicrones contribuyendo al metabolismo oxidativo y la señalización mediada por ácidos grasos. Se ha propuesto que LPL podría tener un papel similar en el compartimiento intracelular, liberando FFAs desde gotas lipídicas en el citosol(Rozovski et al. 2015, 2016). Un papel no canónico para LPL en la superficie del linfocito leucémico podría contribuir a la señalización microambiental. LPL funcionaría como una molécula puente entre células capaces de unirla en su superficie, sea a través de HSPGs o GPIHBP1, facilitando interacciones modulatorias aquí ejemplificadas con una activación T-dependiente a través de la unión CD40L/CD40.

Introducción

Objetivos

Objetivo general

Identificar nuevos marcadores moleculares de la progresión de la LLC.

Objetivos específicos

- 1. Caracterizar el perfil proteómico de los exosomas plasmáticos de LLC en proceso de progresión, y comparar el perfil proteómico de exosomas plasmáticos de la progresión de LLC con el de pacientes indolentes.
- 2. Evaluar el potencial de alguna de las proteínas exclusivas de los tiempos de progresión como biomarcador.
- 3. Explorar la capacidad de afectar la proliferación del linfocito B leucémico por las proteínas identificadas como potenciales biomarcadores exosómicos de progresión de LLC.
- 4. Caracterizar el patrón subcelular de expresión de la proteína LPL en la célula B de LLC.
- 5. Determinar si la proteína LPL en el linfocito B leucémico se corresponde con el patrón de expresión de su ARN mensajero, y por qué no ha sido posible utilizar la proteína LPL como marcador con valor pronóstico en la LLC hasta el momento.
- 6. Desarrollar un protocolo basado en citometría de flujo para evaluar la expresión de LPL en la LLC, para evaluar si la expresión de la proteína lPL puede convertirse en un marcador pronóstico para la LLC.

Resultados
I. S100-A9 protein in exosomes from chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells promotes NF- κ B activity during disease progression

En este artículo realizamos una caracterización proteómica de los exosomas obtenidos del plasma de pacientes con leucemia linfoide crónica (LLC) progresiva o indolente, al inicio de la enfermedad y durante su evolución. Investigamos si existía un perfil proteómico diferencial de los exosomas a lo largo de la evolución clínica de la LLC, y nos enfocamos en las vías y proteínas asociadas a los exosomas que podrían estar implicadas en la progresión de la enfermedad. Para ello, realizamos un estudio prospectivo en el que purificamos exosomas a partir de plasma de pacientes de LLC con enfermedad indolente y progresiva al momento del debut clínico, y al momento de la progresión, o en el caso de los pacientes con LLC indolente, luego de 4 años de sobrevida. En las LLC progresivas identificamos 138 proteínas, de las cuales 99 (71 Comparando los dos tiempos de los pacientes con enfer-



Figura 2: Proteínas identificadas en los exosomas plasmáticos de LLC en pacientes con enfermedad progresiva o indolente al tiempo del debut de la enfermedad (T*debut*), de la progresión (T*prog*), o de 4 años de sobrevida libre de progresión en el caso de los pacientes con LLC indolente(T4yr)

medad progresiva y los indolentes identificamos un perfil proteómico propio de los exosomas plasmáticos durante la evolución de la LLC. Considerando aquellas proteínas que se encontraban diferencialmente en al menos tres pacientes, como medida de consistencia, identificamos 10 proteínas que se encontraban unicamente en durante la progresión de la enfermedad, de las cuales seleccionamos dos para continuar trabajando. Descubrimos que los exosomas de pacientes con enfermedad progresiva, poseen sobrerepresentadas las proteínas S100-A9 y plakoglobina de uniones (JUP), asociadas a progresión tumoral, como activadoras de las vías de señalización NF- κB v Wnt respectivamente. Demostramos además que los exosomas cargados de S100-A9 pueden ser liberados *ex vivo* por células B de pacientes cuya enfermedad progresa, al estimular sus inmunoglobulinas de superficie (BCR) con anticuerpos anti IgM. También probamos que las células B de LLC expresan uno de los receptores de S100A9, EMMPRIN (CD147), y que éste es capaz de unir ex vivo a su ligando en la superficie celular. Asimismo, describimos que las células B de LLC expresan S100-A9, que su expresión es mayor en los pacientes con enfermedad progresiva respecto de los indolentes, y que los niveles máximos de expresión se encuentran en los ganglios linfáticos respecto de las células circulantes. Esta elevada expresión de S100-A9 coincide con un perfil de activación celular, ya que las células de los ganglios que expresan S100-A9, presentan además elevados niveles del activador de la proliferación celular Ki-67, y de la proteína antiapoptótica survivina. También en este artículo probamos que las células B de LLC con elevada expresión de S100-A9 presentan la vía NF- κ B activada. Finalmente, demostramos que los exosomas plasmáticos de LLC progresiva cargados de S100-A9 son capaces de activar NF- κ B de forma dosis-dependiente en células B de LLC *ex vivo*, y que esta activación de NF- κB ocurre unicamente por la vía canónica.

Regular Article

🔇 blood

LYMPHOID NEOPLASIA

S100-A9 protein in exosomes from chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells promotes NF-kB activity during disease progression

Daniel Prieto,^{1,*} Natalia Sotelo,^{1,*} Noé Seija,^{1,2,*} Sandra Sernbo,¹ Cecilia Abreu,¹ Rosario Durán,³ Magdalena Gil,³ Estefanía Sicco,⁴ Victoria Irigoin,⁵ Carolina Oliver,⁵ Ana Inés Landoni,⁶ Raúl Gabus,⁶ Guillermo Dighiero,⁶ and Pablo Oppezzo¹

From www.bloodjournal.org by guest on August 24, 2017. For personal use only

¹Research Laboratory on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Montevideo, Uruguay; ²Departamento de Inmunobiologia, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay; ³Unidad de Bioquímica y Proteómica Analiticas, Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable à Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Montevideo, Uruguay; ⁴Unidad de Microscopia Electrónica de Transmisión, Facultad de Ciencias; ⁸Cátedra de Hematologia, Hospital de Clinicas, Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay; and ⁹Hospital Maciel, Administración Servicios de Salud del Estado, Ministerio de Salud, Montevideo, Uruguay

Key Points

- Plasma-derived exosomes from patients with CLL exhibit different protein cargo compositions depending on disease status and progression.
- S100-A9 protein is overexpressed and S100-A9 cargo in exosomes activates NF-kB pathway in patients with CLL during disease progression.

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is an incurable disease characterized by accumulation of clonal B lymphocytes, resulting from a complex balance between cell proliferation and apoptotic death. Continuous crosstalk between cancer cells and local/ distant host environment is required for effective tumor growth. Among the main actors of this dynamic interplay between tumoral cells and their microenvironment are the nanosized vesicles called exosomes. Emerging evidence indicates that secretion, composition, and functional capacity of exosomes are altered as tumors progress to an aggressive phenotype. In CLL, no data exist exploring the specific changes in the proteomic profile of plasma-derived exosomes from patients during disease evolution. We hereby report for the first time different proteomic profiles of plasma exosomes, both between indolent and progressive CLLs as well as within the individual patients at the onset of disease and during its progression. Next, we focus on the changes of the exosome protein cargoes, which are found exclusively in patients with progressive CLL after disease progression. The alterations in the proteomic cargoes underline different networks specific for leukemia progression related to inflammation, oxidative stress, and NF-кB and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT pathway activation. Finally, our results suggest a

preponderant role for the protein S100-A9 as an activator of the NFkB pathway during CLL progression and suggest that the leukemic clone can generate an autoactivation loop through S100-A9 expression, NF-kB activation, and exosome secretion. Collectively, our data propose a new pathway for NF-kB activation in CLL and highlight the importance of exosomes as extracellular mediators promoting tumor progression in CLL. (*Blood*. 2017;130(6):777-788)

Introduction

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) develops through accumulation of malignant B cells that circulate in the blood and are continuously supported by microenvironment signals within the bone marrow and secondary lymphoid organs.¹ Exchange between primary tumor cells and their microenvironment represents bidirectional crosstalk, in which the tumor clone is not only being supported by the microenvironment but also modulating it to maintain and promote its own survival.^{2,3}

Among the main actors in the dynamic and reciprocal interplay between tumor cells and their microenvironment are extracellular vesicles (EVs)⁴ They represent an important mode of intercellular communication, serving as vehicles for transfer between cellular membranes, proteins, lipids, and RNA. EVs include microvesicles (MVs), which shed directly from the plasma membrane with a diameter of 100 to 1000 nm.⁴ and exosomes, which are conformed by nano-sized vesicles of endosomal origin of 40 to 100 nm in diameter.⁶ Similar to MVs, exosomes are directly associated with oncogenic reprogramming,⁷ tumor progression,⁸ metastasis,⁹ and therapy refractoriness.¹⁰

In CLL, the total number of MVs in plasma is greater than in healthy donors, and in vitro studies have demonstrated that MVs could mediate AKT activation in bone marrow stromal cells.¹¹ Regarding CLL exosomes, recent work has demonstrated that they could induce an inflammatory phenotype through a transition of stromal cells into cancer-associated fibroblasts and activation of key signaling pathways such as AKT and/or NF-RB.¹² Although microRNAs and proteomic profiles of exosomes have been described.^{12,13} proteomic analysis of primary exosomes throughout CLL evolution has not been fully performed. Furthermore, the direct implications of changes occurring in

Submitted 20 February 2017; accepted 29 May 2017. Prepublished online as Blood First Edition paper, 8 June 2017; DOI 10.1182/blood-2017-02-769851.

*D.P., N. Sotelo, and N. Seija contributed equally to this work.

The online version of this article contains a data supplement.

BLOOD: 10 AUGUST 2017 • VOLUME 130: NUMBER 6

The publication costs of this article were defrayed in part by page charge payment. Therefore, and solely to indicate this fact, this article is hereby marked "advertisement" in accordance with 18 USC section 1734.

© 2017 by The American Society of Hematology

777

778 PRIETO et al

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6

exosome protein cargoes throughout CLL evolution and their role during disease progression remain unknown.

We hereby report a comprehensive analysis involving the proteomic characterization of exosomes from patients with indolent or progressive CLL at the onset of disease and during disease evolution. We examined whether there is a differential proteomic profile from exosomes throughout CLL evolution and focused on the different pathways and proteins that could be implicated in disease progression. We found that S100-A9 protein is only present in exosomes of patients with progressive disease at the time of progression and that this protein is specifically overexpressed by leukemic cells at this stage. Finally, we demonstrate that exosomes carrying S100-A9 are able to activate the NF-κB pathway in primary CLL cells, suggesting that the leukemic clone could generate an autoactivation loop through S100-A9 expression, exosome secretion, and NF-κB activation.

Together, these results show the importance of exosomes in cell-tocell communication during CLL evolution and suggest that exosomes with S100-A9 protein cargo could be one of the mechanisms responsible for the activation of the NF-kB pathway during disease progression.

Materials and methods

Clinical samples

Plasma and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were collected in a prospective study from 34 patients with typical CLL diagnoses. Five agematched healthy donors (HDs) were included as control samples. Patients were segregated into 2 groups: (1) progressive disease, defined by lymphocyte doubling time <6 months, treatment required within 3 years, activation-induced cytidine deaminase/lipoprotein lipase expression, and >2% of CLL B cells with ongoing class-switch recombination process in peripheral blood (PB), as described by Palacios et al,14 and (2) indolent disease, defined by lymphocyte doubling time >4 years, no treatment required after 4 years, absence in PB (<1%) of CLL B cells with ongoing class-switch recombination process to immunoglobulin G (IgG), and absence of activation-induced cytidine deaminase expression. All samples were obtained at disease onset and after 4 years during disease evolution or after treatment in those with progressive disease. All patients were observed at Hospital Maciel and at the Haematology Department of Clinical Hospital in Montevideo. They provided informed consent according to the ethical regulations of Uruguay and the Helsinki Declaration.

Exosome isolation

Patients' plasmas were diluted 1:2 in phosphate-buffered saline and centrifuged (10 minutes at 400 g, then 20 minutes at 2000 g) to remove cell debris and larger vesicles. Next, centrifugation at 10 000 g for 60 minutes at 4C was performed to separate MVs. Exosomes were isolated by ultracentrifugation (120 minutes at 100 000 g at 4°C) followed by floatation on Optiprep cushion (Axis-Shield; 17%) for 120 minutes at 10000 g g at 4°C to remove nonexcosomal protein complexes. After washing, exosomes were suspended in phosphate-buffered saline and subjected to NanoSight analysis (Malvern Instruments, Inc., Westborough, MA).

Proteomic analysis

Peptides were separated by nano-high-performance liquid chromatography (EASY 1000; Thermo Fisher) fitted with a reverse-phase column (50 cm \times 57 µm ID, PepMap RSLC C18; Thermo Fisher) using a linear gradient (acetonitrile, 0.1%; formic acid, 5%-55% in 75 minutes). Peptide analysis was carried out via an LTQ Velos (Thermo Fisher) in a data-dependent acquisition mode (top 10) with a dynamic exclusion list of 45 seconds. Duat analysis was performed using PatternLab for proteomics software (version 3.2.0.3).^{15,16} Raw files were searched against a *Homo sapiens* target-decoy database using the Comet search engine (PatternLab). The approximate area proportional Venn diagram module was used to perform comparisons between different progression times and determine proteins uniquely identified in each situation.¹⁶ Exosomal protein data sets were subjected to functional enrichment analyses using FunRich software.¹⁷ The mass spectrometry proteomic data have been deposited in the ProteomeXchange Consortium via the PRIDE partner repository with the data set identifier PXD005941.

Flow cytometry, western blot, confocal microscopy, and reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction

Isolation of PBMCs from patients with CLL and HDs, as well as cytometry analysis (flow cytometry) and immunoblot, was performed as described.^{18,19} Antibodic suscell in this work are described in supplemental Table 1, available on the Blood Web site. Flow cytometry analysis was performed with R/ Bioconductor²⁰ packages or FlowJo (Treestar, Ashland, OR) or Summit software (Beckman Coulter, CA). Microscopy analysis was performed as previously described,²¹ with antibodies listed in supplemental Table 1. RNA isolation and reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction were carried out as described by Oppezzo et al.²² Primers used for the amplification of extracellular matrix metalloprotease inducer (EMMPRIN) isoforms and the full-length S100-A9 are provided in supplemental Table 2.

In vitro analysis

Purification of CD19⁺ cells from patients with CLL and activation with anti-IgM (Jackson ImmunoResearch) were performed as described by Moreno et al.²³ Exosome activation on CLL-cells was performed with PBMCs (2× 10[°]) cultured in RPMI 1640, 10% fetal bovine serum and incubated for 90 minutes with exosomes (30 µg/mL total protein). For blocking experiments, exosomes were preincubated with 1 µg/mL of anti-human S100-A9 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) or Human IgG Isotype Control (Thermo Fisher) for 1 hour at 4°C. Recombinant human S100-A9 protein (rhS100-A9; MyBiosource, San Diego, CA) was incubated with CLL PBMCs as described in supplemental Table 1.

Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean of at least 3 independent experiments. Differences between groups were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney test or 1-way analysis of variance (Student reist); P < 05 was considered statistically significant. Analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 6.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, C.A.) For proteomic asays, falsediscovery rate correction was performed using GeneSpring GX11.0.2 software (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA); cutoff of enrichment analyses in Funklich software was kept as default (P < 05) after Softeronic correction.

Results

Characterization of patients with CLL and plasma-derived exosomes

To determine the clinical relevance of circulating exosomes in patients with CLL, we isolated and characterized exosomes from the plasma of a working cohort composed of: (1) group A, comprising 5 patients with progressive disease, with samples obtained at the time of diagnosis during stable disease (Prog-dt) and later during disease progression (Prog-ddp) but before treatment, and (2) group B, consisting of 5 patients with indolent disease, with samples obtained at diagnosis (Ind-d1) and after 4 years of follow-up without disease evolution (Ind-4years). Rationale of the study, clinical statement, and molecular characterization of patients with CLL are provided in Table 1.

Isolated particles presented bona fide characteristics of exosomes, with size ranging from 40 to 100 nm and a typical profile confirmed by NanoSight and electron microscopy (Figure 1A). Additionally, different protein migration patterns were visualized between exosomes

			G	L samples at time (subgroups Prog-	of disease onse dt and Ind-dt)	÷			CLL sample follow-r	es during disease ap (subgroups Pro	progression or g-ddp and Ind-	after 4 y of lyears)			
Study rationale	Patient No.	Binet stage	LC, × 10 ³ /µl	Clinical disease status	FISH	AID/LPL*	CSR. %†	Binet stage	LC. × 10 ³ /ш	Clinical disease status	FISH	AID/LPL*	CSR. %†	TFT, months	lgVH status‡
Study cohort (progressive	-	A	19.0	Ind.	Normal	(+/+)	2.5	-	74.00	Prog.	del17p	(+/+)	2.0	18	MU
patients)	2	٨	28.0	Ind.	del11q	(+/+)	2.1	ш	162.0	Prog.	del11q	(+/+)	2.9	28	MU
	e	٨	23.00	Ind.	del13q/del11q	(+/+)	2.8	υ	120.0	Prog.	del13q/del11q	(+/+)	3.1	32	MU
	4	٨	35.00	.pul	del11q	(+/+)	4.1	υ	164.0	Prog.	del11q	(+/+)	5.5	4	MU
	2	٨	15.90	.pul	Normal	(+/+)	3.8	υ	220.0	Prog.	Normal	(+/+)	4.2	6	MU
Study cohort (indolent	9	۷	27.70	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	1.2	۲	19.64	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	0.9	ΓN	Mut
patients)	7	٨	24.60	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	0.02	۲	34.55	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	0.5	ΓN	Mut
	8	٨	14.70	.pul	del13q	(-/-)	1.1	۲	12.50	Ind.	del13q	(-/+)	12	ΓN	Mut
	6	۷	8.25	.pul	del13q	(-/-)	0.8	۲	14 490	.pul	del13q	(-/-)	0.3	ΝT	Mut
	10	٨	18.00	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	1.5	۲	20.00	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	1.8	μ	Mut
Validation cohort (progressive	÷	A	26.20	.pul	del13q	(-/+)	1.5	υ	183.0	Prog.	del13q	(-/+)	2.2	33	MU
patients)	5	A	19.45	.pul	Normal	(+/-)	0.5	ш	112.0	Prog.	del17p	(+/+)	2.5	35	MU
	13	٨	40.20	.pul	del13q	(+/+)	1.2	в	98.00	Prog.	del11q	(+/+)	2.2	31	MU
	14	۲	18.30	.pul	del13q/del11q	(+/+)	1.6	υ	178.00	Prog.	del13q/del11q	(+/+)	3.1	9	MU
	15	٨	20.26	.pul	del17p	(+/-)	1.8	в	154.00	Prog.	del17p	(+/+)	2.3	40	MU
	16	٨	10.58	.pul	del11q	(+/+)	0.5	в	120.0	Prog.	del11q	(+/+)	1.8	10	MU
	17	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A ₍₁₎	N/A(1)	N/A ₍₁₎	в	77.00	Prog.	del11q	(+/+)	3.6	6	MU
	18	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A ₍₁₎	N/A(1)	N/A ₍₁₎	υ	161.00	Prog.	del13q	(-/+)	2.9	÷	MU
	19	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	в	72.0	Prog.	del11q	(+/+)	4.4	38	MU
	20	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A ₍₁₎	N/A(1)	N/A ₍₁₎	υ	900.0	Prog.	Normal	(+/+)	1.2	8	MU
	21	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	в	110.0	Prog.	del13q	(+/-)	4.4	12	MU
	52	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	NA(I)	υ	97.00	Prog.	Normal	(+/+)	2.5	26	MU
	23	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A(1)	N/A ₍₁₎	в	65.00	Prog.	Normal	(+/+)	1.5	24	MU
Validation cohort (indolent	24	N/A(2)	N/A(2)	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	N/A ₍₂₎	NA ₂₎	۲	15.60	.pul	Normal	(+/-)	0.6	130	Mut
patients)	25	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	$N/A_{(2)}$	NA ₍₂₎	۷	8.90	.pul	tris12	(-/-)	0.5	ΓN	Mut
	26	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	N/A(2)	NA ₂₎	۲	9.92	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	0.07	μ	Mut
	27	$N/A_{(2)}$	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	$N/A_{(2)}$	NA ₂₎	۲	15.00	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	0.05	μ	Mut
	28	N/A(2)	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	N/A ₍₂₎	$N/A_{(2)}$	NA ₂₎	۲	7.00	Ind.	del13q	(+/-)	1.5	ΓN	Mut
	29	$N/A_{(2)}$	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	$N/A_{(2)}$	$NA_{(2)}$	۲	11.60	Ind.	del13q	(-/+)	1	ΓN	Mut
	30	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	N/A ₍₂₎	NA ₂₎	۲	14.70	.pul	tri12	(-/-)	2.1	126	Mut
	31	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	N/A ₍₂₎	NA ₂₎	۲	22.20	.pul	Normal	(+/-)	1.8	ΓZ	Mut
	32	N/A(2)	N/A(2)	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	N/A ₍₂₎	NA ₂)	۲	11.60	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	0.6	ГZ	Mut
	33	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A(2)	$N/A_{(2)}$	NA ₍₂₎	۷	17.50	.pul	Normal	(-/-)	0.7	ΓN	Mut
	34	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	N/A ₍₂₎	$N/A_{(2)}$	NA ₍₂₎	۲	19.90	Ind.	del13q	(-/-)	11	ΓN	Mut

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6

Resultados

S100-A9 IN CLL EXOSOMES ACTIVATES NF-KB PATHWAY 779

AID, adhation-induced cylidhre deaminaser, CSR, class-switch recombination, FISH, fluorescence in stu hybridization; LC, lymphocyle count; LPL, ipoprotein ipases, Mut, mutated; MVA₁₁, not applicable (refers to patients with progressive doesawe whose sensitions and endition of the analyzed sampless collected from indicient patients after 4 years of follow-up); NT, not treated (refers to patients with of thoman at 4-year (Diaw-up); TTT, Inno from intial diagnosis to first iteration of the progressive of adaption of the patients and a set and adaption of the patients after 4 years of follow-up); NT, not treated (refers to patients with of di not receive a) that and LP expression were assessed by quantitative phymerase chain reaction, as described by Phelio et al.²¹ (Percentage of profileming treation expressing QM²) adaltated by cylometry studies, as descreded by Patielos et al.¹⁴ (Percentage of profileming give defined UM patients; = 2%, difference fined AM patients; are described by the list.)

30

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6



From www.bloodjournal.org by guest on August 24, 2017. For personal use only.

780 PRIETO et al

Figure 1. Characterization and proteomic analysis of CLL plasma-derived exosomes. (A) Electron microscopy and NanoSight analysis of exosomes (Exo) purified from CLL plasmas. Comparative electron micrographs of MVs and exosomes from the same patient are depicted. Blue numbers indicate size of main peaks. (B) Sodium dodecy sulfate polacyrotymaic gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and immunobic tharacterization of plasma-derived exosomes. After protein quantification, exosomes were lysed in Laenmi buffer to perform SDS-PAGE and immunobic. Different migration profiles in SDS-PAGE of exosome fractions and immunobich with specific monoclonal antibodies against typical exosome proteins were used to validate the quality of our isolation technique. The proteins identified were tetraspanic CDB, heat shock protein HPS-70, and lysecomal marker LAMP-1. These were compared with the plasma of the same patient at the same disease time. Cychchrome C was also evaluated comparing whole-cell lysate (WCL) with plasma-derived exosomes of the same patient. (C) Subcellular localization of the proteins present in the plasma-derived exosome spurified of the different subgroups was analyzed by FunRich software. WMM, molecular-weight marker.

and whole-cell lysate of the same patients, whereas classical exosome markers such as CD9, HSP-70, and Lamp- 1^{24} were enriched in the exosome fraction. In turn, cytochrome C was

absent, excluding contamination with apoptotic bodies (Figure 1B). Component enrichment analysis of the different exosome fractions showed mainly exosome proteins, which indicates that the



BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6

S100-A9 IN CLL EXOSOMES ACTIVATES NF-KB PATHWAY 781

Figure 2. Proteomic analysis of plasma-derived excosmes during CLL evolution. (A) Molecular networks associated with proteins identified in plasma-derived excosmes during CLL evolution. The PPI networks were elucidated using the interaction model of FunRich software with the Vasiclepedia database, which focuses on statistically significant enriched genes and particular biological pathways in each subgroup. Different and specific networks according to the number of genes associated with the functions in the Progetdp subgroup are marked by red arrows: (1) Leukemic cell infiltration of secondary lymphod organs, highlighted by genes related to the receptor sphngosine 1-phosphate (STP) pathway (P = 2.24e-4); (2) number profileration network, involving genes implicated in the tumor netroxis factor-related acoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) pathway; and (4) and oxidative stress networks, with genes involved in the AP-1 transcription factor pathway (P = 1.43e-4). (3) number of genes associated with an oxidative stress networks, with genes involved in the AP-1 transcription factor pathway (P = 1.43e-4). (3) number of genes associated in the tumor netroxis factor-related acoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) pathway; and (4) of software profileration of a data analysis.¹ The Pathenutab approximately area-proprional Ven diagram module was used for proteining proteins exclusively identified in 1 biological condition. For the exosome protein-enriched sample, the analysis only considered proteins present in at least 3 of 5 patients for each biological condition. Junction patients (20 and patients) corresponding to the 4 different subgroups (5 patient seat) and subjicted to 12% polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE) electrophoresis. Representative immunoblots of both proteins at the different subgroups (5 patient seat) and subjicted to 12% polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE) electrophoresis. Representative immunoblots of both proteins at the different disease times are depicted. GAPDH, glyceraidehyde-3-phosphate

procedures used for isolation and purification are reproducible and reliable (Figure 1C).

Proteomic profiling of plasma-derived exosomes during CLL evolution

Considering all patients and conditions, liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry analysis of CLL exosomes resulted in the identification of 138 proteins in group A and 136 proteins in group B, with at least 2 mapping peptides per sequence. Among the 138 proteins in the progressive group, 99 (62%) were shared by the 2 subgroups (Prog-dt and Prog-ddp), whereas 39 proteins were differentially expressed: 10 in Prog-dt and 29 in Prog-ddp. Regarding indolent CLLs, among the 136 proteins, 84 (61%) were shared between both subgroups (Ind-dt and Ind-4years), and 52 proteins were differentially identificd: 12 in Ind-dt and 40 in Ind-4years (supplemental Data 1, including tables and Venn diagram). The protein-protein interaction (PPI) network offers a conceptual framework to better understand the functional organization of the proteome and, in this case, to deepen the insight into the protein cargoes of plasma exosomes during CLL evolution. Selection of the 20 most significant PPI networks from each subgroup (Ind-dt, Ind-4years, Prog-dt, and Prog-ddp) and further comparison among them allowed us to highlight a total of 32 different biological pathways (Figure 2A; supplemental Data 2). Many of these pathways were shared among progressive and indolent CLLs, but some of them were found exclusively within a determined subgroup (Figure 2A). Focusing on the PPI networks derived from the proteins present in exosomes during disease progression (Prog-ddp subgroup), we found interesting pathways associated with inflammation and cancer progression, such as S1P1 pathway, class 1 P13K

782 PRIETO et al

signaling events, tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand signaling pathway, and AP-1 transcription factor network (Figure 2A).

To select the proteins relevant to disease progression, we focused on the proteins that remained differentially present in the Prog-ddp subgroup. To this aim, we performed a comparative analysis between Ind-4years, Prog-dt, and Prog-ddp. The PatternLab for Proteomics software Venn diagram module pinpointed proteins uniquely identified in each subgroup. Considering proteins present in at least 3 patients per class, only 34 proteins were shared among the 3 subgroups; 2 were only found in the Ind-4years patients, 7 in Prog-dt, and 10 in Prog-ddp (Figure 2B; supplemental Data 3). Among the 10 proteins detected exclusively in the Prog-ddp subgroup, the 2 most represented (4 of 5 patients) were S100 calcium binding protein A9 (S100-A9) and JUP (Figure 2B). To confirm these results, we performed immunoblot analysis in the CLL exosomes of the 10 patients at the different disease points included in the proteomic analysis. Our results confirmed the presence of these 2 proteins in 5 of 5 patients for S100-A9 and 4 of 5 patients for JUP, whereas none or very low presence of these proteins was detected in the samples before progression or in indolent CLLs. A representative case for each protein is depicted in Figure 2C. Interestingly, both proteins are involved in cancer progression. S100-A9 is an activator of the NF-kB pathway²⁵ and has been associated with inflammatory networks,²⁵ and JUP is implicated in the activation of Wnt pathway.^{26,27}

Plasma-derived exosomes with increased levels of S100-A9 are found in patients with progressive disease after disease progression and released by CLL cells

S100-A9 and the complex S100-A8/A9 are key factors leading to inflammatory cell recruitment, tumor growth, and metastasis.4.28 Our proteomic and immunoblotting analysis identified S100-A9 as 1 of the proteins specifically present in the plasma exosomes of the Progddp subgroup. To confirm these results, we performed immunoblot analysis in the validation cohort (Table 1). As depicted in Figure 3A, 7 of the 8 samples showed a significant increase of S100-A9 cargo in CLL exosomes at the time of disease progression (mean, 1.12 and 0.51, respectively; Mann-Whitney test, P = .010; n = 8). In contrast, no significant differences were found within the indolent group, (Ind-dt: mean, 0.44; Ind-4years: mean, 0.33; Mann-Whitney test, P = .657; n = 4). In turn, S100-A9 levels from HDs (mean, 0.31) seemed similar to those observed in indolent and Prog-dt CLL samples. Representative cases of CLL patients from the different subgroups at both evolution times and from HDs are depicted in Figure 3B. To evaluate whether CLL cells are able to release S100-A9⁺ exosomes, we performed in vitro assays with CD19⁺ cells from patients with progressive disease during disease progression. Our results showed that after anti-IgM incubation, CLL cells are able to release exosomes carrying S100-A9, as evidenced by immunoblot analysis (Figure 3C). Overall, these findings validate proteomic analysis concerning the specific presence of S100-A9 during disease progression and suggest that these exosomes originate at least in part from CLL cells.

S100-A9 receptor EMMPRIN is expressed in leukemic cells and binds S100-A9 in vitro

EMMPRIN is a multifunctional transmembrane protein that regulates cell proliferation and migration and promotes cancer progression.²⁹ Because it has been shown that S100-A9 is able to bind EMMPRIN, thus mediating inflammation and cancer proliferation,²⁸ we investigated the expression levels of this protein and its ability to bind S100-



Figure 3. CLL plasma-derived exosomes show increased levels of S100-A9 protein and are released by CL cells (A-8) S100-A9 quantification from plasma-derived exosomes between the different subgroups; immunobiot analysis was performed after exosome protein separation. A total of 50 µg of exosome protein from the different samples was transferred donin hitrocellulose and developed with specific anti-S100-A9 monocional antibody. HSP-70 protein was visualized as internal charge control. Values of S100-A9 protein was significantly higher in the plasma exosomes at the time of disease progression, whereas no or low presence of this protein was found in the exosomes of the Prog-dt subgroup, the indefer group, or the matched HDS. P < .50, (C) felases of S100-A9 exotem by CLL cells; in vitro analysis was performed with CD19⁻ cells (100 exp⁹) hyphocytes incubated O.N. with anti-[M 5100-A9 kondemized and Methods. Results showed that CLL cells release exosomes carrying \$100-A9 protein to the culture medium after incubation with anti-[9M. '\$100-A9 homodimer. Immunobiot analysis was performed at a described n. not significant.

A9 protein in CLL cells. Our results showed that EMMPRIN messenger RNA (mRNA) isoform 2 but not isoform 1 was expressed in the leukemic clone, whereas low mRNA levels of isoforms 3 and 4 were found (Figure 4A). Concerning EMMPRIN protein levels,

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6



From www.bloodjournal.org by guest on August 24, 2017. For personal use only.

Figure 4. EMMPRIN expression in CLL cells and S100-A9 binding in vitro. (A) Reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction analysis of EMMPRIN mRNA isoforms in CLL EMMPRIN mRNA isoforms 1 to 4 expression was evaluated in MACS-sorted B ymphocytes (CD19⁺) and non-B cells (CD19⁻) as described by Oppezzo et al.¹⁸ EMMPRIN isoform 2 is expressed in leukenic B cells at higher levels than in normal B cells, where sets isoform 3 and 4 are also expressed but at basal levels. (B) Flow cytometry analysis of EMMPRIN protein levels in B lymphocytes. Median fluorescence intensity analysis of EMMPRIN staining in CLL and HD B cells reveals higher levels of EMMPRIN isoform 2 is expressed in leukenic B cells at higher levels of eals (man, 546; n = 5; Mann-Whittiny test, *P* = .0037). MFI- mand fluorescence intensity, (C) EMMPRIN in situ immunostaining. Direct in situ immunolocalization of EMMPRIN transpired restaining in CLL B cells compared with normal B cells (man, 546; n = 5; Mann-Whittiny test, *P* = .0037). MFI- mand fluorescence intensity, (C) EMMPRIN in situ immunostaining. Direct in situ immunolocalization of EMMPRIN (magenta) shows higher staining intensities in CLL B cells compared with thormal B cells (CD3⁺ in organ) was assessed as positive centrol. Single comocal planes are shown; deconvolution was performed with Huygens Essential 4.5 (Scientific Volume Imaging, Hilversum, The Netherlands; HIV/svin/h, Scale bar, S µm, (D) rhS100-A9 B-cell CLL levels (GV⁺ in yellow) expressing EMMPRIN (magenta) was evaluated on incubation of 10⁶ cells with 5 µg/mL for 1 hour at 37°C. An increase from basal 8% to 43% of S100-A9⁺ cells was forund. Filmersum, The Netherlands; HIMPRIN merceptor, shown in while in the overlaid microscopy analysis showed an increase in S100-A94 increase from basal 8% to 43% of S100-A9⁺ cells was forund. Filmersum in white in the overlaid microscopy analysis showed an increase in S100-A94 immunostaining and suggested colocalization of rhS100-A9 with EMMPRIN receptor, shown in while in the o

flow cytometry analysis showed a significantly higher expression in CLL cells compared with normal B cells (Figure 4B). In contrast, no significant differences were found after comparison of patients with progressive and indolent disease (data not shown). EMMPRIN expression was also characterized in T cells and macrophage/ monocyte cells from HDs and patients with CLL. Different expression levels are shown in supplemental Figure 1. Confocal microscopy analysis confirmed the higher expression of EMM-PRIN in CLL cells compared with those of HDs (Figure 4C). To elucidate whether EMMPRIN receptor is able to bind \$100-A9 in CLL cells, we performed in vitro analysis, incubating PBMCs from progressive CLLs with rh\$100-A9. Our results showed a percentage of leukemic cells expressing EMMPRIN that was able to bind rhS100-A9 (Figure 4D). These results were confirmed by confocal microscopy showing colocalization of rhS100-A9 with EMMPRIN receptor (Figure 4D, arrows).

S100-A9 IN CLL EXOSOMES ACTIVATES NF-KB PATHWAY

783

S100-A9 is overexpressed in CLL cells, increases during disease progression, and correlates with NF- κ B pathway activation

On the basis of our previous results, we evaluated \$100-A9 expression at mRNA and protein levels in the leukemic cells from patients with indolent disease and from the Prog-ddp subgroup. Analysis of \$100-A9 mRNA expression demonstrated that gene transcription is increased in CLL cells from patients with progressive disease (supplemental



Figure 5. Quantification of \$100-A9 expression in the leukemic clone. Flow cytometry analysis of PBMCs was performed evaluating [gM, CD5, and \$100-A9" colls between HDs and the different CLL subgroups. CD19" colls of age-matched HDs were used to obtain reference values, and control isotypes were used for IgM and \$100-A9" colls antibodies. (A) \$100-A9 expression in indelet rand progressive CLLs amplies during disease progression. Flow cytometry analysis was performed with specific antibodies, as described in supplemental Table 1. Five age-matched HDs to determine the physiological levels of \$100-A9 in Bymphocytes and a total of 16 indolent CLLs and 18 progressive CLLs and the physiological levels of \$100-A9 in the samples during disease progression. Flow cytometry analysis of performed with specific anterna, 32:44) compared with samples from indolent Table, respectively, ns, not significant (B) \$100-A9 in version levels in Blymphocytes and a total of 16 indolent (LLs and 18 compared with anotic 15 cm (Ma), erspectively, ns, nos to significant (B) \$100-A9 in version levels in Blymphocytes and stafferent times of disease evolution. Five HDs, 8 Ind-4years, and 8 progressive CLLs at the time of onset and 8 during disease progression were evaluated. A significantly higher level of \$100-A9 in \$200 compared with hProg-di (B) and \$100-A9 in B lymphocytes (maen, 14.49) was demonstrated (1-way ANCVA, P < .01). No significant differences were visualized comparing the expression of \$100-A9 in B lymphocytes (maen, 14.49) was demonstrated (1-way ANCVA, P < .01). No significant differences were visualized comparing the expression of \$100-A9 in B lymphocytes were (1, 0) \$100-A9 was demonstrated (1-way ANCVA, P < .01). No significant differences were visualized comparing the expression of \$100-A9 in B lymphocytes mean, 14.64) or Prog-the (maen, 224). And with Ind-4years (maen, 14.64) or Prog-the (maen, 224), and with Ind-4years (maen, 14.64) or Prog-the (maen, 224), and with Ind-4years (maen, 14.64) or Prog-the (maen, 224), and

784 PRIETO et al

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6

S100-A9 IN CLL EXOSOMES ACTIVATES NF-KB PATHWAY 785

Figure 2A). At the protein level, our results showed a significant increase in the percentage of cells expressing S100-A9 in samples from patients with progressive disease when compared with those from patients with indolent disease or CD19⁺ cells from HDs (Figure 5A). As found with exosomes, there was an increased expression of S100-A9 at the time of progression in Prog-ddp samples compared with the same samples at disease onset (Figure 5B). These results were confirmed by confocal microscopy of PBMCs from the different subgroups (Figure 5C). Representative histograms with different S100-A9 protein expression levels in the different subgroups and in a HD are depicted in supplemental Figure 2. Supporting the hypothesis that S100-A9 is overexpressed in activated CLL cells from patients with progressive disease, we found an increased percentage of S100-A9⁺ B cells in lymph nodes (LNs) compared with their tumoral counterparts in the PB of the same patient (supplemental Figure 3). Interestingly, CLL cells from LNs expressing S100-A9 also showed an activated molecular profile, indicated by a higher expression of Ki-67 and survivin proteins when compared with S100-A9⁻ CLL cells (supplemental Figure 4)

Because S100-A9 has been reported to increase NF- κ B activ-ity,^{26,28} we evaluated the activation of the NF- κ B pathway in leukemic cells with increased expression of S100-A9. To this aim, we analyzed the Ser32/36 phosphorylation of IκB-α and the nuclear/cytoplasmic rate of the transcription factor p65 between Prog-dt and Prog-ddp samples. As shown in Figure 5D, differences in IkB-a phosphorylation at different disease points were found, indicating the release of NF-KB from inhibitory IκB-α during disease progression. Moreover, a comparison of p65 localization between Prog-dt and Prog-ddp samples of the same patient demonstrated a significant increase of this transcription factor in the nucleus of the Prog-ddp sample (Figure 5E; supplemental Figure 1D). Finally, a significant and positive correlation was found between IKB- a phosphorylation and S100-A9 expression, which suggests a link between this protein and NF-KB activity. Together, these results show that leukemic cells derived from patients with progressive disease express high levels of \$100-A9 when compared with indolent CLLs and that this expression is correlated with canonical NF-KB pathway activation.

Plasma exosomes with S100-A9 cargo promote NF- ${\bf \kappa}B$ pathway activation in leukemic cells

S100-A9 is able to activate the NFkB pathway in carcinoma and melanoma cells, 26,30 but little evidence exists regarding its role in CLL. Taking our results into account, we hypothesized that specific expression of S100-A9 in the leukemic clone during disease progression as well as its significant increase in plasma exosomes could be one of the mechanisms triggering NF+kB activation during CLL progression. To evaluate the role of plasma exosomes with S100-A9 cargo regarding the NF+kB pathway, we obtained plasma exosomes from 3 patients with progressive disease (01, 02, and 04) at disease onset (S100-A9⁻) and during disease progression (S100-A9⁻). We incubated PBMCs of 2 patients with no mutation and 1 patient with mutation at time of disease onset and evaluated IkB- α phosphorylation and p65 nuclear translocation as regards activation of the canonical

NF-kB pathway and the inducible processing of p100/p52 proteins as regards activation of the noncanonical pathway. Our results showed a clear activation of the canonical NF-kB pathway in at least 2 of the 3 plasma exosomes carrying S100-A9 in the 3 tested patients. As depicted in Figure 6A, a significant increase of IkB- α phosphorylation was observed after incubation of the exosomes extracted from the Prog-ddp subgroup (S100-A9⁺) but not with plasma-derived exosomes extracted from the Prog-dt subgroup (S100-A9⁻). The canonical NF-kB pathway activation was also confirmed by nuclear localization of p65 in the leukemic cells (Figure 6B). Interestingly, this activation seemed to be specific to the canonical NF- κ B pathway but not to the noncanonical pathway (p100/p52 immunoblot analysis in supplemental Figure 5).

To better understand the molecular mechanism of this activation, we also performed in vitro analysis, treating CLL PBMCs at the time of disease progression with different amounts of plasma-derived exosomes carrying S100-A9. Our results suggest that phosphorylation of IkB-a is dependent on S100-A9 plasma exosome dose (Figure 6C). Finally, we preincubated these exosomes with anti-S100-A9 antibody to demonstrate the specificity of NF-KB activation in the leukemic clone. Immunoblot assays showed a decrease of IκB-α phosphorylation after incubation of PBMCs with S100-A9+ exosomes that were previously incubated with anti-S100-A9 antibody, which suggests that the interaction between cells and exosomes is blocked by specific anti-S100-A9 antibody. In contrast, high levels of IkB-a phosphorylation were maintained after incubation of plasma exosomes carrying S100-A9 or with these exosomes previously incubated with an irrelevant isotype control (Figure 6D). Together these results confirm that plasma exosomes carrying S100-A9 protein are able to promote activation of the NF-KB pathway, suggesting a specific role for these exosomes and this protein in CLL progression.

Discussion

The dynamic interplay between the tumor and its microenvironment orchestrates critical events that contribute to tumor progression and drug resistance.³¹ Microenvironment signals are provided not only by cell-to-cell interactions but also by different molecules such as soluble factors (cytokines, chemokines) or EVs, which play a key role in tumorhost crosstalk.32 Specifically, the functional capacity of exosomes is altered as tumors progress to an aggressive phenotype.³³ We hereby report that plasma-derived exosomes of progressive and indolent CLLs throughout disease evolution display different proteomic profiles. Particularly during disease progression, we found different PPI networks associated with inflammation, tumor progression, leukemic cell infiltration, and cell survival. The PPI network AP-1 transcription factor is activated by inflammation and oxidative stress.³⁴ In CLL, AP-1 family members have been described as being associated with NF- κ B induction after CD40L activation.³⁵ The other major network highlighted during disease progression is the pathway of class I PI3K signaling events mediated by AKT. This network is associated not only with PI3K/AKT pathway activation but also with canonical NF-KB pathway activation.

Figure 5 (continued) subgroups (Prog-dt and Prog-ddp). Representative cases (10 of 20 analyzed patients) as depicted after immunoblot reaction. (E) Increased NF-xB activation in the Prog-ddp subgroup was evidenced after quantification of p5 nucleus/cytopiasm stain ratio from a total of 100 CLL cells (QM *CD5*) in 5 samples from each subgroup (Prog-dt and Prog-ddp; amples do jta amples do jta and prog-ddp; a complex of the same patient (mean, 50; Mann-Whitney test, P = .019), Inmunofluorescent staining was performed with specific human anti-p5 transcription factor, specific anti-IgM, and anti-CD5 antibodies. (F) Positive correlation of specificant positive correlation mas detected ($i^2 = 0.35$; Spearmar's rank test, P < .019).

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6



From www.bloodjournal.org by guest on August 24, 2017. For personal use only.

786

PRIETO et al

Figure 6. Plasma-derived exosomes (S100-A9 cargo promote MF-4E pathway activation in textemic cells. (A-B) NF-4B pathway is activated after in vitro incluation with plasma-derived exosomes (S100-A9') actracted from Prog-ddp and plasma-derived exosomes without S100-A9 actracted from Prog-ddp and feata bovine total protein). Negative and possible exosomes were categorized by immunoids. In K-4B attacted from Prog-dts amples (90 minutes; 60 µg/ml of total protein). Negative and possible exosomes were actegorized by immunoids. In K-4B attacted from Prog-dts amples (90 minutes; 60 µg/ml of total protein). Negative and possible exosomes were actegorized by immunoids. In K-4B attacted from Prog-dts amples (90 minutes; 60 µg/ml of total protein). Negative and possible exosomes were categorized by immunoids. In K-4B attacted from Prog-dts amples (90 minutes; 60 µg/ml of total protein). Negative and possible exosomes were categorized by immunoids. In K-4B attacted from Prog-dts amples (90 minutes; 60 µg/ml of accomes (1510-A9) and using disease progression (5100-A9). The R-B pathway activation after incluation with plasma-derived exosomes (With or Without S100-A9 attacted at disease avide (1510-A9) and using disease progression (5100-A9). The R-B pathway activation after incluation with plasma-derived exosomes (With or Without S100-A9). PBMCs of the 3 CLL see avide (1510-A9). The CLL see translocation (5100-A1). The R-B pathway activation after incluation with plasma-derived exosomes (With or Without S100-A9). PBMCs of the 3 CLL see avide with am1-glue attranslocation. After 2 hours of incluation with plasma-derived exosomes (With or Without S100-A9). PBMCs of the 3 CLL see avide with were translocation. After 2 hours of incluation with plasma-derived exosomes (With or Without S100-A9). PBMCs of the 3 CLL see avide with were translowed to plasma the set attranslowed with were without (10 µd cells tor CL L of and 13 and 72%) for CLL 25 were avide with the set attranslowed and the set attranslowed were devide a

The importance of synergism between NF- κB and PI3K in CLL 36 and other lymphoid neoplasms 37 has been extensively demonstrated.

To identify the most relevant proteins present in CLL plasma exosomes from patients with progressive disease during disease progression, we focused on the proteins that constantly seemed to be over-represented in progressive samples analyzed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Among the 10 proteins exclusively present in this subgroup, we focused on S100-A9 protein, which was also found in exosomes secreted by an unmutated CLL, as described by Pagetit et al.² whose study proposes that exosomes could induce an inflammatory phenotype in CLL and that the NF- κ B pathway is activated in stromal cells. Taking these results into account and our proteomic characterization, we decided to investigate the role of S100-A9 during CLL progression. S100-A9 belongs to a family of

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6

S100-A9 IN CLL EXOSOMES ACTIVATES NF-KB PATHWAY 787

25 homologous intracellular calcium-binding proteins. Although S100-A9 is mainly found in heterodimers with S100-A8 (S100A8/ A9, also known as calprotectin), it also exists as a homodimer, with its own functions.³⁸ Calprotecting it also exists as a intercenticipation of the second state of the sec molecules are responsible for NF- κB pathway activation, but different receptors are implicated in this process. Calprotectin activates NF- κ B through TLR4, ^{40,41} whereas S100-A9 does so through EMMPRIN receptor.^{25,28} Considering that CLL exosomes engage PPI networks associated with PI3K/NF-KB pathways during disease progression, that S100-A9 is 1 of the most representative proteins in exosomes of all progressive samples, and that we did not find S100-A8, we decided to evaluate the correlation between S100-A9 expression and NF-KB activity in the leukemic clone of the different subgroups. Our results showed that the elevated expression of S100-A9 in B cells of patients with disease progression is accompanied by increased activation of the NF-KB pathway. In addition, our results on EMMPRIN expression in CLL suggest that it could be 1 of the possible receptors for S100-A9. Our results showed that EMMPRIN isoform 2 is the main mRNA expressed in CLL cells, which agrees with similar results reported in other cancer cells.42 High expression of EMMPRIN in CLL cells and its interaction with S100-A9 might implicate a new activation axis for the leukemic clone during disease progression. In this line, we must take into account that EMMPRIN is able to induce MMP production in tumor cells.^{4,43} Interestingly, recent studies describe that overexpression of MMP-9 occurs in CLL and that elevated intracellular levels of (pro)MMP-9 correlate with advanced CLL stage and poor patient survival.4,44

Previous work has shown that S100-A9 is crucial in establishing the premetastatic niche, chemotherapy resistance, and subsequent metastasis in breast cancer25 and melanoma.4 The presence of S100-A9 in CLL plasma exosomes, their overexpression during leukemic progression, and the role of this protein in tumor development suggest a role in leukemia promotion and generate new and interesting questions in the pathogenesis of CLL. S100-A9 is required for the recruitment of myeloid-derived suppressive cells (MDSCs) and for suppression of an immune antitumor response.46 Specifically in CLL, Jitschin et al47 describe that through a still unknown mechanism. CLL cells are able to induce MDSCs with high expression of indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase, which in turn becomes responsible for suppression of T-cell activation and induces suppressive regulatory T cells. Our results suggest that this unknown mechanism responsible for MDSC accumulation could originate in CLL cells expressing \$100-A9 and/or exosomes carrving this protein. Another interesting question concerns the role that \$100-A9 protein expressed in CLL cells could have in interacting with B2 integrins. It has been demonstrated that \$100-A9 mediates neutrophil adhesion to fibronectin through activation of $\beta 2$ integrins⁴⁸ and that in CLL $\beta 2$ integrins are essential for survival and apoptosis resistance.⁴⁹ Thus, CLL cells expressing S100-A9 could interact through \u03b32-integrins with endothelial cells to gain new survival and proliferative signals, as proposed by Maffei et al. $^{49}\,$

Tumor-released exosomes become an efficient platform for the in vivo transfer of soluble crosstalk factors.⁵⁰ The function of exosomes seems to be dependent on their protein cargoes and, in turn, dependent on the cell types from which they originate.⁶ Our proteomic approach demonstrates that CLL exosomes specifically contain \$100-A9 during disease progression and that these exosomes activate the canonical NF-xB pathway. The fact that NF-xB activity is reduced by in vitro

incubation of plasma exosomes carrying S100-A9 with specific anti-S100-A9 antibodies confirms these results. Regarding exosome function in CLL, our results support and extend the findings of Paggetti et al,12 suggesting that exosomes extracted from MEC-1 cells or, as in our case, from the plasma of patients during disease progression are able to activate the NF-KB pathway, not only in stromal cells, as described by Paggetti et al, but also in the leukemic clone. Recently, Peinado et al4 reported that melanoma-derived exosomes are able to induce the expression of S100-A8/S100-A9 in premetastatic niches after NF-κB activation, which in turn becomes activated by calprotectin and/or S100-A9.²⁵ According to our results, an analogous loop could be envisaged in CLL when disease progression occurs. Microenvironment signals in the leukemic clone could upregulate S100-A9 expression in CLL cells, which in turn could activate the canonical NF-KB pathway, leading to an increase of proliferation and survival signaling, as suggested by the results analyzing CLL cells in LNs of patients with progressive disease, depicted in supplemental Figures 3 and 4.

In this work, we report for the first time different proteomic profiles of plasma exosomes among indolent and progressive CLLs, as well as within individual patients at the time of disease onset and during disease evolution. We describe the presence of the protein S100-A9 in CLL exosomes as well as an increased expression of this protein in leukemic cells from patients experiencing disease progression. Finally, we demonstrate that exosomes with S100-A9 cargo are able to increase NF-xB activity in CLL cells of patients with typical nonprogressive disease. This report proposes a new origin of NF-xB activation in CLL and highlights the importance of exosomes as extracellular mediators in the promotion of CLL progression.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Mirta Giordano and Romina Gamberale for critical comments and Hugo Naya for technical assistance in statistical analysis.

This work was supported by grants from Agencia Nacional de Investigación e Innovación (FCE_1_2011_1_7273 and FMV_2011_7323) (P.O.) and Comisión Sectorial de Investigación Científica (CSIC Proyectos 1+D_2014) (P.O.).

Authorship

Contribution: D.P., N. Sotelo, and N. Seija performed experiments, collected chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) samples, prepared figures, and wrote the paper; S.S. and C.A. performed experiments and collected CLL samples; R.D. and M.G. performed mass spectrometry and proteomic analysis; E.S. performed electronic microscopy analysis; V.I., C.O., A.LL., R.G., and G.D. performed clinical activities and data collection for patients with CLL; and P.O. designed research, coordinated the study and data analysis, and wrote the paper.

Conflict-of-interest disclosure: The authors declare no competing financial interests.

ORCID profiles: D.P., 0000-0001-8356-1708.

Correspondence: Pablo Oppezzo, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Research Laboratory on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia, Mataojo 2020, Montevideo (11400), Uruguay; e-mail: poppezzo@pasteur. edu.uy.

788 PRIETO et al

BLOOD, 10 AUGUST 2017 · VOLUME 130, NUMBER 6

References

- Caligaris-Cappio F, Bertilaccio MT, Scielzo C. How the microenvironment wires the natural history of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Semin Cancer Biol.* 2014;24:43-48.
- ten Hacken E, Burger JA. Molecular pathways: targeting the microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia–focus on the B-cell receptor. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2014;20(3):548-556.
- Abreu C, Moreno P, Palacios F, et al. Methylation status regulates lipoprotein lipase expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma*. 2013;54(8):1844-1848.
- Peinado H, Alečković M, Lavotshkin S, et al. Melanoma exosomes educate bone marrow progenitor cells toward a pro-metastatic phenotype through MET. Nat Med. 2012; 18(6):883-891.
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol. 2013;200(4):373-383.
- Muralidharan-Charl V, Clancy JW, Sedgwick A, D'Souza-Schorey C. Microvesicles: mediators of extracellular communication during cancer progression. J Cell Sci. 2010;123(Pt 10): 1603-1611.
- Saleem SN, Abdel-Mageed AB. Tumor-derived exosomes in oncogenic reprogramming and cancer progression. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2015;72(1): 1-10.
- Atay S, Godwin AK. Tumor-derived exosomes: a message delivery system for tumor progression. *Commun Integr Biol.* 2014;7(1):e28231.
- Kahlert C, Kalluri R. Exosomes in tumor microenvironment influence cancer progression and metastasis. J Mol Med (Berl). 2013;91(4): 431-437.
- Corcoran C, Rani S, O'Brien K, et al. Docetaxelresistance in prostate cancer: evaluating associated phenotypic changes and potential for resistance transfer via exosomes. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(12):e50999.
- Ghosh AK, Secreto CR, Knox TR, Ding W, Mukhopadhyay D, Kay NE. Circulating microvesicles in B-cell chronic hymphocytic leukemia can stimulate marrow stromal cells: implications for disease progression. *Blood*. 2010; 115(9):1755-1764.
- Paggetti J, Haderk F, Seiffert M, et al. Exosomes released by chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce the transition of stromal cells into cancerassociated fibroblasts. *Blood*. 2015;126(9): 1106-1117.
- Ye SB, Li ZL, Luo DH, et al. Tumor-derived exosomes promote tumor progression and T-cell dysfunction through the regulation of enriched exosomal microRNAs in human nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2014;5(14):5439-5452.
- Palacios F, Moreno P, Morande P, et al. High expression of AID and active class switch recombination might account for a more aggressive disease in unmutated CLL patients: link with an activated microenvironment in CLL disease. *Blood*. 2010;115(22):4486.4496.
- Carvalho PC, Fischer JS, Xu T, Yates JR 3rd, Barbosa VC. PatternLab: from mass spectra to label-free differential shotgun proteomics. *Curr Protoc Bioinformatics*. 2012;Chapter 13(Unit 13): 19.
- Carvalho PC, Lima DB, Leprevost FV, et al. Integrated analysis of shotgun proteomic data with PatternLab for proteomics 4.0. Nat Protoc. 2016;11(1):102-117.
- Pathan M, Keerthikumar S, Ang CS, et al. FunRich: an open access standalone functional

- enrichment and interaction network analysis tool. Proteomics. 2015;15(15):2597-2601.
- Oppezzo P, Vuillier F, Vasconcelos Y, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells expressing AID display dissociation between class switch recombination and somatic hypermutation. *Blood*. 2003;101(10):4029-4032.
- Palacios F, Abreu C, Prieto D, et al. Activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway by microRNA-22 results in CLL B-cell proliferation. *Leukemia*. 2015;29(1): 115-125.
- Klinke DJ 2nd, Brundage KM. Scalable analysis of flow cytometry data using R/Bioconductor. *Cytometry A.* 2009;75(8):699-706.
- Prieto D, Aparicio G, Morande PE, Zolessi FR. A fast, low cost, and highly efficient fluorescent DNA labeling method using methyl green. *Histochem Cell Biol.* 2014;142(3):335-345.
- Oppezzo P, Vasconcelos Y, Settegrana C, et al; French Cooperative Group on CLL. The LPL/ ADAM29 expression ratio is a novel prognosis indicator in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*. 2005;106(2):650-657.
- Moreno P, Abreu C, Borge M, et al. Lipoprotein lipase expression in unmutated CLL patients is the consequence of a demethylation process induced by the microenvironment. *Leukemia*. 2013;27(3):721-725.
- Simpson RJ, Jensen SS, Lim JW. Proteomic profiling of exosomes: current perspectives. *Proteomics*. 2008;8(19):4083-4099.
- Bresnick AR, Weber DJ, Zimmer DB. S100 proteins in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2015;15(2): 96-109.
- Riva M, Källberg E, Björk P, et al. Induction of nuclear factor-kB responses by the S100A9 protein is Toll-like receptor-4-dependent. *Immunology*. 2012;137(2):172-182.
- Zheng X, Beissert T, Kukoc-Zivojnov N, et al. Gamma-caterini contributes to leukemogenesis induced by AML-associated translocation products by increasing the self-renewal of very primitive progenitor cells. *Blood.* 2004;103(9): 3535-3543.
- Hibino T, Sakaguchi M, Miyamoto S, et al. S100A9 is a novel ligand of EMMPRIN that promotes melanoma metastasis. *Cancer Res.* 2013;73(1):172-183.
- Xiong L, Edwards CK III, Zhou L. The biological function and clinical utilization of CD147 in human diseases: a review of the current scientific literature. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15(10): 17411-17441.
- Wu R, Duan L, Cui F, et al. S100A9 promotes human hepatocellular carcinoma cell growth and invasion through RAGE-mediated ERK1/2 and p38 MAPK pathways. *Exp Cell Res.* 2015;334(2): 228-238.
- Burger JA, Gribben JG. The microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and other B cell malignancies: insight into disease biology and new targeted therapies. *Semin Cancer Biol.* 2014;24:71-81.
- Tetta C, Ghigo E, Silengo L, Deregibus MC, Camussi G. Extracellular vesicles as an emerging mechanism of cell-to-cell communication. *Endocrine*. 2013;44(1):11-19.
- Meehan K, Vella LJ. The contribution of tumourderived exosomes to the hallmarks of cancer. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* 2016;53(2):121-131.
- Reuter S, Gupta SC, Chaturvedi MM, Aggarwal BB. Oxidative stress, inflammation, and cancerhow are they linked? *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2010; 49(11):1603-1616.

- Mineva ND, Rothstein TL, Meyers JA, Lerner A, Sonenshein GE. CD40 ligand-mediated activation of the de novo ReIB NF-kappaB synthesis pathway in transformed B cells promotes rescue from apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(24): 17475-17485
- Cuní S, Pérez-Aciego P, Pérez-Chacón G, et al. A sustained activation of PI3K/NF-kappaB pathway is critical for the survival of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. *Leukemia*. 2004;18(8):1391-1400.
- Hussain AR, Ahmed SO, Ahmed M, et al. Crosstalk between NFkB and the PI3-kinase/AKT pathway can be targeted in primary reflusion lymphoma (PEL) cell lines for efficient apoptosis [published correction appears in *PLoS One*. 2014; 9(3):e62484]. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(6):e39945.
- Srikrishna G. S100A8 and S100A9: new insights into their roles in malignancy. J Innate Immun. 2012;4(1):31-40.
- Németh J, Stein I, Haag D, et al. S100A8 and S100A9 are novel nuclear factor kappa B target genes during malignant progression of murine and human liver carcinogenesis. *Hepatology*. 2009;50(4):1251-1262.
- Riva M, He Z, Källberg E, Ivars F, Leanderson T. Human S100A9 protein is stabilized by inflammatory stimuli via the formation of proteolytically-resistant homodimers. *PLoS One*. 2013;6(4):e61832.
- Gebhardt C, Riehl A, Durchdewald M, et al. RAGE signaling sustains inflammation and promotes tumor development. J Exp Med. 2008;205(2): 275-285.
- Huang Z, Tan N, Guo W, et al. Overexpression of EMMPRIN isoform 2 is associated with head and neck cancer metastasis. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(4): e91596.
- Sun J, Hemler ME. Regulation of MMP-1 and MMP-2 production through CD147/extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer interactions. *Cancer Res.* 2001;61(5):2276-2281.
- Ugarte-Berzal E, Baillon E, Amigo-Jiménez I, Albar JP, Garcia-Marco JA, Garcia-Pardo A. novel CD4-binding peptide from the pro-matrix metalloproteinase-9 hemopexin domain impairs adhesion and migration of chronic hymphocytic leukemia (CLL) cells. J Biol Chem. 2014;289(22): 15340-15349.
- Kamiguti AS, Lee ES, Till KJ, et al. The role of matrix metalloproteinase 9 in the pathogenesis of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol.* 2004;125(2):128-140.
- Cheng P, Corzo CA, Luetteke N, et al. Inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer is regulated by S100A9 protein. J Exp Med. 2008;205(10):2235-2249.
- Jitschin R, Braun M, Büttner M, et al. CLL-cells induce IDOhi CD14+HLA-DRo myeloid-derived suppressor cells that inhibit T-cell responses and promote TRegs. *Blood.* 2014;124(5):750-760.
- Anceriz N, Vandal K, Tessier PA. S100A9 mediates neutrophil adhesion to fibronectin through activation of beta2 integrins. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2007;354(1):84-89.
- Maffei R, Fiorcari S, Bulgarelli J, et al. Physical contact with endothelial cells through p1- and p2integrins rescues chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells from spontaneous and drug-induced apoptosis and induces a peocliar gene expression profile in leukemic cells. *Haematologica*. 2012; 97(6):952-960.
- Iero M, Valenti R, Huber V, et al. Tumour-released exosomes and their implications in cancer immunity. *Cell Death Differ*. 2008;15(1):80-88.

Supplemental Figure 1



Supplemental Figure 2





Supplemental Figure 3

(CLL 5)

(A) (B) CLL 4 Ki-67 expression (MFI) 60 40-4 anti-S100A9-FITC -- CLL 11 20 * (g2) (\$100.49 ~ a S100-A9 positive CLL cells S100-A9 negative CLL cells ounts (810 anti-Ki67-APC (C) S100-A9^{neg} cells (Gate 1)

S100-A9^{pos} cells (Gate 2)

Supplemental Figure 4

43

Supplemental Figure 5



Supplemental Table 1. Antibodies and reagents. Usage conditions per application.

Antibody and reagents	Supplier	Microscopy	Cytometry	Western Blot	In-vitro analysis
	55 51 I		aaa		
anti-human CD14	BD Pharmingen	1/10 "	20µl/10° cells "	-	
anti- human CD19	BioLegend	1µg/mL "	0.5µg/10° cells "		
anti- human CD5	BioLegend	1µg/mL ª	0.5µg/10 ⁶ cells ^a	-	-
anti- human CD9	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	-	-	1/300 °	
anti- human HSP-70 (4G4)	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	-	-	1/100 °	
anti- human IgM Fc5µ F(ab') 2	Jackson Immunoresearch	1/50 ª	1/50 ª	-	15µg/ml
anti-human IκBα (L35A5)	Cell Signaling	-	-	1/1000 °	1/1000 °
anti-human phospho IkBa (Ser32/36)	Cell Signaling	-	-	1/1000 °	1/1000 °
anti-NF-xB p65 (D14E12)	Cell Signaling	1/400 ^a	-	-	1/400 ª
anti-p100/52	Abcam	-	-	1/10000 °	
anti-Ki-67	Santa Cruz Biotechnology		5µl/10 ⁶ cells ^a		
anti-Survivin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1/50 ª	-	-	
anti-LAMP-1 (1D4B)	Abcam	-	-	1/100	
anti- Cytochrome C (7H8.2C12)	Abcam			3 µg/ml ^b	
anti-human CD147 (EMMPRIN) - HIM6	BioLegend	1/400 ^a	1µg/10 ⁶ cells ^a	-	
anti-Mouse Igs	Life Technologies	1/1000 ª	1/1000 ª	-	
anti-Mouse Igs	Dako Cytomation	-	-	1/10000 ª	
anti-Rabbit Igs	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	-	-	1/10000 ª	
Human IgG Isotype	Thermo Fisher	-	-	-	1µg/mL ^a
anti-S100-A9	MyBioSource	1/50 ª	1µg/10 ⁶ cells ^a	1/100 ^b	
anti-human S100-A9	R&D Systems	-	-	0.5µg/mL °	1µg/mL ^a
anti-human MRP-14 (S100-A9)	BioLegend	-	5µl/10 ⁶ cells ^a	-	
Recombinant human protein S100-A9	MyBioSource	-	-	-	0.5µg/mL ^a
a: 1 hour incubation.					
b: 2 hours incubation.					
c' overnight inclubation					

Bupplemental Table 2. List of primers for RT-PCR (5' > 3') Oligo Sequence Source Expected size (bp) EMMFRNI2# AccountAncecococc Isolom 1 = 113 EMMFRNI2# CECTTATCIGGECECOCCC Isolom 1 = 132 EMMFRNI2# CGCTTATCIGGECECOCCC Isolom 2 = 787 EMMFRNI2# CGCTTATCIGGECECOCCACGAGATA Isolom 3 = 430 S100A6-Fail CGCCTCTATATGEGECECACGAGATA S006 S100A6-Fail CGCCTCTCATATATGEGECEC 3100A6-Fail Length = 451

Supplemental Table 2. List of primers for RT-PCR (5' > 3')						
Oligo	Sequence	Source	Expected size (bp)			
EMMPRIN1/2-F	AGGAATAGGAATCATGGCGGC		Isoform 1 = 1135			
EMMPRIN1/2-R	GTCATTCTGGTGCTGCCCGC		Isoform 2 = 787			
EMMPRIN3/4-F	CGGCTTAGTCTGCGGTCC	Belton <i>et al.</i> , 2008	Isoform 3 = 458			
EMMPRIN3/4-R	GGGAGGAAGACGCAGGAGTA	Belton <i>et al.</i> , 2008	Isoform 4 = 300			
S100A9-For	TCGGCTTTGACAGAGTGCAA		S10040 Eull Longth = 451			
S100A9-Rev	GGCCTCCTGATTAGTGGCTG		S 100A9-Full Lengul – 451			

701 SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURE LEGENDS:

Supplemental Figure 1: Expression of EMMPRIN receptor in different cell types from CLL patients and HDs. Surface staining with conjugated anti-EMMPRIN/APC, anti-CD3/FITC and anti-CD14/PE (Supplementary Table 1) was performed in different CLL patients and HD. T-cells, macrophage/monocyte and B-cells were gated in order to evaluate EMMPRIN expression in each one of the cell subsets.

Supplemental Figure 2: Expression levels of S100-A9 in CLL cells of the different subgroups. 708 RT-PCR from CD19 and CD14 positive cells as well as cytometry analysis were performed in order 709 to identify S100-A9 expression at mRNA and protein levels. Specific oligos and specific antibodies 710 711 anti-IgM, anti CD5 and anti S100-A9 were used (Supplemental table 1 and 2). Representative patients showing amplification of S100-A9 full length (451 bp) and expression differences between 712 CD19 positive cells from Prog-ddp and Indolent CLLs are depicted. Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate 713 dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as constitutive control gene as described in¹⁴ (Supplemental 714 Figure 1A). S100-A9 expression at protein levels in CLL samples was analyzed after gating 715 IgM/CD5 positive cells. Specific anti-CD19 antibody was used to analyze B-cells of HD. Given that 716 717 the antibody recognizing S100-A9 is a polyclonal rabbit immunoglobulin we used a FcR Blocking 718 Reagent to block unwanted binding to human Fc receptor of the leukemic cells. Representative patients are depicted in the Supplemental Figure 1B and C, whereas figure 1D shows S100-A9 MFI 719 720 of different patients at the onset of the disease and during disease progression. A significant 721 increase of S100-A9 MFI was found in the Prog-ddp subgroup (mean = 29.80) compared with Prog-722 dt (mean = 18.37, p = 0,0079, two-tailed, Mann-Whitney test, n=5). Figure 1E. Representative 723 picture confocal micrograph comparing nuclear/cytosolic localization of p65 transcription factor 724 between Prog-dt and Prog-ddp subgroups. A higher percentage of leukemic cells after disease progression with increased nuclear localization of this transcription factor is highlighted by white 725 726 asterisks. Scale bar 100µm (right lower)

727

728 Supplemental Figure 3: Expression of S100-A9 protein in the lymph nodes of progressive 729 CLL patients. (A) Comparison of the percentage of S100-A9 positive B cells in the PB and in the 730 corresponding LN of 3 different progressive CLL patients. (B) A portion of extracted LNs were 731 disaggregated and subjected to FICOLL Histopaque in order to isolate mononuclear cells to be 732 analyzed by Flow Cytometry with anti-IgM, anti-CD5 and anti-S100-A9 conjugated antibodies (Supplemental table 1). (C) Microscopy analysis of LN tissue was performed on 15 µm-thick 733 734 cryosections. Briefly, fresh LN from biopsied tissue were cut into pieces, fixed in 4% PFA, 735 cryoprotected in 20% sucrose and embedded in Tissue-Tek OCT™ compound and sectioned in a cryostat. For staining, sections were washed three times with PBS, blocked 30 min with 3% BSA in 736

PBS-T (0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS), and incubated with antibodies as described in (Supplemental table 1) and counterstained with methyl green. Stained tissues were then mounted in 80% glycerol
 pH=8.8 and images were developed with Huygens Essential. Scale bar: 15 µm

740 Supplemental Figure 4: Ki-67 and Survivin expression in CLL cells expressing S100-A9. A portion of extracted LNs were disaggregated and subjected to FICOLL Histopaque in order to 741 742 isolate mononuclear cells to be analyzed by Flow Cytometry (A) Expression levels of Ki-67 743 proliferative marker in positive or negative S100-A9 CLL cells. Values are mean SE of mean 744 fluorescence intensity (MFI) of Ki-67 expression from disaggregated lymph nodes, (n=3). (B) 745 Representative lymph node of patient 11. g1 and g2 correspond to the gates with CLL cells whether negative or positive for S100-A9 respectively. These gates were selected to evaluate Ki-67 746 747 MFI expression and to perform cell sorter isolation. (C) Survivin microscopy analysis in CLL 748 cells expressing or not S100-A9. Direct in situ immunolocalization of IgM (yellow), S100-A9 (green) and Survivin (magenta). The result shows higher staining intensities of survivin in S100-A9 749 positives CLL B-cells compared to CLL cells that do not express S100-A9. Scale bar: 5 µm. 750

751 Supplemental Figure 5: Activation of canonical and non-canonical NF-kB pathways after 752 incubation with exosomes with or without S100-A9. CLL cells from progressive patients at the 753 debut time were treated with exosomes positive or negative for S100-A9 protein and then migrated in SDS-PAGE 10% and transferred onto nitrocellulose. Anti-NF-кВ p100/p52 antibody (Abcam) to 754 755 evaluate non-canonical NF-κB pathway and anti-phospho-IκB alpha and total anti-IκB alpha antibodies (Cell Signalling) to evaluate the canonical pathway, were used in the immunoblot. 756 757 Positive controls used in this experiment were CLL cells activated with PHA or CD40L for canonical 758 and non-canonical NF-κB pathway, respectively.

II. Unmutated IgHV CLL cells express more LPL protein than mutated cells and is associated with a clinical poor outcome

En este artículo exploramos la localización subcelular de la proteína lipoprotein lipasa en linfocitos de pacientes con leucemia linfoide crónica que expresan el ARNm de LPL y en aquellos que no lo expresan. Reportamos que las células B de ambos grupos de pacientes presentan inmunorreactividad contra LPL, y describimos un patrón diferencial de distribución subcelular de la proteína LPL en células B de aquellos pacientes de LLC que expresan el ARNm de LPL y aquellos que no. Mediante el análisis de marcadores de organelos y microscopia de barrido láser confocal, demostramos que hay dos poblaciones subcelulares de LPL en los pacientes que expresan el ARNm de LPL, una en las cisternas del retículo endoplásmico, y otra en endosomas tardíos o lisosomas. Los pacientes que no expresan el ARNm de LPL presentan únicamente la población vesicular. Posteriormente, verificamos estos resultados mediante inmunomicroscopía electrónica, describiendo, hasta donde sabemos por primera vez, la localización ultraestructural de la proteína LPL en una célula B. La identificación de LPL en vesículas de origen endocítico en células de pacientes que no expresan el ARNm de LPL nos sugirió, que la inmunorreactividad positiva en estas células podía deberse a una endocitosis de LPL de origen extracelular. Por este motivo, incubamos ex vivo células de LLC con un medio químicamente definido (libre de suero), o con suero fetal bovino (un componente de la mayoría de las formulas de medios de cultivo completos, y el principal componente del medio de congelación de las células al ingreso al banco celular), o bien con plasma autólogo. De este modo, demostramos que la proteína LPL de origen extracelular puede ser internalizada desde el plasma por las células de LLC, independientemente de si expresan o no el ARNm de LPL. También reportamos que al incubarlas suero fetal bovino las células de algunos pacientes son capaces de internalizar LPL del mismo, mientras que las células de otros pacientes no. Además, en este artículo probamos que la limpieza de la proteína LPL de la superficie de los linfocitos B de LLC con heparina mejora la detección de la proteína LPL endógena permitiendo discriminar entre pacientes que expresan el ARNm de LPL y aquellos que no, y describimos un sencillo protocolo de rutina para realizar esta limpieza de LPL superficial. Uno de los hallazgos más sorprendentes es que la discriminación entre los grupos LPL positivo o negativo es máxima cuando se utilizan células obtenidas de sangre fresca en lugar de las congeladas y descongeladas de un

biobanco, lo que aumenta la posibilidad de su implementación en la clínica. Es posible que éste fenómeno se deba a la capacidad que hemos descubierto del linfocito de LLC de internalizar LPL del medio, ya que el medio de congelación contiene suero fetal bovino.

Reportamos también que la cuantificación de los niveles endógenos de la proteína LPL reflejan los niveles de su ARNm, y describimos un método pronóstico utilizando citometría de flujo. Finalmente, investigamos la capacidad del método que aquí describimos de predecir la evolución clínica, medida como el tiempo al primer tratamiento, y encontramos que en nuestra cohorte de pacientes la medición directa del porcentaje de células LPL positivas permite estratificar a los IgVH mutados y no mutados con soporte estadístico, y aparece como una prometedora alternativa, luego de validarse en una cohorte mayor, como un predictor del tiempo al primer tratamiento. Las nuevas terapias con inhibidores moleculares selectivos o anticuerpos monoclonales permiten lograr remisiones completas de la LLC. Es así que la identificación temprana de aquellos pacientes cuya enfermedad se manifiesta de forma asintomática pero que luego progresara es crucial para ofrecerles el tratamiento a tiempo. El método que aquí describimos presenta una alternativa de fácil implementación en la rutina clínica, que permite identificar estos pacientes mediante una biopsia líquida, y que no requiere mayor infraestructura que la habitual de citometría de flujo analítica presente en la mayoría de los servicios de hematología, incluso en países en vías de desarrollo.

LPL protein in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia have different origins in Mutated and Unmutated patients. Advances for a new prognostic marker in CLL

Prieto Daniel¹, Uriepero Angimar¹, Seija Noé¹, Souto-Padron Thais^{2†}, Oliver Carolina³, Irigoin Victoria³, Guillermo Cecilia³, Landoni Ana Inés⁴, Gabus Raúl⁴, Giordano Mirta⁵ and Oppezzo Pablo¹.

1-Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Laboratory, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Montevideo, Uruguay.

2-Institute of Microbiology Paulo de Góes, Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, CCS, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

3-Cátedra de Hematología, Hospital de Clínicas, Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay.

4-Hospital Maciel, Administración Servicios de Salud del Estado, Ministerio de Salud Montevideo, Uruguay.

5-Laboratorio de Inmunología Oncológica, Instituto de Medicina Experimental, Academia Nacional de Medicina, Buenos Aires, Argentina

† Deceased 10 July 2017

ABSTRACT

Among the different prognostic factors in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL), it has been demonstrated that lipoprotein lipase (LPL) is associated to an unmutated (Um) immunoglobulin profile and poor clinical outcome. The expression of LPL gene in Um CLL B cells is a very interesting observation because there is no expression of LPL in normal B cells. This anomalous expression, constitutes not only a suitable prognostic marker to study disease prognosis but could also be helpful to understand the heterogeneous proliferative behavior in the CLL disease. To date, the functional role of LPL overexpression in CLL pathogenesis and/or tumor progression are still open issues. Among these unsolved matters, one additional question is why LPL protein levels in CLL appear not to be correlated to LPL expression at the mRNA level. In this work we evaluated the subcellular localization of LPL protein in CLL cells expressing LPL mRNA and compared this protein levels with negative CLL cells for LPL mRNA. Our results show that LPL protein inside CLL cells could have different origins depending on the IqVH mutational status. Whereas LPL protein in Um cases is principally found associated with markers of endoplasmic reticulum, mutated cases, which also show LPL protein being negative for LPL mRNA, depict that this protein is incorporated from the extracellular medium and remains associated with endosome/lysosome vesicles. Specific quantification of endogenous LPL in CLL cells correlates to mRNA expression levels and reveal that LPL protein could become a new, easy and reliable prognostic marker in this leukemia.

INTRODUCTION

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is a low-grade, B-cell tumor with monoclonal CD5 positive cells that relentlessly accumulate in lymphoid organs (LO) and bone marrow and flow into peripheral blood (PB). Lack of proliferative properties makes these cells inherently quiescent. However, a proliferating pool of cells has been described in LO that might feed the accumulation pool in the PB. (1);(2). Microenvironmental interactions regulate this proliferative/quiescent signaling and probably is one of the major causes of the biological and clinical CLL heterogeneity (3). The advent of new treatments such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors and monoclonal antibodies able to induce complete remissions may allow early treatment for asymptomatic patients whose disease is likely to progress (3). Accurate identification of these patients is therefore increasingly important. The mutational status of immunoglobulin heavy chain variable (*IgVH*) genes has been considered the best prognostic marker in CLL (4). However, many other surrogates have been proposed with the main goal of recognizing biomarkers that can predict therapy response (5). We previously described that Unmutated (Um) patients could be differentiated from mutated (Mut) ones by the expression of lipoprotein

lipase (*LPL*) gene (6) and proposed the prognostic value of *LPL/ADAM-29* ratio as a surrogate of the mutational status (7). Since then, a body of evidence has confirmed that the expression of *LPL* mRNA is associated to bad prognosis, (8, 9) and that it is the most robust molecular marker in CLL (10).

Besides the potential relevance of *LPL* as a prognostic marker in CLL, there are still several unsolved questions regarding the authentic role of this enzyme in the pathogenesis of this leukemia. LPL is a protein located on the luminal side of the vessel wall, and is anchored to heparan sulfate proteoglycans which contains binding sites for both heparan sulfate chains and apoproteins(11). Their main role is related to overall lipid metabolism and transport. In this line, it has recently been shown that low-density lipoproteins may enhance proliferative responses of CLL cells to inflammatory signals (12) and that *LPL* expression confers a survival advantage to CLL cells (13). However, other works suggest that LPL protein in CLL is catalytically inactive (14), thus it does not appear to significantly influence CLL cell survival on its own (15).

To confirm the different roles proposed for *LPL* expression in the leukemic clone a clear identification and characterization of LPL protein inside the tumor lymphocyte became an essential issue. Presently, few data about LPL protein expression in CLL cells is available and their correlation with disease progression as well as their prognosis value is controversial (16). Why LPL expression on cell surface does not correlate to its mRNA level is greatly unknown up to now. In this work we provide deep insight into this question analyzing the sub-cellular localization of LPL protein in CLL cells expressing *LPL* mRNA (LPL^{mRNA/peg}) and comparing with negative CLL cells for *LPL* mRNA (LPL^{mRNA/peg}). The results obtained led us to study the possibility whether measuring LPL protein inside CLL cells could have different origins depending on the *IgVH* mutational status and that LPL protein expression correlates to mRNA expression levels. Whereas LPL protein in Um cases is principally found associated with markers of endoplasmic reticulum (ER), Mut cases, which also show LPL protein but are negative for *LPL* mRNA, depict that this protein is incorporated from the extracellular medium and remain associated with endosome/lysosome vesicles. This different subcellular localization of endogenous LPL in CLL cells reveal that it is possible to set up a specific method directed to quantify endogenous LPL protein levels to be used as a prognostic marker in this leukemia.

Materials and Methods

Patients, sample collection and molecular processing

Peripheral blood was obtained from 42 patients with a typical diagnosis of CLL All patients were followed at the Hospital Maciel and Hospital de Clínicas in Montevideo, and provided an informed consent according to local ethical regulations and the Helsinki Declaration. Mononuclear cells were isolated by Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) layer separation according to the manufacturer. Mutational status was performed as previously by (17) and LPL mRNA expression as described in (7, 18). Briefly, RT-PCR and Real-time (qRT-PCR) were performed with RNA previously extracted with TriZol. First-strand cDNA was synthesized from 500 ng total RNA with MMLV-RT (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) using an oligo dT18–20 primer. Real-time qRT-PCR reactions were performed using Kapa SYBR Fast qPCR kit (Kapa Biosystems, Wilmington, NC, USA) according to the manufacturer in a Corbett 6000 (Qiagen, Venlo, Netherlands) thermal cycler. Clinical and molecular characterization of CLL patients used in this work as depicted in Table 1.

Surface LPL removal and culture of PBMC CLLs

PBMCs culture of different CLL samples were performed in AIM-V serum free medium (Thermo-Fisher, Whaltham, MA), Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, Thermo-Fisher, Whaltham, MA), or autologous plasma. Different conditions of heparin treatment such as concentrations (25, 50, 100U/ml) temperatures (6, 20 and 37°C) and times (5, 10 and 30 min) were evaluated. The best condition found to remove mostly cell surface-attached LPL in CLL was: incubation of 5 million PBMCs with 50 U/ml sodium heparin in RPMI/3% BSA for 5 min at 37°C. Next, samples were centrifuged at 400g for 5 min, and washed once with RPMI.

Flow cytometry

Cells were fixed with 10% formaldehyde from PFA for 15 min. Fixative was washed away with 2 washes with 10 ml PBS, and centrifugation at 400g for 5 min at 4°C. Cells were then blocked and permeabilized with 3% BSA in PBS-T (0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS) 10 min at room-temperature, and incubated overnight with 1 µg/ml anti-LPL monoclonal antibody (Mab) 5D2, (kind gift of Dr John D. Brunzell) or mouse IgG1 isotype control (Thermo-Fisher, Waltham, MA). After two washes PBS, cells were incubated with anti-mouse alexa 488 (Life Technologies, Eugene, OR, USA) 2 µg/mL in 3% BSA in PBS-T for 45 min at room-temperature (RT), washed twice with PBS and acquired data with a CyAN ADP flow cytometer (DakoCytomation, Glostrup, Denmark). Data were analyzed in R/Bioconductor with the packages flowCore, flowStats and flowViz.

Confocal microscopy

Cells were fixed with 10% formaldehyde from PFA, attached to poly-L-lysine-coated slides and blocked for 15 min with PBS-T/BSA (0.1% Triton-X100/3% BSA). Immunostaining was performed with mouse anti-LPL (5D2) 1 µg/ml overnight at 4°C and goat anti-mouse Alexa 594 1:1000 (Life Technologies, Eugene, OR, USA), donkey anti human-IgM PE 1:50 (Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove, PA, USA), 0.1 µg/ml DiO C18 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), and methyl green as previously described (19) Golgi cisternae staining was performed in vivo with Bodipy TR ceramide (Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA, USA) and fixed afterwards. Cells were then mounted in 70% glycerol pH=8.8, and imaged in a Leica TCS SP5 confocal microscope. Three-dimensional deconvolution was performed using Huygens Essential 4.5 (Scientific Volume Imaging B.V., Hilversum, The Netherlands).

Electron microscopy

Cells were fixed in 0.01% glutaraldehyde, 4% formaldehyde from PFA in 0.1M cacodylate buffer pH=7.2/5mM CaCl2/0.1M sucrose, dehydrated in a series of 30-50-70-90-100% cold ethanol, and embedded in Lowycryl K4M (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Blocks were sectioned at 70 nm and tranferred onto non-coated 400 mesh nickel grids. Immunostaining was performed by incubating the grids with 50 mM ammonium chloride in PBS (pH=7.2) for 20 min at RT, washing in PBS/2% BSA/0.01% Tween-20 (pH=8) for 20 min at RT, incubating with mouse anti-LPL (5D2) 1:500 overnight at 4°C, washing (3x) PBS/2% BSA/0.01% Tween-20 (pH=8), incubated with donkey anti-mouse 10 nm colloidal gold (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) 1:100 1 hour at RT, and washing with water before air drying. Dried sections were contrasted with uranyl acetate and lead citrate before imaging in a Morgagni F268 Transmission Electron Microscope (FEI, Eindhoven, The Netherlands), operating at 80 kV.

Statistical analyses

Analyses were done using GraphPad Prism 6.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) and R/Bioconductor. Normality of data was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk's normality test. Kendall's rank correlation test was performed using Kendall package, and null hypothesis was rejected at p<0.05. Optimal cut-off determination of continous LPL-FC data was analyzed using the OptimalCutpoints (20) package with MaxDOR and Youden's J statistic method at a 95% confidence interval. *IgVH* mutational status was used as a categorical covariate for calculation. Survival rates based on adjusted Kaplan-Meier estimates were calculated for 36 patients with clinical follow-up with the packages survival and survminer.

RESULTS

LPL protein is present in Mut and Um CLL cells but depict a different sub-cellular localization

LPL protein is located both on the surface and cytoplasm of CLL B-cells as it has been previously shown (8). However, a detailed characterization of the cellular LPL compartmentalization in Mut and Um CLL cells it is missing. With this purpose we performed 3D image deconvolution and electron microscopy revealing the existence of a different subcellular localization pattern of LPL protein in CLL cells LPL mRNA/pos compared with CLL LPL^{mRNA/neg} cells (Figure 1). Interestingly, in CLL cells from LPL^{mRNA/pos} patients a perinuclear sub-localization is evidenced by higher immunomarcation (figure 1A, white arrows), whereas it does not appear to be the case for LPL^{mRNA/neg} patients. In this latter sub-group LPL protein shows lower intensity and maintains a peripheral localization (second panel, whit arrows, figure 1A). A similar staining pattern is found in B cells from healthy donors (data not shown). To further address this observations, we performed co-immunostaining of LPL with the ER marker calnexin (CLX), a classical marker of the ER cisternae, and with anti-Lamp1 used as a marker of late endosome/lysosome vesicles. Our results show that in LPL^{mRNA/pos} cases, an association of LPL with ER is mainly evidenced by overlapping of LPL and Calnexin signals (figure 1B, arrows in first panel), whereas low quantities of LPL protein are found associated with Lamp-1. In contrast, in LPL^{mRNA/neg} cases lower co-localization of LPL protein with Calnexin is found, whereas the majority of LPL overlaps with Lamp-1 (figure 1C, white arrows in second panel). These results were confirmed by immuno electron-microscopy in CLL patients in which LPL immunogold labeling corresponding to LPL^{mRNA/pos} cases is mainly observed in cisternae of ER whereas this is not the case for LPL^{mRNA/neg} patients in which labeling is mainly found in vesicles, (Figure 1C, white arrows).

Altogether these results suggest that LPL protein in LPL^{mRNA/pos} CLL cells is mainly produced by a classical transcription/translation mechanism and that this protein follows at least in part a classical ER/Golgidependent secretory pathway. Concerning LPL^{mRNA/neg}, our results show that LPL is detected associated to cellsurface or intracellular vesicles but interestingly no association with ER nor with Golgi cisternae could be evidenced.

Extracellular LPL protein is internalized from plasma by CLL cells independent of the mutational status

After biosynthesis, LPL is secreted into the blood vessels and associated with the luminal side of capillaries and arteries where it anchors to heparan sulfate proteoglycans (11). The presence of LPL protein inside CLL cells in LPL^{mRNA/neg} patients could only be explained by the external incorporation of this protein into tumour cells, therefore confirmation of this hypothesis could help us to understand the fact that LPL protein does not correlate to mRNA levels as described in (8). To gain insight into this issue we performed in vitro experiments with CLL cells from patients expressing or not LPL mRNA. We incubated these cells by 24hs in serum free medium (SFM) or in autologous plasma and evaluated by flow cytometry and by confocal microscopy the presence of LPL in CLL cells and its localization, respectively. Our results show that after 24hs both CLL cells expressing or not LPL mRNA are able to incorporate LPL protein from the plasma. Significant differences showing external incorporation of LPL protein were found when comparing LPL protein from CLL cells incubated for 24hs in medium without soluble LPL or with autologous plasma containing LPL (p=0.015, Wilcoxon test, two tailed). Similar results were found using non-autologous plasma (data not shown), whereas a similar but not significant tendency was also observed when CLL cells were incubated 24 hs only with RPMI plus 10% FBS. As depicted in Figure 2A (second panel) some patients appear to be able to incorporate LPL from FBS which is in turn recognized by the anti-LPL 5D2 mAb used in flow cytometry analysis as expected, since this antibody was originally produced against bovine LPL (21). Representative patients confirming these results by microscopy and flow cytometry are depicted in Figure 2B. Subcellular localization analysis of LPL protein from both subgroups after incubation with autologous plasma was evaluated. Our results show that in LPL mRNA/pos subgroup LPL immunostaining colocalizes with CLX in addition to Lamp-1 (Figure 2C, first panel, white and red arrows, respectively), whereas in LPL ^{mRNA/neg} patients, the protein internalized from autologous plasma remains excluded of ER and is mainly associated with Lamp-1 vesicles (white arrows in figure 2C, second panel).

Altogether these results suggest that LPL protein in CLL cells could come from two different origins, one produced *de-novo* in LPL^{mRNA/pos} patients or the other, incorporated from plasma in both subgroups (LPL^{mRNA/pos} and LPL^{mRNA/pos} CLLs).

Fresh CLL cells and surface heparin peeling improve the detection of LPL protein between LPL^{mRNA/neg} and LPL^{mRNA/pos} CLL cells.

The different grades of LPL internalization in CLL patients could turn the development of a reliable prognosis method at the protein level very difficult. The fact that CLL cells incorporate either human LPL from plasma or bovine LPL from FBS, represents an additional problem because frozen PBMCs, which is one of the usual forms of preserving CLL cells, could not be used. To further investigate this assumption, and knowing that in the presence of heparin LPL can be released into the blood we optimized the best concentration, temperatures and times of heparin incubation for CLL PBMCs for removal of cell surface attached LPL (data not shown) and we compared this protocol between fresh and frozen PBMCs or in RNA/neg or in RNA/pos CLL cells. However, LPL protein either in intracellular vesicles of LPL ^{mRNA/neg} cases or in the ER cells of LPL ^{mRNA/neg} the histograms, figure 3A). These results confirm that external LPL could be incorporated by CLL cells, and show that heparin treatment is not enough to totally improve a putative prognostic method in CLL.

With these results in mind, and knowing that frozen cells could be a source of unspecific LPL immunostaining (figure 2A) we tried to found the best conditions in which LPL protein detection displayed the best specificity/sensitivity properties allowing a reliable prognostic method for CLL. To this aim we selected 20 patients, 10 corresponding to the subgroup LPL^{mRNA/neg} and 10 to the subgroup LPL^{mRNA/neg} and evaluated different conditions such as: **a**) frozen/thawed PBMCs; **b**) frozen/thawed PBMCs plus heparin; **c**) fresh PBMCs; and **d**) fresh PBMCs plus heparin. All these conditions were equally tested using the anti-LPL 5D2 mAb in flow cytometry. Our results show that LPL protein detection either in frozen/thawed PBMCs or in frozen/thawed PBMCs plus heparin is not enough to provide a clear discrimination between RNA/neg and RNA/pos CLLs (figure 3B); intead it is improved when LPL protein analysis are performed in fresh PBMCs from CLL samples (figure 3C, first panel). Interestingly, and according to our previous observations, heparin treatment in fresh PBMCs appears to be the best option to improve the detection of LPL protein in CLL (figure 3C, second panel).

Altogether, these results show that LPL protein detection from frozen/thawed may not correspond to the expression of *LPL* at the mRNA level, probably due to the unspecific uptake of human/bovine LPL protein from plasma and FBS, respectively. Instead, LPL protein detection after heparin peeling from fresh CLL PBMCs demonstrates the best difference between LPL^{mRNA/pos} groups and led us to evaluate the prognostic prediction power in a larger number of patients.

Quantification of the endogenous LPL protein levels in CLL cells reflect LPL mRNA levels and predict clinical outcome in CLL

Since *LPL* mRNA has been reported to be a strong predictor of CLL outcome, we wondered whether endogenous LPL protein (eLPL) levels evaluated on fresh CLL PBMCs could report mRNA levels, and if this methodology could be proposed as an alternative prognostic method to *LPL* mRNA detection or a complementary methodology for the *IgVH* mutational status. To this aim, we set up a flow cytometry protocol for eLPL evaluation and compared it to *LPL* mRNA expression by qRT-PCR and to *IgVH* status in a validation cohort of 42 CLL samples (21 mutated and 21 unmutated). Finally, we compared the predictive prognostic power of all these different methods using the time to first treatment (TTFT) of a selected cohort. As depicted in figure 4A our results evaluating *LPL* at the mRNA level by qRT-PCR depict that the best segregation between Mut and Um patients is obtained using a threshold of 10 as has been previously described by (8). This cutoff correctly segregates 40 of 42 patients, depicting 95% of accordance rate with the

mutational status. The two discordant cases are CLL 16 and 11, with values of 13.2 and 10.5 respectively. Concerning LPL protein measurement after heparin peeling from fresh CLL PBMCs the best cutoff value necessary to obtain the best concordance rate with *IgVH* mutational status is 25%. Using it, 41 of 42 patients (97%) could be achieved, in this case the only discordant case was the CLL 37 = 21 %. Both methodologies show significant differences between Mut and Um cases. Specifically, for LPL protein detection the Mut cases show a mean = 14,16 \pm 1,2 n=21, and Um cases a mean = 44,51 \pm 3,1 n=21, (Unpaired t test with Welch's correction, p=0.0001), Figure 4B. The threshold values calculated for both tests showing the best concordance rate with the *IgVH* mutational status were determined using the Youden index as indicated by a horizontal pointed lines in Figure 4 A-B. Both established cutoff values were used for further calculation of odds ratio and clinical outcome. Median TTFT for the evaluated cohort (n = 36) was 25 months in CLLs displaying Um *IgVH* genes (p= 0.001), 20 months in CLLs expressing *LPL* at the protein level, (p = 0.02), whereas median TTFT was not achieved neither for Mut CLLs, or LPL mRNA/negative or LPL protein/negative subgroups (Figure 4 A-C, respectively).

Altogether, these data suggest that measurement of LPL protein could be an interesting prognostic method to be evaluated as a good alternative either for the measurement of *LPL* mRNA or as a surrogate for the mutational *IgVH* status in CLL.

DISCUSSION:

The high expression of LPL gene in Um CLL B-cells is a very remarkable observation because there is no expression of LPL in normal B cells. This specific and ectopic expression, constitutes not only a suitable prognostic marker to study disease evolution but could also be helpful to understand the heterogeneous proliferative behavior in CLL disease. To date, the functional role of LPL overexpression in CLL pathogenesis and/or tumor progression are still open issues. Different hypothesis have been proposed about the functional capacity of LPL expressed by CLL cells : i. LPL expression play a role in the lipid metabolism of CLL and supply survival advantages for tumor cells. This hypothesis has been raised by Pallasch and colleages (22) and supported by works of Rozovski et al. showing that survival advantages are driven by LPL-dependent metabolism of intracellular stored lipids for energy production (13, 23, 24). However, this catalytic function of LPL in CLL is questioned by the fact that the levels of catalytically activity of LPL in CLL cells is very low and it could not be correlated to mRNA expression levels or IgVH mutational status (14, 15). ii. LPL expression plays a role through the microenvironmental crosstalk also promoting proliferation, homing and survival. This hypothesis is also supported by results of Pallasch et al. who observed elevated LPL mRNA levels in CLL cells after stimulation of the B cell receptor, and is reinforced by our previous observation that LPL expression in CLL cells could be increased by specific microenvironmental signaling such as CD40L/IL4 or BCR interaction as well as after autologous T-cell activation, (18, 25). Despite membrane-bound LPL has been proven to enhance cell adhesion (26) and could be associated with migration/spreading of the leukemic clone in proliferative centers, this premise has neither been proven yet (27). Among these unsolved issues concerning LPL expression in CLL, one additional question is why LPL protein levels appear not to correlate with the expression of LPL at the mRNA level (8). Heintel et al. described that LPL protein expression is mainly restricted to B cells of CLL patients but interestingly, they found that LPL protein on the surface of CLL cells did not correlate to LPL mRNA. In contrast, this correlation appear to be certain when LPL protein is evaluated by indirect immunofluorescence (IFI) in the cytoplasm of leukemic cells (8). Unfortunately, this observation was not deepened probably because IFI practice is complex and not typically used as a quantification methodology to be extrapolated to the clinical routine.

In this work we provide deep insight into the subcellular localization of LPL protein within the different prognostic subgroups of CLL in order to gain new perspectives about the functional role of this protein. We explored the possibility to set up the measurement of LPL protein in flow cytometry as a new and useful prognosis method for CLL. Our result show that despite the fact that LPL protein exists inside and in the membrane of the tumor cells, the sub-cellular localization is different between Mut and Um patients. Whereas

LPL protein in Mut CLL cells remain associated to cell-surface or intracellular vesicles, the LPL of Um cases is mainly associated with classical markers of ER or visualized by electron microscopy in this compartment. Interestingly, when focusing on LPL protein in Mut CLL (LPL^{mRNA/neg} subgroup) our data demonstrates that LPL protein in the leukemic cells remain in the cell membrane even after heparin treatment and could be internalized from plasma either for Mut or Um cases. Our work describes for the first time that LPL protein quantities in the leukemic clone could account for two different origins; a) an internal source from LPL mRNA transcription that mainly occurs in Um CLL, and **b**) an external source from plasma from where LPL appears to be uptake either in Um and Mut cases. These findings support and complement the results of Heintel et al. (8) explaining why the expression of mRNA in leukemic cells of Um patients, largely demonstrated in CLL (7-9, 28) does not correlate with a higher expression of LPL protein. This complex scenario about the origin of LPL protein in the leukemic clone as well as the fact that LPL from FBS is also detected by mAb 5D2 inside CLL cells explain the inconsistent data between measurement of total LPL protein and mRNA levels previously described in (15) and (8). Furthermore, these results call attention to the data suggesting a low catalytic activity of LPL and to the assumption that LPL protein expressed by CLL cells exists mostly as a non-active monomer (15). We think that more cellular and biochemical experiments with a purified LPL isolated of Um CLL cells should be carried out to finally understand whether the LPL protein secreted specifically by the leukemic clone is functional or not.

The second goal of this work was to evaluate the possibility that LPL protein assessment could be a reliable prognostic marker in CLL. To this aim, we first confirmed that the best results and the most significant p values were obtained using fresh CLL cells and heparin surface peeling. These data are reinforced by our previous results (Figure 2A) showing that the 5D2 anti-LPL mAb cannot be used on previously cryopreserved CLL samples because bovine LPL is randomly internalized and recognized by the anti-LPL mAb. These results are expected knowing that mAb 5D2 was originally developed by immunization with bovine LPL and later confirmed that it also cross-reacted with human LPL (21, 29). Under these conditions, the measurement of LPL protein expression reported here appears to be a good prognostic method similar to the measurement of LPL mRNA expression previously described (7-10, 28). The fact that LPL at mRNA (9) and protein level (as demonstrated by our data) could perfectly be performed on fresh PBMC without the need to identify other cells such as T lymphocytes or monocyte/macrophage cells, make this protocol a simple flow cytometry method that could be performed in any flow cytometer meeting minimal requirements. This protocol does not present the classical problems previously described for other flow cytometry-technologies in CLL prognosis concerning the existence of a single cut-off level that should previously be agreed by the laboratories. This is the case for prognostic markers in CLL such as ZAP-70 (30-32) or for CD38 (33). In both cases, problems due that the target protein being expressed in other blood cells than the leukemic clone (32), or that the target protein expression levels changed with the activation of the CLL cells (34), were described . Concerning technical approach issues on the LPL protein protocol described in this work we remark that all the results obtained here were performed with the 5D2 mAb kindly provided by Dr. Brunzell described in (21). None of the commercially available 5D2 mAb were evaluated.

The prognostic methodology here proposed was finally tested in a cohort of 42 non-cryopreserved CLLs and their prognostic value compared with those of the mutational VH status profile and with the *LPL* mRNA levels. Our results show that the percentage of leukemic cells expressing LPL protein is significantly higher than in Mut patients (Figure 4) and that with the proposed cut-off value of 25% we obtained data supporting that expression of LPL in CLL could be a powerful prognostic test. Despite the fact that high concordance rate with the mutational status was achieved (95%) and that TTFT appears to be significant and similar to the mean observed for mutational status and *LPL* mRNA expression in the same CLL cohort we realize that the protocol proposed here should be validated on a bigger cohort.

In summary, our data appear to reinforce the hypothesis that LPL protein in progressive cases could have a catalytic function providing metabolic survival advantages for the tumor clone. In this case LPL protein is generated de novo and appears to be correctly expressed in a classical ER/Golgi-dependent secretory pathway. Instead, the hypothesis suggesting that membrane-bound LPL could support proliferation, migration and spreading for progressive patients seems rather unlikely, because our results show that both Mut or Um patients are able to bind or internalize LPL from plasma indistinctly. Furthermore, we present here an easy and accessible flow cytometry protocol based on the single immunolabeling of LPL protein on fresh PBMCs of

CLL patients. This methodology is related to LPL mRNA expression levels as well as the mutational I_gVH status, and we think that after validation in a larger cohort, could become a useful tool to predict disease evolution in CLL.

REFERENCES

- Calissano C, Damle RN, Marsilio S, Yan XJ, Yancopoulos S, Hayes G, et al. Intraclonal complexity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: fractions enriched in recently born/divided and older/quiescent cells. *Mol Med* 2011; **17**(11-12): 1374-1382.
- Palacios F, Moreno P, Morande P, Abreu C, Correa A, Porro V, et al. High expression of AID and active class switch recombination might account for a more aggressive disease in unmutated CLL patients: link with an activated microenvironment in CLL disease. *Blood* 2010 Jun 3; **115**(22): 4488-4496.
- 3. Oppezzo P, Dighiero G. "Role of the B-cell receptor and the microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia". *Blood Cancer J* 2013 Sep 20; **3:** e149.
- 4. Parikh SA, Strati P, Tsang M, West CP, Shanafelt TD. Should IGHV status and FISH testing be performed in all CLL patients at diagnosis? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Blood* 2016 Apr 7; **127**(14): 1752-1760.
- Rosenquist R, Cortese D, Bhoi S, Mansouri L, Gunnarsson R. Prognostic markers and their clinical applicability in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: where do we stand? *Leukemia & lymphoma* 2013 Nov; 54(11): 2351-2364.
- Vasconcelos Y, De Vos J, Vallat L, Reme T, Lalanne AI, Wanherdrick K, et al. Gene expression profiling of chronic lymphocytic leukemia can discriminate cases with stable disease and mutated Ig genes from those with progressive disease and unmutated Ig genes. *Leukemia* 2005 Nov; **19**(11): 2002-2005.
- unmutated Ig genes. *Leukemia* 2005 Nov; **19**(11): 2002-2005.
 Oppezzo P, Vasconcelos Y, Settegrana C, Jeannel D, Vuillier F, Legarff-Tavernier M, *et al.* The LPL/ADAM29 expression ratio is a novel prognosis indicator in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* 2005 Jul 15; **106**(2): 650-657.
- Heintel D, Kienle D, Shehata M, Krober A, Kroemer E, Schwarzinger I, et al. High expression of lipoprotein lipase in poor risk B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* 2005 Jul; 19(7): 1216-1223.
- Van Bockstaele F, Pede V, Janssens A, Callewaert F, Offner F, Verhasselt B, et al. Lipoprotein lipase mRNA expression in whole blood is a prognostic marker in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Clin Chem* 2007 Feb; **53**(2): 204-212.
- Kaderi MA, Kanduri M, Buhl AM, Sevov M, Cahill N, Gunnarsson R, et al. LPL is the strongest prognostic factor in a comparative analysis of RNA-based markers in early chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* 2011 Aug; 96(8): 1153-1160.
- 11. Kolset SO, Salmivirta M. Cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans and lipoprotein metabolism. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 1999 Nov 30; **56**(9-10): 857-870.
- 12. McCaw L, Shi Y, Wang G, Li YJ, Spaner DE. Low Density Lipoproteins Amplify Cytokine-signaling in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells. *EBioMedicine* 2017 Feb; **15:** 24-35.
- Rozovski U, Grgurevic S, Bueso-Ramos C, Harris DM, Li P, Liu Z, *et al.* Aberrant LPL Expression, Driven by STAT3, Mediates Free Fatty Acid Metabolism in CLL Cells. *Mol Cancer Res* 2015 May; **13**(5): 944-953.
- 14. Mansouri M, Sevov M, Fahlgren E, Tobin G, Jondal M, Osorio L, *et al.* Lipoprotein lipase is differentially expressed in prognostic subsets of chronic lymphocytic leukemia but displays invariably low catalytical activity. *Leuk Res* 2010 Aug 24.
- 15. Porpaczy E, Tauber S, Bilban M, Kostner G, Gruber M, Eder S, *et al.* Lipoprotein lipase in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia strong biomarker with lack of functional significance. *Leuk Res* 2013 Jun; **37**(6): 631-636.
- 16. Rombout A, Verhasselt B, Philippe J. Lipoprotein lipase in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: function and prognostic implications. *Eur J Haematol* 2016 Aug 9.
- 17. Pritsch O, Troussard X, Magnac C, Mauro FR, Davi F, Payelle-Brogard B, et al. VH gene usage by family members affected with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 1999; **107**(3): 616-624.
- Moreno P, Abreu C, Borge M, Palacios F, Morande P, Pegazzano M, et al. Lipoprotein lipase expression in unmutated CLL patients is the consequence of a demethylation process induced by the microenvironment. *Leukemia* 2013 Mar; 27(3): 721-725.
- 19. Prieto D, Aparicio G, Morande PE, Zolessi FR. A fast, low cost, and highly efficient fluorescent DNA labeling method using methyl green. *Histochem Cell Biol* 2014 Sep; **142**(3): 335-345.
- Mónica López-Ratón, María Xosé Rodríguez-Álvarez, Carmen Cadarso-Suárez, Gude-Sampedro F. OptimalCutpoints: An R Package for Selecting Optimal Cutpoints in Diagnostic Tests. *Journal of Statistical Software* 2014; 61(8): 4907.
- 21. Peterson J, Fujimoto WY, Brunzell JD. Human lipoprotein lipase: relationship of activity, heparin affinity, and conformation as studied with monoclonal antibodies. *J Lipid Res* 1992 Aug; **33**(8): 1165-1170.
- Pallasch CP, Schwamb J, Konigs S, Schulz A, Debey S, Kofler D, et al. Targeting lipid metabolism by the lipoprotein lipase inhibitor orlistat results in apoptosis of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Leukemia* 2008 Mar; 22(3): 585-592.
- Rozovski U, Hazan-Halevy I, Barzilai M, Keating MJ, Estrov Z. Metabolism pathways in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2016; 57(4): 758-765.
- Rozovski U, Harris DM, Li P, Liu Z, Jain P, Ferrajoli A, et al. CLL and Fat Cells Utilize Similar Metabolic Pathways. *Clinical Lymphoma, Myeloma & Leukemia* 2107; 17(CLL-129): S303-S304.
- 25. Abreu C, Moreno P, Palacios F, Borge M, Morande P, Landoni AI, *et al.* Methylation status regulates lipoprotein lipase expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2013 Aug; **54**(8): 1844-1848.
- Mamputu JC, Desfaits AC, Renier G. Lipoprotein lipase enhances human monocyte adhesion to aortic endothelial cells. *J Lipid Res* 1997 Sep; **38**(9): 1722-1729.
- Prieto D, Oppezzo P. Lipoprotein Lipase Expression in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: New Insights into Leukemic Progression. *Molecules* 2017 Dec 5; 22(12).
- van't Veer MB, Brooijmans AM, Langerak AW, Verhaaf B, Goudswaard CS, Graveland WJ, et al. The predictive value of lipoprotein lipase for survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* 2006 Jan; **91**(1): 56-63.
- Chang SF, Reich B, Brunzell JD, Will H. Detailed characterization of the binding site of the lipoprotein lipase-specific monoclonal antibody 5D2. J Lipid Res 1998 Dec; 39(12): 2350-2359.
- Letestu R., Boeckx N., Boettcher S., Buhl AM., Ghia P., Ibbotson RE., et al. International effort for harmonization of Zap-70 technique: Contribution of the exchange of electronic Flow Cytometry Raw-Data and Multicentric evaluation of a Standardized procedure. *haematologica* 2009 16-18 october; (s3): 55.
- 31. Wilhelm C, Neubauer A, Brendel C. Discordant results of flow cytometric ZAP-70 expression status in B-CLL samples if different gating strategies are applied. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom* 2006 Jul 15; **70**(4): 242-250.
- Gibbs G, Bromidge T, Howe D, Hopkins J, Johnson S. Comparison of flow cytometric methods for the measurement of ZAP-70 expression in a routine diagnostic laboratory. *Clin Lab Haematol* 2005 Aug; **27**(4): 258-266.

- 33. Thompson PA, Tam CS. CD38 expression in CLL: a dynamic marker of prognosis. *Leukemia & lymphoma* 2014 Jan; **55**(1): 1-2.
- 34. Brachtl G, Pinon Hofbauer J, Greil R, Hartmann TN. The pathogenic relevance of the prognostic markers CD38 and CD49d in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Ann Hematol* 2014 Mar; **93**(3): 361-374.
- Nuckel H, Huttmann A, Klein-Hitpass L, Schroers R, Fuhrer A, Sellmann L, et al. Lipoprotein lipase expression is a novel prognostic factor in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2006 Jun; 47(6): 1053-1061.

atient No.	Sex	Binet stage ¹	LC (x10³/µl)	FISH ²	IgVH status	LPL ³
1	F	А	5.9	N/D	Mutated	Negative
2	F	В	162.0	del13q	Mutated	Negative
3	F	А	12.5	del13q	Mutated	Negative
4	М	А	32.6	N/D	Mutated	Negative
5	М	А	55.8	N/A	Mutated	Negative
6	М	А	18.9	N/A	Mutated	Negative
7	М	А	8.2	N/A	Mutated	Negative
8	М	В	19.0	N/D	Mutated	Negative
9	М	А	7.3	del13q	Mutated	Negative
10	F	А	43.2	N/A	Mutated	Negative
11	М	С	62.3	Tris 12	Mutated	Positive
12	F	А	19.8	N/A	Mutated	Negative
13	F	А	22.2	N/A	Mutated	Negative
14	М	А	19.6	N/D	Mutated	Negative
15	М	В	58.8	N/A	Mutated	Negative
16	М	А	21.6	N/A	Mutated	Positive
17	F	А	10.0	del13q	Mutated	Negative
18	М	В	6.3	N/A	Mutated	Negative
19	F	А	23.6	N/A	Mutated	Negative
20	F	А	11.5	N/D	Mutated	Negative
21	М	А	N/D	N/D	Mutated	Negative
22	F	А	53.0	del17p	Unmutated	Positive
23	F	А	17.9	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
24	М	А	161.0	del13q	Unmutated	Positive
25	F	В	83.8	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
26	М	С	900.0	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
27	М	С	100.0	del17p	Unmutated	Positive
28	F	А	24.9	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
29	F	А	7.9	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
30	М	С	3.8	del11q	Unmutated	Positive
31	М	А	N/D	N/D	Unmutated	Positive
32	F	А	10.0	N/D	Unmutated	Positive
33	F	А	15.6	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
34	М	В	77.8	del13q	Unmutated	Positive
35	М	В	120	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
36	F	С	130.0	del17p	Unmutated	Positive
37	F	А	40.0	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
38	F	В	66.5	N/D	Unmutated	Positive
39	F	В	7.7	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
40	F	А	6.0	N/D	Unmutated	Positive
41	м	С	102.8	N/A	Unmutated	Positive
42	м	В	220	Tris12	Unmutated	Positive

TABLE 1: Clinical and molecular characterization of CLL patients

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. Subcellular localization of LPL in CLL B-cells from peripheral blood.

(A) Subcellular distribution of LPL immunoreactivity in relation to cellular membranes. LPL signal shows a different pattern in cells from LPL^{mRNA/pos} patients than in those from LPL^{mRNA/neg} patients. In cells from LPL^{mRNA/pos} patients a perinuclear membrane localization was found. The inset shows a representative cells with typical LPL distribution in LPL^{mRNA/pos} and LPL^{mRNA/pos} patients cells (white arrows). (B) Cells from LPL^{mRNA/pos} patients display two different populations of LPL, one localized in the cisternae of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) -as shown by calnexin staining (arrowheads, upper panels), and the other punctually excluded from the ER of which some coincided with LAMP-1 positive vesicles (arrowheads, lower panels). In cells from LPL^{mRNA/neg} patients, we were only able to find LPL immunomarcation localized to LAMP-1 positive vesicles (white arrows in second panel B). (C) Subcellular distribution of LPL as revealed by immunogold staining. LPL^{mRNA/pos} cells showed cytoplasmic LPL immunoreactivity, but we are not able to found LPL immunogold staining in ER cisternae. N: nucleus, C: cytosol, v: vesicles, NM: nuclear envelope. Scale bar A: 5 um, B-C: 2.5 um, D:500nm(left), 200nm(right).

Figure 2. Plasma LPL internalization by in vitro culture of CLL cells from Mut or Um patients.

(A) Percentage of LPL positive cells measured by flow cytometry after culturing them for 24h in serum-free medium (SFM) or in CLL plasma (left panel). The number of LPL positive cells increased when cultured in CLL plasma (p=0.015, n=6), independent of the *IgVH* mutational status of the patient. Cells cultured in fetal bovine serum (FBS) shows a trend to internalization, with no statistical significance and independent of the mutational status. **(B)** In situ immunolocalization of LPL (magenta) shows an increase in LPL signal upon culturing cells from the same patient in CLL plasma compared with FBS or SFM. The median intensity of fluorescence obtained by flow cytometry (green line in histograms) is increased when CLL cells were cultured in CLL plasma compared with SFM or FBS. A representative density plot is shown (log scale). **(C)** LPL internalization after culturing LPL^{mRNA/pos} (upper panels) or LPL^{mRNA/pos} (lower panels) cells in CLL plasma. In LPL^{mRNA/pos} LPL labeling (magenta) is mainly visualized into calnexin-positive zones (Blue), depicted with red arrows, whereas a minority of LPL protein localize into LAMP-1 (green) positive vesicles (white arrows) and is excluded from calnexin-positive zones. Scale bar B, C: 5um.

Figure 3. Optimization of the different protocol conditions to develop a reliable methodology for measure LPL protein in CLL.

(A) In situ immunolocalization of LPL (magenta) shows staining of both untreated LPL^{mRNA/neg} and LPL^{mRNA/pos} cells (upper panels). A decrease in LPL staining in both subgroups is observed after heparin treatment, uncovering a punctate pattern with noticeable differences between LPL in both subgroups

(arrowheads, lower panels). LPL signal was excluded from membrane structures stained by DiOC16 (green). Flow cytometry analysis of median fluorescent staining intensities (MFI) reveals an improvement in LPL protein discrimination. Representative density plots depict MFI differences between anti-LPL labeled cells and its isotype control (deltaMFI, right column, log scale). **(B)** Heparin treatment as previously optimized using frozen PBMC appear to be not enough to obtain a clear cut-off that correctly discriminate LPL^{mRNA/neg} and LPL^{mRNA/pos} (p values = 0.34 and 0.03 for frozen/thawed and frozen/thawed plus heparin respectively, n=20). **(C)** Freshly collected cells without heparin treatment improve discrimination of LPL^{mRNA/neg} and LPL^{mRNA/pos} cells (right panel, p=0.01, n=20). However best discrimination is obtained with the combination of both variables (heparin treatment and fresh PBMC), as is depicted in the right panel, (p<0.0001, n=20). Each dot represents the percentage of IgM and LPL positive cells from an individual patient.

Figure 4. Endogenous LPL protein levels reflect mRNA levels, *IgVH* mutational status, and predict time to first treatment. (A) LPL mRNA levels as assessed by qRT-PCR in *IgVH* Mut and Um patients (Δ Cq). LPL^{mRNA/pos} is considered when Δ Cq > 10 (cut-off indicated by dotted line. (B) Endogenous LPL protein levels assessed by flow cytometry in freshly collected heparin-treated CLL cells in an expanded cohort shows significant difference between *IgVH* Mut and Um groups (p=0.0001, n=42). (C) LPL mRNA levels predicts TTFT and segregates into two risk groups (low risk LPL^{mRNA/pog}, and high risk LPL^{mRNA/pos}) confirming previous results (8, 9, 35), n=36. (D) Endogenous LPL protein levels predict and can segregate patients into high-risk (LPL positive) and low-risk (LPL negative) groups with statistical significance (p=0.05, n=36) reflecting LPL mRNA levels and *IgVH* mutational status. Cut-off = 25% is indicated by dotted line. (E) *IgVH* mutational status was performed and TTFT calculated. \leq 2% difference from germline gene defined Um patients, \geq 2% difference define Mut patients.



CLL cells LPL^{mRNA/pos}









CLL cells LPL^{mRNA/neg}





Figure 1

Figure 2



С

+CLL Plasma



Resultados



Fig 3

Figure 4



III. Lipoprotein Lipase Expression in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: New Insights into Leukemic Progression

En este artículo realizamos una revisión de la literatura acerca de la lipoprotein lipasa (LPL) en la leucemia linfoide crónica (LLC). Introducimos aspectos generales de la bioquímica y biología de LPL de relevancia para comprender su posible función en la LLC. Analizamos desde una perspectiva histórica la relación del gen LPL con la LLC, y el descubrimiento por parte de nuestro grupo del potencial valor pronostico de su expresión, ya que los pacientes de alto riesgo con genes IgVH no mutados expresan LPL, mientras que los IgVH mutados de bajo riesgo no. A pesar de tener una función bien caracterizada y ser considerada una enzima central en el metabolismo de los libidos, la expresión anómala en linfocitos B tumorales plantea interrogantes, ya que los linfocitos B normales no la expresan. A pesar de que la expresión del ARNm de LPL tiene un valor pronostico ya bien establecido, la función que pueda tener LPL en la patogénesis de la LLC, así como los mecanismos moleculares que regulan su expresión todavía no están bien establecidos. En este artículo revisamos además el conocimiento actual acerca de la regulación de la expresión de LPL en la LLC, y la evidencia que soporta las hipótesis que plantean un rol metabólico de tipo canónico (enzimático) para LPL en el linfocito B leucémico. Asimismo, exploramos el cuerpo de evidencia emergente que apunta a una función no metabólica de LPL, y nos aventuramos a exponer las preguntas que permanecen abiertas a este respecto en la LLC, y las perspectivas que abren a la investigación futura.





Review Lipoprotein Lipase Expression in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: New Insights into Leukemic Progression

Daniel Prieto 1,2 💿 and Pablo Oppezzo 2,*

- ¹ Department of Developmental Neurobiology, Instituto de Investigaciones Biologicas Clemente Estable, 11400 Montevideo, Uruguay; dprieto@fcien.edu.uy
- ² Research Laboratory on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, 11400 Montevideo, Uruguay
- * Correspondence: poppezzo@pasteur.edu.uy; Tel.:+598-2522-0910

Received: 3 October 2017; Accepted: 24 November 2017; Published: 5 December 2017

Abstract: Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) is a central enzyme in lipid metabolism. Due to its catalytic activity, LPL is involved in metabolic pathways exploited by various solid and hematologic malignancies to provide an extra energy source to the tumor cell. We and others described a link between the expression of LPL in the tumor cell and a poor clinical outcome of patients suffering Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL). This leukemia is characterized by a slow accumulation of mainly quiescent clonal CD5 positive B cells that infiltrates secondary lymphoid organs, bone marrow and peripheral blood. Despite LPL being found to be a reliable molecular marker for CLL prognosis, its functional role and the molecular mechanisms regulating its expression are still matter of debate. Herein we address some of these questions reviewing the current state of the art of LPL research in CLL and providing some insights into where currently unexplored questions may lead to.

Keywords: lipoprotein lipase; chronic lymphocytic leukemia; cancer; prognostic markers

1. Lipoprotein Lipase

Lipoprotein lipase (LPL, EC 3.1.1.34) is a N-glycosylated protein [1] that forms homodimers and is able to hydrolize triglycerides from chylomicrons [2] and very low-density lipoproteins [3]. The first evidence of its existence was serendipitously found when studying circulating red blood cell mass in dogs. In those experiments, it was found that the administration of heparin as an anticoagulant was able to counteract alimentary lipemia in five minutes or less [4]. LPL plays a central function in lipid metabolism and has been subject of intense and meticulous studies ever since. General aspects of LPL biology have already been reviewed elsewhere [5,6].

LPL Synthesis and Trafficking

LPL active dimer consists of two antiparallel subunits [7] whose formation and trafficking rely on a series of post-translational modifications. Interaction with calcium-dependent chaperones of the N-glycosylated polypeptide chain has been proven essential to the correct folding of LPL [8]. Furthermore, a lipase chaperon—Lipase-maturation factor 1 (Lmf1)—has been suggested to be required for dimer assembly and activity, as mutations in *LMF1* cause lipase deficiency in mice [9]. A mouse model overexpressing *LMF1* has increased LPL activity [10], and LPL has been co-immunoprecipitated with Lmf1 and Sortilin-related receptor (SorLA) [11]. It has been shown that LPL intracellular localization is regulated by SorLA, which directs its trafficking from the trans-Golgi network to endosomes [11]. LPL internalization by receptor-mediated endocytosis has been studied [12] either through LDL receptor-related protein [13] or by an LDP receptor independent pathway [14].

2 of 9

2. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is the most frequent form of leukemia among adult populations of Caucasian origin [15]. CLL is a malignancy of mature clonal B lymphocytes that accumulate in the blood, bone marrow and other lymphoid tissues, and is diagnosed upon the presence of \geq 5000 clonal B lymphocytes per microliter of peripheral blood persisting for more than 3 months [16]. This leukemia is characterized by the accumulation of long-lived circulating clonal leukemic B-cells resulting from a complex balance between cell proliferation and apoptotic death. Increasing evidence suggests that CLL B-cells in lymph nodes (LN) and bone marrow (BM) that interact with stromal cells receive proliferative signals and are protected from cell death. These data led to the view that CLL is a dynamic process composed of cells that also proliferate and die, often at appreciable levels [17]. This crosstalk with accessory cells in specialized tissue microenvironments favors disease progression, by promoting malignant B-cell growth and the emergence of new genetic alterations which will lead to drug resistance [18]. Disease prognosis and the heterogeneous clinical evolution in CLL are probably related at least in part to these microenvironmental signaling, and although available treatments often induce remissions, CLL remains an incurable disease [19].

In CLL one third of the patients have an indolent disease with long survival and never require treatment, another third have an aggressive disease from onset and need to be immediately treated, and the last third have an indolent disease at onset which may last for years but then invariably progress to an aggressive disease [20]. It is because of this latter group that the search for strong prognostic markers in CLL predicting disease evolution has been of capital importance, and a number of them have been developed, the most reliable and universal still being the mutational status of the variable region of the heavy chain of immunoglobulin (IgHV) genes [21,22]. Patients carrying somatic hypermutation in their IgHV genes—mutated CLL (Mut)—display a better prognosis than patients with unmutated (Um) IgHV genes

3. LPL in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

3.1. LPL As a Prognostic Marker of Disease Progression

Gene expression profiling analyses comparing Um and Mut patients were performed during the first decade of the century. We and others have performed these studies and described that *LPL* is differentially overexpressed in Um patients [23–25]. With these results in mind we selected and validated two genes, *LPL* for Um and *ADAM29* for Mut CLLs, as candidates to propose a novel prognostic method. This methodology was tested in a cohort of 127 CLL patients, and correlated to clinical outcome and IgHV mutational status. Finally, we demonstrated that quantification of *LPL* and *ADAM29* gene expression ratio is a strong prognostic indicator in CLL, providing better prognostic assessment than serologic markers in advanced stages of the disease [26]. A body of evidence has confirmed that the expression of *LPL* mRNA is associated to bad prognosis, and that it is the most robust of the molecular markers in CLL [27–33].

The elevated expression of *LPL* gene in Um CLL B-cells is a very remarkable observation, because there is no expression of *LPL* in normal B cells. This specific and ectopic expression constitutes not only a suitable prognostic marker to study disease evolution, but could also be helpful to understand the heterogeneous proliferative behavior in CLL. Despite the prognostic value of *LPL* expression is well established, the functional role of *LPL* overexpression in CLL pathogenesis as well as the molecular mechanisms regulating its expression are still open questions.

Concerning the functional role of LPL in CLL cells, increasing evidence supports the idea that LPL expression could help the leukemic clone to increase survival and proliferative signaling, leading to disease progression. We have also shown that microenvironmental signaling can induce LPL expression and proliferative phenotype in primary CLL B-cells [34,35]. Supporting this idea Rozovski, Grgurevic, et al. demonstrated that LPL confers CLL a survival advantage, since shRNA knockdown of *LPL* increases apoptotic d**Gath** [36]. Accordingly, it has recently been reported

that *NOTCH1* gene mutations which are associated with disease progression and treatment refractoriness [37] are directly related to *LPL* expression in CLL [38].

Concerning the molecular mechanism that regulates LPL expression we previously demonstrated that abnormal expression of LPL gene in Um CLL patients results from the lack of methylation in the CpG island involving the whole exon 1 and the first nucleotides of intron 1 of LPL [34]. This epigenetic mechanism appears to be mainly triggered by proliferative T-cell-dependent signals and, in some patients, through the cross-linking of the B-cell receptor (BCR). By contrast, signaling through TLR9 or TLR1/2 pathways are unable to induce demethylation of the CpG island, LPL expression and B-cell proliferation [35]. Rozovski, Grgurevic, et al. have shown that LPL expression can also be transcriptionally regulated by STAT3 phosphorylation, and nuclear translocation where it can bind LPL promoter [36]. Additionally, it is necessary to mention that LPL expression can be regulated post-transcriptionally by miR-29 [39,40]. It has been reported that miR-29 expression is down-regulated in high-risk Um CLL patients [41-44]. In a more recent study of the microRNAome of a large patient cohort, down-regulation of miR-29c was the feature better related to IgHV Um profile [45]. In fact, Santanam et al. have developed a mouse model of early onset indolent CD5+ B-CLL by targeted overexpression of miR-29 in B-lymphocytes under control of the Eµ enhancer [46]. The authors focused on the effect on leukemogenesis by the interaction of miR-29 and TCL1 [44,47] and did not evaluate LPL expression, which would be expected to be low. Deregulation of miR-29 is known to have important effects in diverse hematological disorders (reviewed in [48]), to respond to cellular signaling processes such as BCR or CD40 stimulation, and to engage NF-κB activation through TCL1 [47]. Linking these microenvironmental signaling to the epigenetic changes described by us in Um patients as well as their correlation with miR-29 and LPL expression could be an interesting issue that is still awaiting to be studied in CLL progression.

3.2. LPL in CLL B-Cell Metabolism

LPL has been shown to mediate lipolysis and subsequent fatty acid (FA)-mediated fueling of cell proliferation in several solid tumors [49], and it has recently been shown that low-density lipoproteins may enhance proliferative responses of CLL cells to inflammatory signals [50]. PPAR α protein levels in CLL B-cells have been shown to correlate with leukocytosis and clinical Rai stages, which suggests a metabolic switch to oxidation of fatty acids via PPAR α [51] and PPAR α [50]. These findings are supported by the observation that CLL B-cells have lipid vacuoles in their cytoplasm, and that incubation with free fatty-acids (FFAs) increased their metabolic rate in terms of oxygen consumption [36]. Furthermore, the incidence of hyperlipidemia has been found to be higher in CLL patients, and treatment of hyperlipidemia with statins benefited them in terms of a delayed time to first treatment [52]. These group expanded their initial study to a cohort of >2000 CLL patients in a retrospective analysis and found that both lipid-lowering drugs, as well as statin treatment prolonged overall survival by 3.7 years [53]. These findings suggest that a second mechanism mediated by LDL may be converging in STAT3 phosphorylation and generating an activated state in CLL B-cells [50].

Transcriptional profiling identified a metabolic shift into a muscle or adipose tissue-like strategy with lipid oxidation in poor prognosis Um IgHV and *LPL* expressing B CLL cells [54]. How this metabolic reprogramming ends up in a worse outcome for patients is only beginning to be understood. Long chain fatty acids, free cholesterol and vitamin E- increase STAT3 phosphorylation directed either by IL-10, IFN α or phorbol esters in CLL cells [50]. STAT3 phosphorylation in turn drives *LPL* expression directly, by binding to a GAS-like element 280 bp upstream of the *LPL* transcription start site and activating its transcription [36]. LPL expression favors FA oxidation, and this seems to result in higher cell survival as *LPL* knockdown or chemical inhibition reduced CLL cell viability [36,55], which might be explained in part by a transcriptional response [32]. Accordingly, microenvironmental induction of *LPL* expression stimulates CLL cell proliferation [35]. These findings indicate that *LPL* expression can be regulated by the microenvironment, either by autocrine or paracrine signaling and that it reflects a metabolic switch in CLL B-cells which provide advantage. A positive

4 of 9

feedback loop may maintain *LPL* expression and worsen the scenario for Um patients. In CLL, STAT3 is constitutively activated which also activates *LPL* transcription [36]. LPL breaks down very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) and chylomicrons and liberates FFAs, generating a proinflammatory state which in turn activates STAT3 [51] and further activation of *LPL* transcription. This would further increase the levels of FFAs, thus exacerbating CLL cells responsiveness to cytokine signaling. More general aspects of metabolic pathways in CLL have been nicely reviewed recently [56].

3.3. Non-Metabolic Roles of LPL in CLL

Many studies have reported an increased expression of *LPL* in poor prognosis CLL, and several metabolic pathways could be involved in cancer progression as discussed above. However, attempts to determine metabolic activity of LPL directly have failed to correlate higher expression to higher metabolic activity. A seminal study with 33 CLL patients reported lower catalytic activity in Um patients than in their Mut counterpart [30]. Another report analyzing data from 42 patients did not find differences between CLL groups and reported that LPL activity was comparable to that of healthy individuals [32].

LPL can mediate lipoprotein uptake by cells [57], chylomicron attachment to cell surface through LDL-related receptor [58], and lipoprotein margination in small blood vessels, by binding on the one hand to the extracellular surface of endothelium via GPIHBP1, and on the other to triglyceride-rich lipoproteins [59]. Besides its canonical role in lipid metabolism, an interesting—yet quite unexplored—non-metabolic function of LPL has been known for 20 years. LPL can act as a bridging molecule between cells, as in the adhesion of monocytes to endothelial cells mediated by heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) and LPL [60], whose interaction has recently been shown to be dynamic [61]. Provided that CLL cells display HSPGs on their surface [62] and that LPL forms homodimers, it could occur that a bridging between leukemic B-cells and other cells expressing surface HSPGs or GPIHBP1 such as endothelial cells would be mediated by LPL. Although several groups have already speculated about it, a cell–cell bridging role for LPL in CLL pathogenesis still has to be demonstrated [30,35,63]. If such a bridging actually occurred, LPL would be pivoting between surface HSPGs on the B-CLL cell side, and either HSPGs or GPIHBP1 on their counterpart.

Rombout et al. have found that two SNPs commonly found in *LPL*, rs328 (premature stop codon) and rs13702 were significantly associated with CLL outcome [63]. Although both SNPs are well-known gain-of-function mutations [64,65], the authors of the aforementioned study reported not to have been able to detect significant differences in LPL mRNA, protein levels, or enzymatic activity in patients carrying the SNPs [63]. How these mutations affect clinical outcome in CLL is still unclear, but whether these SNPs might have a role—if any—in LPL non-metabolic functions has not been explored yet. Furthermore, at least nine isoelectric point isoforms of LPL have been described in human blood of healthy individuals [66], thus opening a new dimension of studies to come for LPL in CLL and other pathologies.

4. Concluding Remarks

LPL is a protein located on the luminal side of the blood vessel wall, where it is anchored to heparan sulfate proteoglycans and contains binding sites for both heparan sulfate chains and apoproteins [67]. *LPL* is overexpressed in B-cells of unmutated IgHV CLL patients, and its expression can be used to predict their clinical outcome [23–33]. Accordingly, LPL could have a bridging function in the formation of a trimolecular complex including a lipoprotein particle, LPL and heparan sulfate proteoglycans from different cells [67]. The fact that CLL B-cells display heparan sulfate proteoglycans on their surface [62], invites to speculate about whether LPL localization on the cellular membrane could affect the biological behavior of CLL cells, by favoring cell spreading, migration and intracellular signaling following activation of the tumoral clone by an activated microenvironment. If it is the case, LPL might also act as a crosstalk factor facilitating specific interactions with accessory cells in tissue microenvironments. LPL might then be ad**T**(ad to the list of proteins implicated in the activation

of CLL proliferative pool together with integrins such as CD49d, metalloproteinases (MMP-9), antiapoptotic molecules (BCL2) as well as chemokines (CCL3, CCL4, CXCL12) [68,69]. Thus, LPL could be contributing to leukemic progression either per se through metabolic reprogramming, or through the synergistic contribution to an activating microenvironment in which the leukemic clone is continuously nourished (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Hypothetical model of LPL function in CLL B-cells in secondary lymphoid organs (SLO, left) and peripheral blood (PB, right). HSPG-attached LPL molecules at the surface of B-CLL cells can bind very low-density lipoproteins and chylomicrons thus contributing to oxidative metabolism and fatty-acid signaling. LPL has been proposed to play a similar role in the intracellular compartment by releasing FFAs from cytosolic lipid droplets [36,56]. A non-canonical role for LPL in CLL B-cell surface would contribute to microenvironmental crosstalk. LPL would act as a bridging molecule between cells able to bind LPL either by heparan sulfate proteoglycans or GPIHBP1, thus facilitating modulatory interactions, exemplified here by a T-cell dependent activation through CD40/CD40L interaction.

The role that abnormal *LPL* expression could have in disease evolution, has also been addressed by previous work from Pallasch et al., demonstrating that lipase associated genes and triglyceride-specific lipase activity were significantly increased when comparing CLL B-cells to normal CD5+ B-cells [55]. The same authors reported that incubation of CLL tumoral cells with the lipase inhibitor orlistat resulted in increased apoptosis, which, could suggest that lipid metabolism and lipase activity could be functionally relevant in aggressive CLL [55]. Phenotypic analyses have shown that CLL B-cells expressing *LPL* are also enriched in FA degradation genes [54]. Recently, LPL has been shown to mediate lipolysis and subsequent FA-mediated fueling of cell proliferation in several solid tumors [49], and it has recently been shown that low-density lipoproteins may enhance proliferative responses of CLL cells to inflammatory signals [50].

A big amount of information is known nowadays about LPL some of which relates to CLL. Still, our understanding whether *LPL* overexpression in poor outcome CLL is a cause or consequence is poor. Many questions are still open and more answers will certainly come in next years.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank Uruguayan Agencia Nacional de Investigacion e Innovacion (ANII) for the graduate fellowship of DP and for the grants FMV_2_2011_17323; FMV_1_2014_1_104397 and FOCEM (MERCOSUR Structural Convergence Fund), COF 03/11. Open access publishing fees have been partially funded by Programa de Desarrollo de las Ciencias Básicas (PEDECIPA)—Uruguay.

6 of 9

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The founding sponsors had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, and in the decision to publish the results.

References

- 1. Chajek-Shaul, T.; Friedman, G.; Knobler, H.; Stein, O.; Etienne, J.; Stein, Y. Importance of the different steps of glycosylation for the activity and secretion of lipoprotein lipase in rat preadipocytes studied with monensin and tunicamycin. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Lipids Lipid Metab. 1985, 837, 123-134. [CrossRef]
- 2 Felts, J.M.; Itakura, H.; Crane, R.T. The mechanism of assimilation of constituents of chylomicrons, very low density lipoproteins and remnants—A new theory. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1975, 66, 1467-1475. [CrossRef]
- Chajek, T.; Stein, O.; Stein, Y. Lipoprotein lipase of cultured mesenchymal rat heart cells. Biochim. Biophys. 3. Acta Lipids Lipid Metab. 1978, 528, 466-474. [CrossRef]
- Hahn, P.F. Abolishment of Alimentary Lipemia Following Injection of Heparin. Science 1943, 98, 19-20. 4 [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wang, H.; Eckel, R.H. Lipoprotein lipase: From gene to obesity. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 2009, 297, 5 E271-E288. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Davies, B.S.J.; Beigneux, A.P.; Fong, L.G.; Young, S.G. New wrinkles in lipoprotein lipase biology. 6. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 2012, 23, 35-42. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 7 Wong, H.; Yang, D.; Hill, J.S.; Davis, R.C.; Nikazy, J.; Schotz, M.C. A molecular biology-based approach to resolve the subunit orientation of lipoprotein lipase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1997, 94, 5594-5598. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhang, L.; Wu, G.; Tate, C.G.; Lookene, A.; Olivecrona, G. Calreticulin promotes folding/dimerization of 8 human lipoprotein lipase expressed in insect cells (Sf21). J. Biol. Chem. 2003, 278, 29344–29351. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 9 Péterfy, M.; Ben-Zeev, O.; Mao, H.Z.; Weissglas-Volkov, D.; Aouizerat, B.E.; Pullinger, C.R.; Frost, P.H.; Kane, J.P.; Malloy, M.J.; Reue, K.; et al. Mutations in LMF1 cause combined lipase deficiency and severe hypertriglyceridemia. Nat. Genet. 2007, 39, 1483-1487. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 10. Péterfy, M. Lipase maturation factor 1: A lipase chaperone involved in lipid metabolism. Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids 2012, 1821, 790-794. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 11. Klinger, S.C.; Glerup, S.; Raarup, M.K.; Mari, M.C.; Nyegaard, M.; Koster, G.; Prabakaran, T.; Nilsson, S.K.; Kjaergaard, M.M.; Bakke, O.; et al. SorLA regulates the activity of lipoprotein lipase by intracellular trafficking. J. Cell Sci. 2011, 124, 1095-1105. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Casaroli-Marano, R.P.; García, R.; Vilella, E.; Olivecrona, G.; Reina, M.; Vilaró, S. Binding and intracellular trafficking of lipoprotein lipase and triacylglycerol-rich lipoproteins by liver cells. J. Lipid Res. 1998, 39, 789-806. [PubMed]
- 13. Vergés, M.; Bensadoun, A.; Herz, J.; Belcher, J.D.; Havel, R.J. Endocytosis of Hepatic Lipase and Lipoprotein Lipase into Rat Liver Hepatocytes in Vivo Is Mediated by the Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor-related Protein. J. Biol. Chem. 2004, 279, 9030-9036. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Fernández-Borja, M.; Bellido, D.; Vilella, E.; Olivecrona, G.; Vilaró, S. Lipoprotein lipase-mediated uptake of lipoprotein in human fibroblasts: Evidence for an LDL receptor-independent internalization pathway. I. Livid Res. 1996, 37, 464-481, [PubMed]
- 15. Hallek, M. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia: 2015 Update on diagnosis, risk stratification, and treatment. Am. J. Hematol. 2015, 90, 446-460. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Fabbri, G.; Dalla-Favera, R. The molecular pathogenesis of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2016, 16, 145-162, [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Caligaris-Cappio, F.; Ghia, P. Novel insights in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Are we getting closer to understanding the pathogenesis of the disease? J. Clin. Oncol. 2008, 26, 4497-4503. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 18. Burger, J.A.; Ghia, P.; Rosenwald, A.; Caligaris-Cappio, F. The microenvironment in mature B-cell malignancies: A target for new treatment strategies. Blood 2009, 114, 3367-3375. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 19. Oppezzo, P.; Dighiero, G. Role of the B-cell receptor and the microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood Cancer J. 2013, 3, e149. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Dighiero, G. Unsolved issues in CLL biology and management. Leukemia 2003, 17, 2385-2391. [CrossRef] 20. [PubMed]
- 21 Damle, R.N.; Wasil, T.; Fais, F.; Ghiotto, F.; Valetto, A.; Allen, S.L.; Buchbinder, A.; Budman, D.; Dittmar, K.; Kolitz, J.; et al. Ig V gene mutation status and CD38 expression as novel prognostic indicators in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 1999, 94, 1840-1847. [PubMed]
- Hamblin, T.J.; Davis, Z.; Gardiner, A.; Oscier, D.G.; Stevenson, F.K. Unmutated Ig V(H) genes are associated 22. with a more aggressive form of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 1999, 94, 1848–1854. [PubMed]
- 23. Klein, U.; Tu, Y.; Stolovitzky, G.A.; Mattioli, M.; Cattoretti, G.; Husson, H.; Freedman, A.; Inghirami, G.; Cro, L.; Baldini, L.; et al. Gene expression profiling of B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia reveals a homogeneous phenotype related to memory B cells. J. Exp. Med. 2001, 194, 1625–1638. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rosenwald, A.; Alizadeh, A.A.; Widhopf, G.; Simon, R.; Davis, R.E.; Yu, X.; Yang, L.; Pickeral, O.K.; 24. Rassenti, L.Z.; Powell, J.; et al. Relation of gene expression phenotype to immunoglobulin mutation genotype in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J. Exp. Med. 2001, 194, 1639–1647. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vasconcelos, Y.; De Vos, J.; Vallat, L.; Rème, T.; Lalanne, A.I.; Wanherdrick, K.; Michel, A.; Nguyen-Khac, F.; 25. Oppezzo, P.; Magnac, C.; et al. Gene expression profiling of chronic lymphocytic leukemia can discriminate cases with stable disease and mutated Ig genes from those with progressive disease and unmutated Ig genes. Leukemia 2005, 19, 2002-2005. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 26. Oppezzo, P.; Vasconcelos, Y.; Settegrana, C.; Jeannel, D.; Vuillier, F.; Legarff-Tavernier, M.; Kimura, E.Y.; Bechet, S.; Dumas, G.; Brissard, M.; et al. The LPL/ADAM29 expression ratio is a novel prognosis indicator in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2005, 106, 650-657. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Heintel, D.; Kienle, D.; Shehata, M.; Kröber, A.; Kroemer, E.; Schwarzinger, I.; Mitteregger, D.; Le, T.; Gleiss, A.; Mannhalter, C.; et al. High expression of lipoprotein lipase in poor risk B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia 2005, 19, 1216–1223. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Van't Veer, M.B.; Brooijmans, A.M.; Langerak, A.W.; Verhaaf, B.; Goudswaard, C.S.; Graveland, W.J.; 28. van Lom, K.; Valk, P.J.M. The predictive value of lipoprotein lipase for survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Haematologica 2006, 91, 56-63. [PubMed]
- 29. Nückel, H.; Hüttmann, A.; Klein-Hitpass, L.; Schroers, R.; Führer, A.; Sellmann, L.; Dührsen, U.; Dürig, J. Lipoprotein lipase expression is a novel prognostic factor in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk. Lymphoma 2006, 47, 1053-1061. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 30. Mansouri, M.; Sevov, M.; Fahlgren, E.; Tobin, G.; Jondal, M.; Osorio, L.; Roos, G.; Olivecrona, G.; Rosenquist, R. Lipoprotein lipase is differentially expressed in prognostic subsets of chronic lymphocytic leukemia but displays invariably low catalytical activity. Leuk. Res. 2010, 34, 301-306. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 31. Kaderi, M.A.; Kanduri, M.; Buhl, A.M.; Sevov, M.; Cahill, N.; Gunnarsson, R.; Jansson, M.; Smedby, K.E.; Hjalgrim, H.; Jurlander, J.; et al. LPL is the strongest prognostic factor in a comparative analysis of RNA-based markers in early chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Haematologica 2011, 96, 1153–1160. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Porpaczy, E.; Tauber, S.; Bilban, M.; Kostner, G.; Gruber, M.; Eder, S.; Heintel, D.; Le, T.; Fleiss, K.; 32. Skrabs, C.; et al. Lipoprotein lipase in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia-Strong biomarker with lack of functional significance. Leuk. Res. 2013, 37, 631-636. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 33. Mátrai, Z.; Andrikovics, H.; Szilvási, A.; Bors, A.; Kozma, A.; Ádám, E.; Halm, G.; Karászi, É.; Tordai, A.; Masszi, T. Lipoprotein Lipase as a Prognostic Marker in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Pathol. Oncol. Res. 2017, 23, 165-171. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Abreu, C.; Moreno, P.; Palacios, F.; Borge, M.; Morande, P.; Landoni, A.I.; Gabus, R.; Dighiero, G.; Giordano, M.; Gamberale, R.; et al. Methylation status regulates lipoprotein lipase expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk. Lymphoma 2013, 54, 1844–1888. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Moreno, P.; Abreu, C.; Borge, M.; Palacios, F.; Morande, P.; Pegazzano, M.; Bianchi, S.; Landoni, A.I.; Agrelo, R.; Giordano, M.; et al. Lipoprotein lipase expression in unmutated CLL patients is the consequence of a demethylation process induced by the microenvironment. Leukemia 2013, 27, 721-725. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rozovski, U.; Grgurevic, S.; Bueso-Ramos, C.; Harris, D.M.; Li, P.; Liu, Z.; Wu, J.Y.; Jain, P.; Wierda, W.; Burger, J.; et al. Aberrant LPL Expression, Driven by STAT3, Mediates Free Fatty Acid Metabolism in CLL Cells. Mol. Cancer Res. 2015, 13, 944–953. [CrossRef] [PubMed] 76

- Sportoletti, P.; Baldoni, S.; Cavalli, L.; Del Papa, B.; Bonifacio, E.; Ciurnelli, R.; Bell, A.S.; Di Tommaso, A.; Rosati, E.; Crescenzi, B.; et al. NOTCH1 PEST domain mutation is an adverse prognostic factor in B-CLL. *Br. J. Haematol.* 2010, 151, 404–406. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kristensen, L.; Kristensen, T.; Abildgaard, N.; Royo, C.; Frederiksen, M.; Mourits-Andersen, T.; Campo, E.; Møller, M.B. LPL gene expression is associated with poor prognosis in CLL and closely related to NOTCH1 mutations. *Eur. J. Haematol.* 2016, *97*, 175–182. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chen, T.; Li, Z.; Tu, J.; Zhu, W.; Ge, J.; Zheng, X.; Yang, L.; Pan, X.; Yan, H.; Zhu, J. MicroRNA-29a regulates pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and scavenger receptor expression by targeting LPL in oxLDL-stimulated dendritic cells. *FEBS Lett.* 2011, 585, 657–663. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bouvy-Liivrand, M.; Heinäniemi, M.; John, E.; Schneider, J.G.; Sauter, T.; Sinkkonen, L. Combinatorial regulation of lipoprotein lipase by microRNAs during mouse adipogenesis. *RNA Biol.* 2014, 11, 76–91. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Calin, G.A.; Ferracin, M.; Cimmino, A.; Di Leva, G.; Shimizu, M.; Wojcik, S.E.; Iorio, M.V.; Visone, R.; Sever, N.I.; Fabbri, M.; et al. A MicroRNA signature associated with prognosis and progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2005, 353, 1793–1801. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fulci, V.; Chiaretti, S.; Goldoni, M.; Azzalin, G.; Carucci, N.; Tavolaro, S.; Castellano, L.; Magrelli, A.; Citarella, F.; Messina, M.; et al. Quantitative technologies establish a novel microRNA profile of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* 2007, *109*, 4944–4951. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Marton, S.; Garcia, M.R.; Robello, C.; Persson, H.; Trajtenberg, F.; Pritsch, O.; Rovira, C.; Naya, H.; Dighiero, G.; Cayota, A. Small RNAs analysis in CLL reveals a deregulation of miRNA expression and novel miRNA candidates of putative relevance in CLL pathogenesis. *Leukemia* 2008, 22, 330–338. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Stamatopoulos, B.; Meuleman, N.; Haibe-kains, B.; Saussoy, P.; Van Den Neste, E.; Michaux, L.; Heimann, P.; Martiat, P.; Bron, D.; Lagneaux, L. microRNA-29c and microRNA-223 down-regulation has in vivo significance in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and improves disease risk stratification sion levels decreased significantly with progression from Binet stage A to C were significantly lower in poor p. *Blood* 2009, *113*, 5237–5245. [PubMed]
- Negrini, M.; Cutrona, G.; Bassi, C.; Fabris, S.; Zagatti, B.; Colombo, M.; Ferracin, M.; D'Abundo, L.; Saccenti, E.; Matis, S.; et al. microRNAome expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Comparison with normal B cell subsets and correlations with prognostic and clinical parameters. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2014. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Santanam, U.; Zanesi, N.; Efanov, A.; Costinean, S.; Palamarchuk, A.; Hagan, J.P.; Volinia, S.; Alder, H.; Rassenti, L.; Kipps, T.; et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia modeled in mouse by targeted miR-29 expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2010, 107. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pekarsky, Y.; Santanam, U.; Cimmino, A.; Palamarchuk, A.; Efanov, A.; Maximov, V.; Volinia, S.; Alder, H.; Liu, C.G.; Rassenti, L.; et al. Tcl1 expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia is regulated by miR-29 and miR-181. *Cancer Res.* 2006, *66*, 11590–11593. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kluiver, J.L.; Chen, C.-Z. MicroRNAs regulate B-cell receptor signaling-induced apoptosis. *Genes Immun.* 2012, 13, 239–244. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kuemmerle, N.B.; Rysman, E.; Lombardo, P.S.; Flanagan, A.J.; Lipe, B.C.; Wells, W.A.; Pettus, J.R.; Froehlich, H.M.; Memoli, V.A.; Morganelli, P.M.; et al. Lipoprotein lipase links dietary fat to solid tumor cell proliferation. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 2011, 10, 427–436. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- McCaw, L.; Shi, Y.; Wang, G.; Li, Y.-J.; Spaner, D.E. Low Density Lipoproteins Amplify Cytokine-signaling in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells. *EBioMedicine* 2017, *15*, 24–35. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Spaner, D.E.; Lee, E.; Shi, Y.; Wen, F.; Li, Y.; Tung, S.; McCaw, L.; Wong, K.; Gary-Gouy, H.; Dalloul, A.; et al. PPAR-alpha is a therapeutic target for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* 2013, 27, 1090–1099. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chow, S.; Buckstein, R.; Spaner, D.E. A link between hypercholesterolemia and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 2015, 1–6. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mozessohn, L.; Earle, C.; Spaner, D.; Cheng, S.Y.; Kumar, M.; Buckstein, R. The association of dyslipidemia with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: A population-based study. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2017, 109, 1–9. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Bilban, M.; Heintel, D.; Scharl, T.; Woelfel, T.; Auer, M.M.; Porpaczy, E.; Kainz, B.; Kröber, A.; Carey, VJ.; Shehata, M.; et al. Deregulated expression of fat and muscle genes in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia with high lipoprotein lipase expression. *Leukemia* 2006, 20, 1080–1088. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pallasch, C.P.; Schwamb, J.; Königs, S.; Schulz, A.; Debey, S.; Kofler, D.; Schultze, J.L.; Hallek, M.; Ultsch, A.; Wendtner, C.-M. Targeting lipid metabolism by the lipoprotein lipase inhibitor orlistat results in apoptosis of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Leukemia* 2008, 22, 585–592. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rozovski, U.; Hazan-Halevy, I.; Barzilai, M.; Keating, M.J.; Estrov, Z. Metabolism pathways in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 2016. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Merkel, M.; Kako, Y.; Radner, H.; Cho, I.S.; Ramasamy, R.; Brunzell, J.D.; Goldberg, I.J.; Breslow, J.L. Catalytically inactive lipoprotein lipase expression in muscle of transgenic mice increases very low density lipoprotein uptake: Direct evidence that lipoprotein lipase bridging occurs in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 1998, 95, 13841–13846. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Beisiegel, U.; Weber, W.; Bengtsson-Olivecrona, G. Lipoprotein lipase enhances the binding of chylomicrons to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 1991, *88*, 8342–8346. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Goulbourne, C.N.; Gin, P.; Tatar, A.; Nobumori, C.; Hoenger, A.; Jiang, H.; Grovenor, C.R.M.; Adeyo, O.; Esko, J.D.; Goldberg, I.J.; et al. The GPIHBP1-LPL Complex Is Responsible for the Margination of Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins in Capillaries. *Cell Metab.* 2014, *19*, 849–860. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mamputu, J.C.; Desfaits, A.C.; Renier, G. Lipoprotein lipase enhances human monocyte adhesion to aortic endothelial cells. J. Lipid Res. 1997, 38, 1722–1729. [PubMed]
- Allan, C.M.; Larsson, M.; Jung, R.S.; Ploug, M.; Bensadoun, A.; Beigneux, A.P.; Fong, L.G.; Young, S.G. Mobility of "HSPG-bound" LPL explains how LPL is able to reach GPIHBP1 on capillaries. *J. Lipid Res.* 2017, 58, 216–225. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Van Bockstaele, F.; Pede, V.; Janssens, A.; Callewaert, F.; Offner, F.; Verhasselt, B.; Philippé, J. Lipoprotein lipase mRNA expression in whole blood is a prognostic marker in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Clin. Chem.* 2007, 53, 204–212. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rombout, A.; Verhasselt, B.; Philippé, J. Lipoprotein lipase in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Function and prognostic implications. *Eur. J. Haematol.* 2016, 97, 409–415. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Deo, R.C.; Reich, D.; Tandon, A.; Akylbekova, E.; Patterson, N.; Waliszewska, A.; Kathiresan, S.; Sarpong, D.; Taylor, H.A.; Wilson, J.G. Genetic differences between the determinants of lipid profile phenotypes in African and European Americans: The Jackson Heart Study. *PLoS Genet.* 2009, *5*. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Richardson, K.; Nettleton, J.A.; Rotllan, N.; Tanaka, T.; Smith, C.E.; Lai, C.Q.; Parnell, L.D.; Lee, Y.C.; Lahti, J.; Lemaitre, R.N.; et al. Gain-of-function lipoprotein lipase variant rs13702 modulates lipid traits through disruption of a MicroRNA-410 seed site. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 2013, 92, 5–14. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Badia-Villanueva, M.; Carulla, P.; Carrascal, M.; Abián, J.; Llobera, M.; Casanovas, A.; Dolores López-Tejero, M. Lipoprotein lipase isoelectric point isoforms in humans. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2014, 445, 480–485. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kolset, S.O.; Salmivirta, M. Cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans and lipoprotein metabolism. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 1999, 56, 857–870. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Borge, M.; Nannini, P.R.; Galletti, J.G.; Morande, P.E.; Sanchez Avalos, J.; Bezares, R.F.; Giordano, M.; Gamberale, R. CXCL12-induced chemotaxis is impaired in T cells from ZAP-70-chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. *Haematologica* 2010, 95, 768–775. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Palacios, F.; Moreno, P.; Morande, P.; Abreu, C.; Correa, A.; Porro, V.; Landoni, A.I.; Gabus, R.; Giordano, M.; Dighiero, G.; et al. High expression of AID and active class switch recombination might account for a more aggressive disease in unmutated CLL patients: Link with an activated microenvironment in CLL disease. *Blood* 2010, 115, 4488–4496. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



© 2017 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Discusión

La leucemia linfoide crónica (LLC) es la leucemia más frecuente en poblaciones adultas de origen caucásico. Se caracteriza por una acumulación lenta y sostenida de linfocitos B clonales en sangre periférica y órganos linfoides secundarios, que se entiende ocurre a través de un desbalance entre la proliferación celular y la muerte por apoptosis. Actualmente se considera que el enjambre de señales entre las células tumorales y su microambiente son esenciales para el mantenimiento del clon maligno, su proliferación, y la colonización de nuevos ambientes dentro del organismo, así como para lograr la evasión del sistema inmunitario. En nuestro grupo hemos descrito una población tumoral que es capaz de proliferar en respuesta señales microambientales (CD40L e interleukina 4) por medio de la regulación del microRNA-22 que activa la vía PI3K/Akt, en cuyo trabajo he participado, pero que quedan por fuera del marco de esta tesis (ver ANEXOS).

I- S100-A9 protein in exosomes from chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells promotes NF- κ B activity during disease progression Actualmente, la importancia del microambiente tumoral en la progresión de la enfermedad es ampliamente reconocido. La interacción entre linfocitos B leucémicos y células accesorias en microambientes tisulares especializados dentro de la médula ósea o de los órganos linfoides secundarios, especialmente el ganglio linfático, favorecen la progresión de la enfermedad promoviendo la expansión del clon tumoral. En este contexto, la quimioterapia provee una presión de selección para su evolución clonal en los nichos proliferantes, con el desarrollo de quimioresistencia. Comprender la función de las moléculas implicadas en esa interacción célula tumoral y microambiente nos puede proporcionar nuevos caminos hacia el desarrollo terapéutico en la LLC. En los últimos años el papel de las vesículas extracelulares, y en particular de los exosomas en el juego de señales de la célula tumoral y su microambiente ha ido creciendo en importancia, a medida que va siendo mejor comprendido. Hoy se sabe que los exosomas pueden modular el nicho tumoral, suprimir respuestas inmunitarias contra el tumor, favorecer la aparición de quimio- y radioresistencia de novo, y precondicionar y sostener los nichos metastásicos. La preponderancia de la señalización mediada por exosomas como moduladores del microambiente tumoral, y la posibilidad de que la misma pudiera tener un rol en la progresión de la enfermedad nos llevo a plantearnos las siguientes preguntas:

1- ¿Cuál es el perfil proteico de los exosomas circulantes en el plasma de pacientes con LLC?

2- ¿Hay diferencias en el perfil proteómico de los exosomas de plasma de pacientes de LLC con enfermedad progresiva e indolente?

3- ¿Es posible que la carga de lo exosomas de pacientes con LLC progresiva

cambie con la evolución de la enfermedad?

4- ¿Existen cargas exosómicas exclusivas de la progresión de la LLC?

5- ¿Es posible que las proteínas que se encuentren exclusivamente en exosomas de progresión de la LLC puedan promover la proliferación del clon tumoral?

Para responder estas preguntas caracterizamos el perfil proteómico de los exosomas de plasma de pacientes con LLC progresiva e indolente al tiempo del debut y a tiempos de progresión, en el caso de pacientes con enfermedad progresiva, y a un tiempo de 4 años de sobrevida libre de progresión en pacientes con enfermedad indolente. El análisis de las redes de interacción proteica nos permitió identificar proteínas asociadas a vías de inflamación, progresión tumoral, infiltración de células leucémicas y sobrevida celular asociadas a las proteínas identificadas en pacientes con LLC progresiva al tiempo de la progresión. De esta caracterización obtuvimos sobrerepresentadas de forma consistente dos proteínas exclusivas de los exosomas de tiempos de progresión, plakoglobina (JUP), un activador de la señalización por Wnt, y S100-A9, un activador de la vía NF- κ B, cuya presencia validamos mediante western blot. Debido a la importancia de la vía NF- κ B, y al hecho de que S100-A9 había sido recientemente identificada en exosomas de pacientes con IgVH no mutados (Paggetti et al. 2015), decidimos investigar la función de S100-A9 en la progresión de la LLC. S100-A9 pertenece a una familia de proteínas intracelulares de unión a calcio cuyo rol en el cáncer esta ampliamente documentado, y revisado en (Bresnick, Weber y Zimmer 2015). Se encuentra fundamentalmente formando heterodímeros con S100-A8, constituyendo la calprotectina que posee sus propias funciones (Srikrishna 2011). Tanto la calprotectina (S100-A8/A9) como S100-A9 sola son activadores de NF- κ B, pero lo hacen a través de vías diferentes. La calprotectina lo hace a través de estimulación del receptor TLR4, o de los receptores RAGE (receptor of advanced glycosylated end-products), que pueden ser activados por varias proteínas de la familia. S100-A9 en tanto, lo hace a través de su receptor especifico EMMPRIN (CD147, basigin-1), que cumple un papel importante en la metástasis del melanoma (Hibino et al. 2013). Por este motivo decidimos investigar si el receptor de S100-A9 EMMPRIN era expresado en las células de LLC, pudiendo entonces actuar como mediador de la señalización por exosomas durante la progresión de la enfermedad. Así, descubrimos que la isoforma 2 de EMMPRIN se expresaba y era la mayoritaria en LLC. Además, encontramos que los linfocitos B leucémicos son capaces de unir in vitro a S100-A9 recombinante, y que su localización en la membrana celular coincide con regiones en donde se localiza EMMPRIN. sugiriendo que podría actuar como receptor de S100-A9 en LLC. Se ha descrito que S100-A9 es esencial en el establecimiento del nicho pre-metastásico, en la adquisición de quimioresistencia de novo, y subsecuente metástasis en cáncer de mama (Bresnick, Weber y Zimmer 2015) y melanoma (Peinado et al. 2012), y es necesaria para el reclutamiento de las células mieloides supresoras (MDSCs) y supresión de la respuesta inmune antitumoral (Cheng et al. 2008). En LLC se sabe que las células leucémicas son capaces de inducir MDSCs, que a su vez suprimen la activación de linfocitos T, y de promover células T regulatorias inmunosupresoras (Jitschin et al. 2014). La presencia de S100-A9 en exosomas plasmáticos de LLC durante la progresión de la enfermedad podría explicar este reclutamiento de MDSCs, y trazar su origen a la célula B leucémica. Además hemos demostrado que los exosomas cargados de S100-A9 son capaces de activar en el clon leucémico la vía canónica de NF- κ B, y que la preincubación de los exosomas con anticuerpos anti S100-A9 bloquea esta activación. Estos resultados, refuerzan los hallazgos de Paggetti y cols. que mostraron que los exosomas producidos por la linea celular MEC-1 (derivada de un paciente de LLC) eran capaces de activar NF- κ B en células estromales (Paggetti et al. 2015). En melanoma se ha descrito un loop de activación, en que los exosomas son capaces de inducir la expression de calprotectina (S100-A8/A9) y S100-A9 en el nicho pre-metastásico luego de la activación de NF- κ B, que a su vez se activa por calprotectina y S100-A9. Nuestros resultados sugieren que en LLC podría existir un loop análogo, en que las señales del microambiente estimulan la expresión de S100-A9 en el clon tumoral, que a su vez activa NF- κ B llevando así a un incremento de las señales de proliferación y sobrevida. Esta hipótesis se sustenta en nuestro análisis de células de ganglios linfáticos de LLC, en que las células B expresan S100-A9 y marcadores de proliferación. Este loop de hipotético de activación del clon leucémico a través de S100-A9 en LLC se resume en la Figura 3. En suma, hemos descrito por primera vez distintos perfiles temporales en las proteínas de exosomas de plasma de LLC indolentes y progresivas. Asimismo, hemos descrito las variaciones individuales al tiempo del debut y de la progresión leucémica. Describimos la presencia de la proteina S100-A9 en los exosomas de LLC progresivas, y un aumento de su expresión en linfocitos leucémicos durante la progresión de la enfermedad. Por último, demostramos que los exosomas cargados de S100-A9 pueden activar NF- κ B facultativamente en células de pacientes con enfermedad típicamente indolente, estableciendo un nuevo origen para la activación de NF- κ B en la LLC, y destacando la importancia de los exosomas en la promoción de la progresión leucémica.

II- Unmutated CLL cells express more LPL protein than mutated cells and it is associated with a poor clinical outcome.

La manifestación y curso clínico de la LLC son heterogéneos (Vasconcelos et al. 2003), aunque la casuística permite identificar tres tercios con cursos diferentes. Un primer grupo debuta con una enfermedad agresiva y requiere tratamiento inmediato; un segundo grupo presenta una enfermedad indolente y no requiere tratamiento; pero el tercer grupo, que representa alrededor de un tercio de los pacientes debuta con una enfermedad indolente que puede durar años, pero que invariablemente evoluciona hacia un enfermedad agresiva que debe ser tratada (Dighiero 2003). La existencia de este último grupo ha motivado la búsqueda de buenos marcadores clínicos y biológicos con valor pronóstico para la LLC. Hoy en día, el marcador con mejor valor pronóstico es el estado mutacional de los genes de las cadenas pesadas de inmunoglobulina del clon tumoral. Este análisis requiere la utilización de técnicas de biología molecular, que impiden su universalización e inclusión en la rutina clínica de la LLC. Los análisis de perfil de expresión génica comparando grupos de pacientes de LLC demostraron que el gen que codifica la lipoprotein lipasa (LPL), es expresado de forma diferencial en pacientes mutados y no mutados (Klein et al. 2001; Rosenwald et al. 2001; Vasconcelos et al. 2005). Como resultado de estudios posteriores, se estableció que la relación existente entre la expresión de LPL y el gen de la metaloproteasa ADAM29 constituía un marcador pronóstico mejor discernimiento que los marcadores serológicos en estadios avanzados de la enfermedad (Oppezzo et al. 2005). La presencia del ARNm de LPL esta asociada a un mal pronóstico, y es el marcador molecular más robusto en la LLC después del perfil IgVH(resisado en (Prieto y Oppezzo 2017)). Se sabe que la proteína LPL se expresa en algunas células de LLC, y que posee un patrón de inmunolocalización puntiforme, lo que motivó el intento de desarrollo de un método pronóstico basado en la proteína LPL que lamentablemente fracasó, concluyendo que los niveles de proteína presentes en las células de LLC no reflejaban los niveles de su ARNm (Heintel et al. 2005). Este fenómeno no es improbable, dado que LPL posee múltiples niveles de regulación de su expresión, desde epigenético (Abreu et al. 2013), postranscripcional incluyendo microARNs (Bouvy-Liivrand et al. 2014), y postraduccional dependiente de chaperonas (Klinger et al. 2011). Debido a la relevancia de los marcadores con valor pronóstico en la LLC y su creciente consideración en la decisión terapéutica, nos propusimos trabajar en función de las siguientes preguntas: 1- ¿Qué patrón de expresión tiene la proteína LPL en la LLC?

2- ${}_{\dot{c}} {\rm Existen}$ diferencias en los niveles de proteína LPL entre pacientes IgVH mutado y no mutado?

3- ¿Por qué el grupo que lo intentó previamente no logró detectarlas?
4- ¿Se puede desarrollar un método pronóstico basado en la proteína LPL para LLC?

Para contestar estas preguntas, caracterizamos el patrón subcelular de expressión de LPL en células de LLC de pacientes que expresaban el ARNm de LPL (LPL/mRNApos) y de pacientes que no lo expresaban (LPL/mRNAneg). Utilizando inmunomarcación y microscopía de barrido láser confocal logramos repetir el patrón puntiforme previamente descrito, y precisar que todos los pacientes presentaban marcación de LPL independientemente de expresar su ARN, aunque su distribución subcelular parecía ser diferente. En una tinción doble con un marcador general de membranas observamos que en los pacientes LPL/mRNApos había dos tipos de localización de la proteína LPL: una perinuclear asociada a sistemas de membrana, y otra de naturaleza citosólica. En cambio, los pacientes LPL/mRNAneg solo encontramos la segunda población. Este inesperado resultado nos llevo a profundizar en la localización subcelular utilizando marcadores específicos de organelos, con los que pudimos determinar que el pool de LPL perinuclear asociado a membranas se localiza en la cisterna perinuclear del retículo endoplásmico, lo que coincide con un patrón de síntesis proteica de LPL en los pacientes LPL/mRNApos. Mientras tanto, la población observable como citosólica coincide parcialmente con vesículas de la vía endocítica (endosomas tardíos o lisosomas). Estos resultados fueron confirmados por inmunomicroscopía electrónica. Este segundo resultado, sumado al primero en que observamos marcación de LPL en células LPL/RNAneg nos llevó a preguntarnos si sería posible que las células de LLC estuvieran internalizando LPL del exterior, ya que LPL es una proteína que se encuentra asociada al endotelio vascular y a los quilomicrones y lipoproteínas de muy baja densidad circulantes. Esta idea se ve reforzada por el hecho de que las células de LLC poseen en su superficie proteoglicanos de heparán sulfato (Van Bockstaele et al. 2007), lo que les permitiría captar LPL desde el exterior celular. Para poner a prueba la hipótesis realizamos experimentos in vitro, en donde cultivamos a los linfocitos de LLC en un medio completamente definido libre de suero, y paralelamente con plasma autólogo o suero fetal bovino. Esta serie de experimentos nos permitió descubrir que las células de LLC son capaces de internalizar LPL desde el plasma o heterogenéamente desde el suero fetal bovino, y de enviar esa LPL internalizada a la vía endocítica. Esta información nos permitió pensar en una estrategia para potenciar las diferencias en los niveles de LPL entre las células de pacientes LPL/RNApos v LPL/RNAneg. Para reducir el aporte de señal de LPL de la superficie

celular recurrimos a la incubación con heparina en el medio de cultivo, ya que la proteína posee un sitio de unión a heparina que puede competir con la unión a proteoglicanos de heparán sulfato (Allan et al. 2017). El tratamiento con heparina para liberar LPL de sus sitios de unión se conoce desde la década de 1940, en que se descubrió que la invección de heparina en perros era capaz de contrarrestar la lipemia alimentaria, y motivó el descubrimiento de la LPL (Hahn 1943). El tratamiento con heparina y la utilizacion de células de frescas nos permitió desenmascarar las diferencias de LPL entre los pacientes LPL/RNApos y LPL/RNAneg, y desarrollar un protocolo de marcación de LPL para citometría de flujo que resultó capaz de discriminar entre pacientes IgVH mutado y no mutado. La explicación más plausible para este fenómeno es que las células que forman parte del banco celular habitualmente son congeladas con grandes cantidades de suero fetal bovino. cargado de LPL, que las células de LLC son capaces de internalizar de forma heterogénea. Así, la utilización de células frescas más el tratamiento con heparina maximiza las diferencias entre los grupos de pacientes, constituyendo una posible estrategia para el desarrollo de un marcador pronóstico basado en la proteína LPL para citometría de flujo. Posteriormente validamos estos resultados en una cohorte mayor, y determinamos el punto de corte optimo para mayor sensibilidad del método. Con este punto de corte determinamos que el método puede predecir el tiempo al primer tratamiento diferenciando significativamente pacientes IgVH mutados y no mutados.



Figura 3: Modelo hipotético del bucle de activación microambiental y autoactivación del linfocito B de una LLC progresiva mediada por S100-A9. Inicialmente, las señales del microambiente tales como estimulación por antígeno, citoquinas pro-inflamatorias y otras, up-regulan los factores de transcripción NF- κ B y/o AP-1 en el clon leucémico y estimulan la expresión de S100-A9. Subsecuente mente, la expresión elevada de S100-A9 en las células de LLC podría resultar en la secreción de exosomas cargados de S100-A9. Estos exosomas pueden interaccionar tanto con células accesorias del sistema inmunitario, o con los propios linfocitos tumorales estableciendo un loop de activación que aumenta la actividad de NF- κ B y favorece el progreso de la enfermedad.

Perspectivas

Durante el presente trabajo de tesis hemos aportado al conocimiento básico de la LLC y hemos desarrollado una herramienta para ser validada en la clínica hematológica, que esperamos redunde en beneficio para los pacientes. Sin embargo, durante este trabajo hemos generado también un cuerpo de datos que por razones de tiempo y foco no hemos podido explorar en profundidad. Estos datos abren un abanico de perspectivas para el desarrollo de futuros trabajos de investigación en la biología de la LLC o de otras neoplasias hematológicas. La caracterización proteómica de las cargas de exosomas durante la progresión de la LLC nos permitió identificar la proteína JUP como otro posible candidato a funcionar como señal microambiental que favorezca la progresión tumoral. Investigar su papel en el escenario del nicho protumoral es una tarea inminente. Asimismo, la vía de señalización activada en el linfocito B de LLC por S100-A9 a través de EMMPRIN necesita ser caracterizada. Durante nuestro trabajo centramos la atención en EMMPRIN por ser un receptor especifico de S100-A9 y por sus amplias implicaciones en el cáncer. Sin embargo, queda por determinar cuál es el peso relativo de la señalización por EMMPRIN en el concierto de receptores que pueden unir a S100-A9, y en particular con respecto al receptor RAGE, que también puede unir calprotectina (S100-A8/A9). Sabemos que algunas señales del microambiente son capaces de activar la expresión de LPL en los linfocitos B leucémicos, pero no hemos explorado aun si las células tratadas in vitro con S100-A9 recombinante o con exosomas cargados de S100-A9 activan la expresión de LPL. Se ha descrito que la perdida parcial de función de LPL mediante interferencia de ARN en células de LLC es capaz de reducir la viabilidad de las mismas en cultivo. Sin embargo, no se ha intentado el experimento inverso, que es esencial para demostrar la importancia del mecanismo: inducir la expresión de LPL en células que normalmente no la expresan de LLC o lineas derivadas (como MEC-1) y registrar un aumento de la viabilidad en cultivo. Hemos dicho que una función atractiva y prácticamente inexplorada de LPL es la capacidad de actuar como puente intercelular, por lo que la realización de experimentos de interacción celular en cultivos organotípicos de ganglio linfático resulta tentadora y necesaria. Las recientemente descritas isoformas de punto isoeléctrico de LPL hacen inminente la caracterización de las mismas en la LLC. Finalmente, en un abordaje traslacional, la posibilidad de analizar los parámetros del ciclo celular, carga de LPL celular, y la evolución clínica de pacientes de LLC clínicamente miniheparinizados, o tratados con heparina de bajo peso molecular constituyen desafíos científicos que seguramente serán abordados en el futuro próximo.

Bibliografía

- ABREU, C., MORENO, P., PALACIOS, F., BORGE, M., MORANDE, P., LANDONI, A.I., GABUS, R., DIGHIERO, G., GIORDANO, M., GAMBERALE, R. y OPPEZZO, P., 2013. Methylation status regulates lipoprotein lipase expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia & lymphoma* [en línea], vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 1844-8. ISSN 1029-2403. DOI 10.3109/10428194.2013.796057. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23614796.
- ALLAN, C.M., LARSSON, M., JUNG, R.S., PLOUG, M., BENSADOUN,
 A., BEIGNEUX, A.P., FONG, L.G. y YOUNG, S.G., 2017. Mobility of «HSPG-bound» LPL explains how LPL is able to reach GPIHBP1 on capillaries. *Journal of Lipid Research* [en línea], vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 216-225. ISSN 0022-2275. DOI 10.1194/jlr.M072520. Disponible en: http://www.jlr.org/lookup/doi/10.1194/jlr.M072520.
- AZMI, A.S., BAO, B. y SARKAR, F.H., 2013. Exosomes in cancer development, metastasis, and drug resistance: a comprehensive review. *Cancer* and Metastasis Reviews [en línea], vol. 32, no. 3-4, pp. 623-642. ISSN 0167-7659. DOI 10.1007/s10555-013-9441-9. Disponible en: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10555-013-9441-9.
- BADIA-VILLANUEVA, M., CARULLA, P., CARRASCAL, M., ABIÁN, J., LLOBERA, M., CASANOVAS, A. y DOLORES LÓPEZ-TEJERO, M., 2014. Lipoprotein lipase isoelectric point isoforms in humans. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* [en línea], vol. 445, no. 2, pp. 480-5. [Consulta: 22 julio 2014]. ISSN 1090-2104. DOI 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.02.028. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24530399.
- BEISIEGEL, U., WEBER, W. y BENGTSSON-OLIVECRONA, G., 1991. Lipoprotein lipase enhances the binding of chylomicrons to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 88, no. 19, pp. 8342-6. ISSN 0027-8424. DOI 10.1073/pnas.88.19.8342.
- BELOV, L., MATIC, K.J., HALLAL, S., BEST, O.G., MULLIGAN, S.P. y CHRISTOPHERSON, R.I., 2016. Extensive surface protein profiles of extracellular vesicles from cancer cells may provide diagnostic signatures from blood samples. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles* [en línea],

vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 25355. ISSN 2001-3078. DOI 10.3402/jev.v5.25355. Disponible en: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3402/jev.-v5.25355.

- BENITO-MARTIN, A., DI GIANNATALE, A., CEDER, S. y PEINADO, H., 2015. The New Deal: A Potential Role for Secreted Vesicles in Innate Immunity and Tumor Progression. *Frontiers in Immunology* [en línea], vol. 6, no. February, pp. 66. ISSN 1664-3224. DOI 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00066. Disponible en: /pmc/articles/PMC4338782/? report=abstract.
- BIANCHI, S., MORENO, P., LANDONI, A.I., NAYA, H., OPPEZZO, P., DIGHIERO, G., GABÚS, R. y PRITSCH, O., 2010. Immunoglobulin heavy chain V-D-J gene rearrangement and mutational status in Uruguayan patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia & lymphoma*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 2070-2078. ISSN 1042-8194. DOI 10.3109/10428194.2010.522283.
- BILBAN, M., HEINTEL, D., SCHARL, T., WOELFEL, T., AUER, M.M., PORPACZY, E., KAINZ, B., KRÖBER, A., CAREY, V.J., SHEHATA, M., ZIELINSKI, C., PICKL, W., STILGENBAUER, S., GAIGER, A., WAGNER, O. y JÄGER, U., 2006. Deregulated expression of fat and muscle genes in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia with high lipoprotein lipase expression. *Leukemia* [en línea], vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 1080-8. [Consulta: 15 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 0887-6924. DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2404220. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16617321.
- BOUVY-LIIVRAND, M., HEINÄNIEMI, M., JOHN, E., SCHNEIDER, J.G., SAUTER, T. y SINKKONEN, L., 2014. Combinatorial regulation of lipoprotein lipase by microRNAs during mouse adipogenesis. *RNA Biology* [en línea], vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 76-91. ISSN 1547-6286. DOI 10.4161/rna.27655.
 Disponible en: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.4161/rna.27655.
- BRACHTL, G., PIÑÓN HOFBAUER, J., GREIL, R. y HARTMANN, T.N., 2014. The pathogenic relevance of the prognostic markers CD38 and CD49d in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Annals of Hematology*, vol. 93, no. 3, pp. 361-374. ISSN 09395555. DOI 10.1007/s00277-013-1967-y. 91
- BRESNICK, A.R., WEBER, D.J. y ZIMMER, D.B., 2015. S100 proteins in cancer. *Nature reviews. Cancer* [en línea], vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 96-109. ISSN 1474-1768. DOI 10.1038/nrc3893. Disponible en: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrc3893.
- BULIAN, P., SHANAFELT, T.D., FEGAN, C., ZUCCHETTO, A., CRO, L., NÜCKEL, H., BALDINI, L., KURTOVA, A. V, FERRAJOLI, A., BURGER, J.A., GAIDANO, G., DEL POETA, G., PEPPER, C., ROS-SI, D. y GATTEI, V., 2014. CD49d Is the Strongest Flow Cytometry– Based Predictor of Overall Survival in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* [en línea], vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 897-904. [Consulta: 17 septiembre 2014]. ISSN 0732-183X. DOI 10.1200/JCO.2013.50.8515. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24516016.
- BURGER, J.A., 2013. The CLL Cell Microenvironment. En: S. MALEK (ed.), Advances in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia [en línea]. S.l.: s.n., pp. 25-45. ISBN 978-1-4614-8050-1. Disponible en: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4614-8051-8.
- BURGER, J.A., GHIA, P., ROSENWALD, A. y CALIGARIS-CAPPIO, F., 2009. The microenvironment in mature B-cell malignancies: a target for new treatment strategies. *Blood* [en línea], vol. 114, no. 16, pp. 3367-75. [Consulta: 15 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 1528-0020. DOI 10.1182/blood-2009-06-225326. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19636060.
- BURGER, J.A. y GRIBBEN, J.G., 2014. The microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and other B cell malignancies: Insight into disease biology and new targeted therapies. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* [en línea], vol. 24, no. Cll, pp. 71-81. ISSN 10963650. DOI 10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.08.011. Disponible en: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.08.011.
- CALIGARIS-CAPPIO, F. y GHIA, P., 2008. Novel insights in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: are we getting closer to understanding the pathogenesis of the disease? *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* [en línea], vol. 26, no. 27, pp. 4497-503. ISSN 1527-7755. DOI 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.4393. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18662968.

CALIN, G.A., LIU, C.-G., SEVIGNANI, C., FERRACIN, M., FELLI, N., DUMITRU, C.D., SHIMIZU, M., CIMMINO, A., ZUPO, S., DONO, M., DELL'AQUILA, M.L., ALDER, H., RASSENTI, L., KIPPS, T.J., BULLRICH, F., NEGRINI, M. y CROCE, C.M., 2004. MicroRNA profiling reveals distinct signatures in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemias. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America [en línea], vol. 101, no. 32, pp. 11755-60. [Consulta: 15 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 0027-8424. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0404432101. Disponible en: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?

artid=511048&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.

- CHEN, T., LI, Z., TU, J., ZHU, W., GE, J., ZHENG, X., YANG, L., PAN, X., YAN, H. y ZHU, J., 2011. MicroRNA-29a regulates pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and scavenger receptor expression by targeting LPL in oxLDL-stimulated dendritic cells. *FEBS letters* [en línea], vol. 585, no. 4, pp. 657-63. [Consulta: 19 noviembre 2013]. ISSN 1873-3468. DOI 10.1016/j.febslet.2011.01.027. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21276447.
- CHENG, P., CORZO, C.A., LUETTEKE, N., YU, B., NAGARAJ, S., BUI, M.M., ORTIZ, M., NACKEN, W., SORG, C., VOGL, T., ROTH, J. y GABRILOVICH, D.I., 2008. Inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer is regulated by S100A9 protein. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* [en línea], vol. 205, no. 10, pp. 2235-2249. ISSN 0022-1007. DOI 10.1084/jem.20080132. Disponible en: http://www.jem.org/lookup/doi/10.1084/jem.20080132.
- CHOW, S., BUCKSTEIN, R. y SPANER, D.E., 2015. A link between hypercholesterolemia and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia & lymphoma* [en línea], no. September 2015, pp. 1-6. ISSN 1029-2403. DOI 10.3109/10428194.2015.1088651. Disponible en: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3109/10428194.2015.1088651.
- COCUCCI, E. y MELDOLESI, J., 2015. Ectosomes and exosomes: shedding the confusion between extracellular vesicles. *Trends in Cell Biology* [en línea], pp. 1-9. ISSN 09628924. DOI 10.1016/j.tcb.2015.01.004. Disponible en: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S096289241500015X.

- CROMPOT, E., VAN DAMME, M., PIETERS, K., VERMEERSCH, M., PEREZ-MORGA, D., MINEUR, P., MAEREVOET, M., MEULE-MAN, N., BRON, D., LAGNEAUX, L. y STAMATOPOULOS, B., 2017. Extracellular vesicles of bone marrow stromal cells rescue chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells from apoptosis, enhance their migration and induce gene expression modifications. *Haematologica* [en línea], vol. 102, no. 9, pp. 1594-1604. ISSN 0390-6078. DOI 10.3324/haematol.2016.163337. Disponible en: http://www.haematologica.org/lookup/doi/10.3324/haematol.2016.163337.
- DAMLE, R.N., WASIL, T., FAIS, F., GHIOTTO, F., VALETTO, A., ALLEN, S.L., BUCHBINDER, A., BUDMAN, D., DITTMAR, K., KOLITZ, J., LICHTMAN, S.M., SCHULMAN, P., VINCIGUERRA, V.P., RAI, K.R., FERRARINI, M. y CHIORAZZI, N., 1999. Ig V gene mutation status and CD38 expression as novel prognostic indicators in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* [en línea], vol. 94, no. 6, pp. 1840-7. [Consulta: 15 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 0006-4971. Disponible en: http://bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org/content/94/6/1840.long.
- DE LUCA, L., D'ARENA, G., SIMEON, V., TRINO, S., LAURENZANA, I., CAIVANO, A., LA ROCCA, F., VILLANI, O., MANSUETO, G., DEAGLIO, S., INNOCENTI, I., LAURENTI, L., MOLICA, S., PIE-TRANTUONO, G., DE STRADIS, A., DEL VECCHIO, L. y MUSTO, P., 2017. Characterization and prognostic relevance of circulating microvesicles in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* [en línea], vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 1424-1432. ISSN 1042-8194. DOI 10.1080/10428194.2016.1243790. Disponible en: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10428194.2016.1243790.
- DEO, R.C., REICH, D., TANDON, A., AKYLBEKOVA, E., PATTERSON, N., WALISZEWSKA, A., KATHIRESAN, S., SARPONG, D., TAY-LOR, H.A. y WILSON, J.G., 2009. Genetic differences between the determinants of lipid profile phenotypes in African and European Americans: The Jackson Heart Study. *PLoS Genetics*, vol. 5, no. 1. ISSN 15537390. DOI 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000342.
- DIGHIERO, G., 2003. Unsolved issues in CLL biology and management. Leukemia [en línea], vol. 17, no. 12, pp. 2385-91. [Consulta: 15 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 0887-6924. DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2403154. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14523464.

- DÖHNER, H., STILGENBAUER, S., BENNER, A., LEUPOLT, E., KRÖ-BER, A., BULLINGER, L., DÖHNER, K., BENTZ, M. y LICHTER, P., 2000. Genomic aberrations and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *The New England journal of medicine* [en línea], vol. 343, no. 26, pp. 1910-6. [Consulta: 15 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 0028-4793. DOI 10.1056/NEJM200012283432602. Disponible en: http://www.n-cbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11136261.
- FABBRI, G. y DALLA-FAVERA, R., 2016. The molecular pathogenesis of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Nature reviews. Cancer* [en línea], vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 145-62. ISSN 1474-1768. DOI 10.1038/nrc.2016.8. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26911189.
- FULCI, V., CHIARETTI, S., GOLDONI, M., AZZALIN, G., CARUCCI, N., TAVOLARO, S., CASTELLANO, L., MAGRELLI, A., CITARELLA, F., MESSINA, M., MAGGIO, R., PERAGINE, N., SANTANGELO, S., MAURO, F.R., LANDGRAF, P., TUSCHL, T., WEIR, D.B., CHIEN, M., RUSSO, J.J., JU, J., SHERIDAN, R., SANDER, C., ZA-VOLAN, M., GUARINI, A., FOÀ, R. y MACINO, G., 2007. Quantitative technologies establish a novel microRNA profile of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*, vol. 109, no. 11, pp. 4944-4951. ISSN 00064971. DOI 10.1182/blood-2006-12-062398.
- GHOSH, A.K., SECRETO, C.R., KNOX, T.R., DING, W., MUKHOPADH-YAY, D. y KAY, N.E., 2010. Circulating microvesicles in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia can stimulate marrow stromal cells: implications for disease progression. En: R01 CA116237/CA/NCI NIH HHS/United StatesJournal ArticleResearch Support, N.I.H., ExtramuralUnited States, *Blood* [en línea], vol. 115, no. 9, pp. 1755-1764. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=20018914.
- GOULBOURNE, C.N., GIN, P., TATAR, A., NOBUMORI, C., HOENGER, A., JIANG, H., GROVENOR, C.R.M., ADEYO, O., ESKO, J.D., GOLDBERG, I.J., REUE, K., TONTONOZ, P., BENSADOUN, A., BEIGNEUX, A.P., YOUNG, S.G. y FONG, L.G., 2014. The GPIH-BP1-LPL Complex Is Responsible for the Margination of Triglyceride-Rich Lipoproteins in Capillaries. *Cell metabolism* [en línea], vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 849-60. [Consulta: 28 mayo 2014]. ISSN 1932-7420. DOI 95

10.1016/j.cmet.2014.01.017. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24726386.

- GUTZEIT, C., NAGY, N., GENTILE, M., LYBERG, K., GUMZ, J., VA-LLHOV, H., PUGA, I., KLEIN, E., GABRIELSSON, S., CERUTTI, A. y SCHEYNIUS, A., 2014. Exosomes Derived from Burkitt's Lymphoma Cell Lines Induce Proliferation, Differentiation, and Class-Switch Recombination in B Cells. The Journal of Immunology [en línea], vol. ISSN 192. no. 12. 5852-5862. 0022-1767. DOI pp. 10.4049/jimmunol.1302068. Disponible en: http://www.jimmunol.org/cgi/doi/10.4049/jimmunol.1302068.
- HADERK, F., HANNA, B., RICHTER, K., SCHNÖLZER, M., ZENZ, T., STILGENBAUER, S., LICHTER, P. y SEIFFERT, M., 2013. Extracellular vesicles in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia & lymphoma [en línea], vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 1826-30. ISSN 1029-2403. DOI 10.3109/10428194.2013.796052. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23848063.
- HADERK, F., SCHULZ, R., ISKAR, M., CID, L.L., WORST, T., WILL-MUND, K. V., SCHULZ, A., WARNKEN, U., SEILER, J., BENNER, A., NESSLING, M., ZENZ, T., GÖBEL, M., DÜRIG, J., DIEDERI-CHS, S., PAGGETTI, J., MOUSSAY, E., STILGENBAUER, S., ZA-PATKA, M., LICHTER, P. y SEIFFERT, M., 2017. Tumor-derived exosomes modulate PD-L1 expression in monocytes. Science Immunology [en línea], vol. 2, no. 13, pp. eaah5509. ISSN 2470-9468. DOI 10.1126/sciimmunol.aah5509. Disponible en: http://immunology.sciencemag.org/lookup/doi/10.1126/sciimmunol.aah5509.
- HAHN, P.F., 1943. ABOLISHMENT OF ALIMENTARY LIPEMIA FO-LLOWING INJECTION OF HEPARIN. Science (New York, N.Y.) [en línea], vol. 98, no. 2531, pp. 19-20. ISSN 0036-8075. DOI 10.1126/science.98.2531.19. Disponible en: http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.98.2531.19.
- HALLEK, M., 2015. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia: 2015 Update on diagnosis, risk stratification, and treatment. American journal of hematology [en línea], vol. 90, no. 5, pp. 446-60. ISSN 1096-8652. DOI 10.1002/ajh.23979. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25908509. 96

- HAMBLIN, T.J., DAVIS, Z., GARDINER, A., OSCIER, D.G. y STEVEN-SON, F.K., 1999. Unmutated Ig V(H) genes are associated with a more aggressive form of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* [en línea], vol. 94, no. 6, pp. 1848-54. [Consulta: 15 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 0006-4971. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10477713.
- HEINTEL, D., KIENLE, D., SHEHATA, M., KRÖBER, A., KROEMER, E., SCHWARZINGER, I., MITTEREGGER, D., LE, T., GLEISS, A., MANNHALTER, C., CHOTT, A., SCHWARZMEIER, J., FONATS-CH, C., GAIGER, A., DÖHNER, H., STILGENBAUER, S. y JÄGER, U., 2005. High expression of lipoprotein lipase in poor risk B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia*: official journal of the Leukemia Society of America, Leukemia Research Fund, U.K, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 1216-23. ISSN 0887-6924. DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2403748.
- HERNDON, T.M., CHEN, S.-S., SABA, N.S., VALDEZ, J., EMSON, C., GATMAITAN, M., TIAN, X., HUGHES, T.E., SUN, C., ARTHUR, D.C., STETLER-STEVENSON, M., YUAN, C.M., NIEMANN, C.U., MARTI, G.E., AUE, G., SOTO, S., FAROOQUI, M.Z.H., HERMAN, S.E.M., CHIORAZZI, N. y WIESTNER, A., 2017. Direct in vivo evidence for increased proliferation of CLL cells in lymph nodes compared to bone marrow and peripheral blood. *Leukemia* [en línea], vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 1340-1347. ISSN 0887-6924. DOI 10.1038/leu.2017.11. Disponible en: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/leu.2017.11.
- HESSVIK, N.P. y LLORENTE, A., 2017. Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, pp. 1-16. ISSN 14209071. DOI 10.1007/s00018-017-2595-9.
- HIBINO, T., SAKAGUCHI, M., MIYAMOTO, S., YAMAMOTO, M., MO-TOYAMA, A., HOSOI, J., SHIMOKATA, T., ITO, T., TSUBOI, R. y HUH, N.-H., 2013. S100A9 is a novel ligand of EMMPRIN that promotes melanoma metastasis. *Cancer research* [en línea], vol. 73, no. 1, pp. 172-83. ISSN 1538-7445. DOI 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3843. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23135911.
- HOSHINO, A., COSTA-SILVA, B., SHEN, T.-L., RODRIGUES, G., HAS-HIMOTO, A., TESIC MARK, M., MOLINA, H., KOHSAKA, S., DI GIANNATALE, A., CEDE_{R7} S., SINGH, S., WILLIAMS, C., SO-

PLOP, N., URYU, K., PHARMER, L., KING, T., BOJMAR, L., DA-VIES, A.E., ARARSO, Y., ZHANG, T., ZHANG, H., HERNANDEZ, J., WEISS, J.M., DUMONT-COLE, V.D., KRAMER, K., WEXLER, L.H., NARENDRAN, A., SCHWARTZ, G.K., HEALEY, J.H., SAND-STROM, P., JØRGEN LABORI, K., KURE, E.H., GRANDGENETT, P.M., HOLLINGSWORTH, M.A., DE SOUSA, M., KAUR, S., JAIN, M., MALLYA, K., BATRA, S.K., JARNAGIN, W.R., BRADY, M.S., FODSTAD, O., MULLER, V., PANTEL, K., MINN, A.J., BISSELL, M.J., GARCIA, B.A., KANG, Y., RAJASEKHAR, V.K., GHAJAR, C.M., MATEI, I., PEINADO, H., BROMBERG, J. y LYDEN, D., 2015. Tumour exosome integrins determine organotropic metastasis. *Nature* [en línea], vol. 527, no. 7578, pp. 329-35. ISSN 1476-4687. DOI 10.1038/nature15756. Disponible en: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nature15756%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26524530.

- HURTADO, A.M., CHEN-LIANG, T.H., PRZYCHODZEN, B., HAMEDI, C., MUÑOZ-BALLESTER, J., DIENES, B., GARCÍA-MALO, M.D., ANTÓN, A.I., DE ARRIBA, F., TERUEL-MONTOYA, R., ORTUÑO, F.J., VICENTE, V., MACIEJEWSKI, J.P. y JEREZ, A., 2015. Prognostic signature and clonality pattern of recurrently mutated genes in inactive chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood cancer journal*, vol. 5, no. May, pp. e342. ISSN 20445385. DOI 10.1038/bcj.2015.65.
- IERO, M., VALENTI, R., HUBER, V., FILIPAZZI, P., PARMIANI, G., FAIS, S. y RIVOLTINI, L., 2008. Tumour-released exosomes and their implications in cancer immunity. *Cell death and differentiation*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 80-88. ISSN 1350-9047. DOI 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402237.
- JITSCHIN, R., BRAUN, M., BÜTTNER, M., DETTMER-WILDE, K., BRI-CKS, J., BERGER, J., ECKART, M.J., KRAUSE, S.W., OEFNER, P.J., LE BLANC, K., MACKENSEN, A. y MOUGIAKAKOS, D., 2014. CLL-cells induce IDOhi CD14+ HLA-DRlo myeloid derived suppressor cells that inhibit T-cell responses and promote TRegs. *Blood* [en línea], vol. 124, no. 5, pp. 750-760. ISSN 1528-0020. DOI 10.1182/blood-2013-12-546416.R.J. Disponible en: http://europepmc.org/abstract/med/24850760%5Cnhttp://www.bloodjournal.org/content/124/5/750.abstract.

- KADERI, M.A., KANDURI, M., BUHL, A.M., SEVOV, M., CAHILL, N., GUNNARSSON, R., JANSSON, M., SMEDBY, K.E., HJALGRIM, H., JURLANDER, J., JULIUSSON, G., MANSOURI, L. y ROSEN-QUIST, R., 2011. LPL is the strongest prognostic factor in a comparative analysis of RNA-based markers in early chronic lymphocytic leukemia. En: Kaderi, Mohd ArifinKanduri, MeenaBuhl, Anne MetteSevov, MarieCahill, NicolaGunnarsson, RebegaJansson, MattiasSmedby, Karin EkstromHjalgrim, HenrikJurlander, JesperJuliusson, GunnarMansouri, LarryRosenquist, Richard1 R03 CA 101496-01/CA/NCI NIH HHS/United StatesComparative StudyResearch Support, N.I.H., ExtramuralResearch Support, Non-U.S. Gov'tItalyHaematologicaHaematologica. 2011 Aug;96(8):1153-60. Epub 2011 Apr 20., Haematologica [en línea], 2011/04/22. vol. 96, no. 8, pp. 1153-1160. DOI haematol.2010.039396 [pii] 10.3324/haematol.2010.039396. Disponihttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi? ble en: cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list uids=21508119.
- KAPLAN, R.N., RIBA, R.D., ZACHAROULIS, S., BRAMLEY, A.H., VIN-CENT, L., COSTA, C., MACDONALD, D.D., JIN, D.K., SHIDO, K., KERNS, S.A., ZHU, Z., HICKLIN, D., WU, Y., PORT, J.L., ALTO-RKI, N., PORT, E.R., RUGGERO, D., SHMELKOV, S. V., JENSEN, K.K., RAFII, S. y LYDEN, D., 2005. VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the pre-metastatic niche. *Nature*, vol. 438, no. 7069, pp. 820-827. ISSN 00280836. DOI 10.1038/nature04186.
- KHAN, S., ASPE, J.R., ASUMEN, M.G., ALMAGUEL, F., ODUMOSU, O., ACEVEDO-MARTINEZ, S., DE LEON, M., LANGRIDGE, W.H.R. y WALL, N.R., 2009. Extracellular, cell-permeable survivin inhibits apoptosis while promoting proliferative and metastatic potential. *British Journal of Cancer*, vol. 100, no. 7, pp. 1073-1086. ISSN 00070920. DOI 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604978.
- KIM, C.W., LEE, H.M., LEE, T.H., KANG, C., KLEINMAN, H.K. y GHO, Y.S., 2002. Extracellular membrane vesicles from tumor cells promote angiogenesis via sphingomyelin. *Cancer research* [en línea], vol. 62, no. 21, pp. 6312-7. ISSN 0008-5472. Disponible en: http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/62/21/6312.full.

- KLEIN, U., TU, Y., STOLOVITZKY, G.A., MATTIOLI, M., CATTORE-TTI, G., HUSSON, H., FREEDMAN, A., INGHIRAMI, G., CRO, L., BALDINI, L., NERI, A., CALIFANO, A. y DALLA-FAVERA, R., 2001. Gene expression profiling of B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia reveals a homogeneous phenotype related to memory B cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine* [en línea], vol. 194, no. 11, pp. 1625-38. [Consulta: 25 junio 2014]. ISSN 0022-1007. Disponible en: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=2193527&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.
- KLINGER, S.C., GLERUP, S., RAARUP, M.K., MARI, M.C., NYE-GAARD, M., KOSTER, G., PRABAKARAN, T., NILSSON, S.K., KJAERGAARD, M.M., BAKKE, O., NYKJÆR, A., OLIVECRONA, G., PETERSEN, C.M. y NIELSEN, M.S., 2011. SorLA regulates the activity of lipoprotein lipase by intracellular trafficking. *Journal of cell science* [en línea], vol. 124, no. Pt 7, pp. 1095-105. [Consulta: 18 octubre 2013]. ISSN 1477-9137. DOI 10.1242/jcs.072538. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21385844.
- KOSAKA, N., YOSHIOKA, Y., HAGIWARA, K., TOMINAGA, N., KA-TSUDA, T. y OCHIYA, T., 2013. Trash or Treasure: Extracellular microRNAs and cell-to-cell communication. *Frontiers in Genetics*, vol. 4, no. SEP, pp. 1-8. ISSN 16648021. DOI 10.3389/fgene.2013.00173.
- KRISTENSEN, L., KRISTENSEN, T., ABILDGAARD, N., ROYO, C., FREDERIKSEN, M., MOURITS-ANDERSEN, T., CAMPO, E. y M?? LLER, M.B., 2016. LPL gene expression is associated with poor prognosis in CLL and closely related to NOTCH1 mutations. *European Journal of Haematology*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 175-182. ISSN 16000609. DOI 10.1111/ejh.12700.
- KUEMMERLE, N.B., RYSMAN, E., LOMBARDO, P.S., FLANAGAN, A.J., LIPE, B.C., WELLS, W. a, PETTUS, J.R., FROEHLICH, H.M., MEMOLI, V. a, MORGANELLI, P.M., SWINNEN, J. V, TIMMER-MAN, L. a, CHAYCHI, L., FRICANO, C.J., EISENBERG, B.L., CO-LEMAN, W.B. y KINLAW, W.B., 2011. Lipoprotein lipase links dietary fat to solid tumor cell proliferation. *Molecular cancer therapeutics* [en línea], vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 427-36. [Consulta: 26 junio 2013]. ISSN 1538-8514. DOI 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-0802. Disponible en: 100

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=3074101&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.

- LAWSON, C., KOVACS, D., FINDING, E., ULFELDER, E. y LUIS-FUENTES, V., 2017. Extracellular vesicles: Evolutionarily conserved mediators of intercellular communication. *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 481-491. ISSN 00440086.
- MAMPUTU, J.C., DESFAITS, A.C. y RENIER, G., 1997. Lipoprotein lipase enhances human monocyte adhesion to aortic endothelial cells. *Journal of lipid research* [en línea], vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 1722-9. ISSN 0022-2275. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9323582.
- MANSOURI, M., SEVOV, M., FAHLGREN, E., TOBIN, G., JONDAL, M., OSORIO, L., ROOS, G., OLIVECRONA, G. y ROSENQUIST, R., 2010a. Lipoprotein lipase is differentially expressed in prognostic subsets of chronic lymphocytic leukemia but displays invariably low catalytical activity. *Leukemia research* [en línea], vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 301-6. [Consulta: 15 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 1873-5835. DOI 10.1016/j.leukres.2009.07.032. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19709746.
- MANSOURI, M., SEVOV, M., FAHLGREN, E., TOBIN, G., JONDAL, M., OSORIO, L., ROOS, G., OLIVECRONA, G. y ROSENQUIST, R., 2010b. Lipoprotein lipase is differentially expressed in prognostic subsets of chronic lymphocytic leukemia but displays invariably low catalytical activity. *Leukemia Research*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 301-306. ISSN 01452126. DOI 10.1016/j.leukres.2009.07.032.
- MARTON, S., GARCIA, M.R., ROBELLO, C., PERSSON, H., TRAJTEN-BERG, F., PRITSCH, O., ROVIRA, C., NAYA, H., DIGHIERO, G. y CAYOTA, a, 2008. Small RNAs analysis in CLL reveals a deregulation of miRNA expression and novel miRNA candidates of putative relevance in CLL pathogenesis. *Leukemia: official journal of the Leukemia Society of America, Leukemia Research Fund, U.K*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 330-338. ISSN 0887-6924. DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2405022.
- MÁTRAI, Z., ANDRIKOVICS, H., SZILVÁSI, A., BORS, A., KOZMA, A., ÁDÁM, E., HALM, G., KARÁSZI, É., TORDAI, A. y MASSZI, T., 2017. Lipoprotein Lipase as¹⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ Prognostic Marker in Chronic Lymphoc-

ytic Leukemia. *Pathology & Oncology Research* [en línea], vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 165-171. ISSN 1219-4956. DOI 10.1007/s12253-016-0132-z. Disponible en: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s12253-016-0132-z.

- MCCAW, L., SHI, Y., WANG, G., LI, Y.-J. y SPANER, D.E., 2017. Low Density Lipoproteins Amplify Cytokine-signaling in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells. *EBioMedicine* [en línea], vol. 15, pp. 24-35. ISSN 23523964. DOI 10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.11.033. Disponible en: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2352396416305485.
- MERKEL, M., KAKO, Y., RADNER, H., CHO, I.S., RAMASAMY, R., BRUNZELL, J.D., GOLDBERG, I.J. y BRESLOW, J.L., 1998. Catalytically inactive lipoprotein lipase expression in muscle of transgenic mice increases very low density lipoprotein uptake: Direct evidence that lipoprotein lipase bridging occurs in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* [en línea], vol. 95, no. 23, pp. 13841-13846. ISSN 0027-8424. DOI 10.1073/pnas.95.23.13841. Disponible en: http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.95.23.13841.
- MIRZAEI, H., FATHULLAHZADEH, S., KHANMOHAMMADI, R., DA-RIJANI, M., MOMENI, F., MASOUDIFAR, A., GOODARZI, M., MARDANSHAH, O., STENVANG, J., JAAFARI, M.R. y MIRZAEI, H.R., 2018. State of the art in microRNA as diagnostic and therapeutic biomarkers in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* [en línea], vol. 233, no. 2, pp. 888-900. ISSN 00219541. DOI 10.1002/jcp.25799. Disponible en: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/jcp.25799.
- MORENO, C. y MONTSERRAT, E., 2008. New prognostic markers in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood reviews* [en línea], vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 211-9. [Consulta: 7 junio 2013]. ISSN 0268-960X. DOI 10.1016/j.blre.2008.03.003. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18448218.
- MORENO, P., ABREU, C., BORGE, M., PALACIOS, F., MORANDE, P., PEGAZZANO, M., BIANCHI, S., LANDONI, A.I., AGRELO, R., GIORDANO, M., DIGHIERO, G., GAMBERALE, R. y OPPEZZO, P., 2013. Lipoprotein lipase expression in unmutated CLL patients is the consequence of a demethylation process induced by the microenvironment. *Leukemia* [en línea], vol. 27,020. 3, pp. 721-725. [Consulta: 16

septiembre 2013]. ISSN 0887-6924. DOI 10.1038/leu.2012.212. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22828442.

- MOZESSOHN, L., EARLE, C., SPANER, D., CHENG, S.Y., KUMAR, M. y BUCKSTEIN, R., 2017. The association of dyslipidemia with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: A population-based study. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, vol. 109, no. 3, pp. 1-9. ISSN 14602105. DOI 10.1093/jnci/djw226.
- NÜCKEL, H., HÜTTMANN, A., KLEIN-HITPASS, L., SCHROERS, R., FÜHRER, A., SELLMANN, L., DÜHRSEN, U. y DÜRIG, J., 2006.
 Lipoprotein lipase expression is a novel prognostic factor in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia & lymphoma* [en línea], vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 1053-61. ISSN 1042-8194. DOI 10.1080/10428190500464161. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16840197.
- OPPEZZO, P. y DIGHIERO, G., 2013. "Role of the B-cell receptor and the microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia". *Blood cancer journal* [en línea], vol. 3, pp. e149. ISSN 2044-5385. DOI 10.1038/bcj.2013.45. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24056719.
- OPPEZZO, P., VASCONCELOS, Y., SETTEGRANA, C., JEANNEL, D., VUILLIER, F., LEGARFF-TAVERNIER, M., KIMURA, E.Y., BE-CHET, S., DUMAS, G., BRISSARD, M., MERLE-BÉRAL, H., YA-MAMOTO, M., DIGHIERO, G. y DAVI, F., 2005. The LPL/ADAM29 expression ratio is a novel prognosis indicator in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* [en línea], vol. 106, no. 2, pp. 650-7. [Consulta: 13 marzo 2014]. ISSN 0006-4971. DOI 10.1182/blood-2004-08-3344. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15802535.
- PAGGETTI, J., HADERK, F., SEIFFERT, M., JANJI, B., DISTLER, U., AMMERLAAN, W., KIM, Y.J., ADAM, J., LICHTER, P., SOLARY, E., BERCHEM, G. y MOUSSAY, E., 2015. Exosomes released by chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce the transition of stromal cells into cancer-associated fi broblasts. *Blood*, vol. 126, no. 9, pp. 1106-1118. DOI 10.1182/blood-2014-12-618025.The.
- PAGGETTI, J., HADERK, F., SEIFFERT, M., JANJI, B., DISTLER, U., AMMERLAAN, W., KIM, ¹Q.3., ADAM, J., LICHTER, P., SOLARY,

E., BERCHEM, G. y MOUSSAY, E., 2015. Exosomes released by chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce the transition of stromal cells into cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Blood* [en línea], ISSN 0006-4971. DOI 10.1182/blood-2014-12-618025. Disponible en: http://www.blood-journal.org/cgi/doi/10.1182/blood-2014-12-618025.

PALLASCH, C.P., SCHWAMB, J., KÖNIGS, S., SCHULZ, A., DEBEY, S., KOFLER, D., SCHULTZE, J.L., HALLEK, M., ULTSCH, A. y WEN-DTNER, C.-M., 2008. Targeting lipid metabolism by the lipoprotein lipase inhibitor orlistat results in apoptosis of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. Leukemia [en línea], vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 585-92. [Consulta: 15 septiembre ISSN 1476-5551. 2013]. DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2405058. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18079738.

- PANDO, A., REAGAN, J.L., QUESENBERRY, P. y FAST, L.D., 2018. Extracellular vesicles in leukemia. *Leukemia Research* [en línea], vol. 64, no. April 2017, pp. 52-60. ISSN 18735835. DOI 10.1016/j.leukres.2017.11.011. Disponible en: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2017.11.011.
- PEINADO, H., ALEČKOVIĆ, M., LAVOTSHKIN, S., MATEI, I., COSTA-SILVA, B., MORENO-BUENO, G., HERGUETA-REDONDO, M., WILLIAMS, C., GARCÍA-SANTOS, G., GHAJAR, C.M., NITADO-RI-HOSHINO, A., HOFFMAN, C., BADAL, K., GARCIA, B. a, CA-LLAHAN, M.K., YUAN, J., MARTINS, V.R., SKOG, J., KAPLAN, R.N., BRADY, M.S., WOLCHOK, J.D., CHAPMAN, P.B., KANG, Y., BROMBERG, J. y LYDEN, D., 2012. Melanoma exosomes educate bone marrow progenitor cells toward a pro-metastatic phenotype through MET. *Nature Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 883-891. ISSN 1078-8956. DOI 10.1038/nm.2753.
- PORPACZY, E., TAUBER, S., BILBAN, M., KOSTNER, G., GRUBER, M., EDER, S., HEINTEL, D., LE, T., FLEISS, K., SKRABS, C., SHE-HATA, M., JÄGER, U. y VANURA, K., 2013. Lipoprotein lipase in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia strong biomarker with lack of functional significance. *Leukemia research* [en línea], vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 631-6. [Consulta: 30 diciembre 2013]. ISSN 1873-5835. DOI 10.1016/j.-leukres.2013.02.008. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23478142.

- PRIETO, D. y OPPEZZO, P., 2017. Lipoprotein Lipase Expression in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: New Insights into Leukemic Progression. *Molecules* [en línea], vol. 22, no. 12, pp. 2083. [Consulta: 5 diciembre 2017]. ISSN 1420-3049. DOI 10.3390/molecules22122083. Disponible en: http://www.mdpi.com/1420-3049/22/12/2083.
- PRIETO, D., SOTELO, N., SEIJA, N., SERNBO, S., ABREU, C., DURÁN, R., GIL, M., SICCO, E., IRIGOIN, V., OLIVER, C., LANDONI, A.I., GABUS, R., DIGHIERO, G. y OPPEZZO, P., 2017. S100-A9 protein in exosomes from chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells promotes NF-κB activity during disease progression. *Blood* [en línea], vol. 130, no. 6, pp. 777-788. ISSN 1528-0020. DOI 10.1182/blood-2017-02-769851. Disponible en: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-769851.
- RANA, S. y ZÖLLER, M., 2011. Exosome target cell selection and the importance of exosomal tetraspanins: a hypothesis. *Biochemical Society transactions*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 559-562. ISSN 0300-5127. DOI 10.1042/BST0390559.
- RANKIN, E.B. y GIACCIA, A.J., 2016. Hypoxic control of metastasis. *Science* [en línea], vol. 352, no. 6282, pp. 175-180. ISSN 0036-8075. DOI 10.1126/science.aaf4405. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27124451%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/art iclerender.fcgi? artid=PMC4898055%5Cnhttp://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/s cience.aaf4405.
- RAPOSO, G. y STOORVOGEL, W., 2013. Extracellular vesicles: Exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. *Journal of Cell Biology*, vol. 200, no. 4, pp. 373-383. ISSN 00219525. DOI 10.1083/jcb.201211138.
- RATAJCZAK, J., WYSOCZYNSKI, M., HAYEK, F., JANOWSKA-WIEC-ZOREK, A. y RATAJCZAK, M.Z., 2006. Membrane-derived microvesicles: Important and underappreciated mediators of cell-to-cell communication. *Leukemia*, vol. 20, no. 9, pp. 1487-1495. ISSN 08876924. DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2404296.
- RICHARDSON, K., NETTLETON, J.A., ROTLLAN, N., TANAKA, T., SMITH, C.E., LAI, C.Q., PARNELL, L.D., LEE, Y.C., LAHTI, J., LE-MAITRE, R.N., MANICHAIKUL, A., KELLER, M., MIKKILÄ, V., NGWA, J., VAN ROOIJ, †9:7A., BALLENTYNE, C.M., BORECKI,

I.B., CUPPLES, L.A., GARCIA, M., HOFMAN, A., FERRUCCI, L., MOZAFFARIAN, D., PERÄLÄ, M.M., RAITAKARI, O., TRACY, R.P., ARNETT, D.K., BANDINELLI, S., BOERWINKLE, E., ERIKS-SON, J.G., FRANCO, O.H., KÄHÖNEN, M., NALLS, M., SISCOVI-CK, D.S., HOUSTON, D.K., PSATY, B.M., VIIKARI, J., WITTE-MAN, J.C.M., GOODARZI, M.O., LEHTIMÄKI, T., LIU, Y., ZI-LLIKENS, M.C., CHEN, Y.D.I., UITTERLINDEN, A.G., ROTTER, J.I., FERNANDEZ-HERNANDO, C. y ORDOVAS, J.M., 2013. Gainof-function lipoprotein lipase variant rs13702 modulates lipid traits through disruption of a MicroRNA-410 seed site. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 5-14. ISSN 00029297. DOI 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.10.020.

- ROMBOUT, A., STAMATOPOULOS, B., LAGNEAUX, L., LUST, S., OFFNER, F., NAESSENS, E., VANDERSTRAETEN, H., VERHA-SSELT, B. y PHILIPPÉ, J., 2015. Lipoprotein Lipase SNPs rs13702 and rs301 Correlate with Clinical Outcome in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Patients. *Plos One* [en línea], vol. 10, no. 3, pp. e0121526. ISSN 1932-6203. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0121526. Disponible en: http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0121526.
- ROMBOUT, A., VERHASSELT, B. y PHILIPPÉ, J., 2016. Lipoprotein lipase in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: function and prognostic implications. *European journal of haematology* [en línea], vol. 97, no. 5, pp. 409-415. ISSN 1600-0609. DOI 10.1111/ejh.12789. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27504855.
- ROSENWALD, A., ALIZADEH, A.A., WIDHOPF, G., SIMON, R., DAVIS, R.E., YU, X., YANG, L., PICKERAL, O.K., RASSENTI, L.Z., POWE-LL, J., BOTSTEIN, D., BYRD, J.C., GREVER, M.R., CHESON, B.D., CHIORAZZI, N., WILSON, W.H., KIPPS, T.J., BROWN, P.O. y STAUDT, L.M., 2001. Relation of gene expression phenotype to immunoglobulin mutation genotype in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *The Journal of experimental medicine* [en línea], vol. 194, no. 11, pp. 1639-47. [Consulta: 25 junio 2014]. ISSN 0022-1007. Disponible en: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=2193523&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.

- ROVIRA, C., GÜIDA, M.C. y CAYOTA, A., 2010. MicroRNAs and other small silencing RNAs in cancer. *IUBMB Life*, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 859-868. ISSN 15216543. DOI 10.1002/iub.399.
- ROZOVSKI, U., GRGUREVIC, S., BUESO-RAMOS, C., HARRIS, D.M., LI, P., LIU, Z., WU, J.Y., JAIN, P., WIERDA, W., BURGER, J., O'BRIEN, S., JAIN, N., FERRAJOLI, A., KEATING, M.J. y ES-TROV, Z., 2015. Aberrant LPL Expression, Driven by STAT3, Mediates Free Fatty Acid Metabolism in CLL Cells. *Molecular cancer research: MCR* [en línea], vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 944-53. ISSN 1557-3125. DOI 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-14-0412. Disponible en: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4433415&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.
- ROZOVSKI, U., HAZAN-HALEVY, I., BARZILAI, M., KEATING, M.J. y ESTROV, Z., 2016. Metabolism pathways in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia & Lymphoma*, ISSN 1042-8194. DOI 10.3109/10428194.2015.1106533.
- SPANER, D.E., LEE, E., SHI, Y., WEN, F., LI, Y., TUNG, S., MCCAW, L., WONG, K., GARY-GOUY, H., DALLOUL, a, CEDDIA, R. y GORZ-CYNSKI, R., 2013. PPAR-alpha is a therapeutic target for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* [en línea], vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 1090-9. [Consulta: 16 enero 2014]. ISSN 1476-5551. DOI 10.1038/leu.2012.329. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23160450.
- SPORTOLETTI, P., BALDONI, S., CAVALLI, L., DEL PAPA, B., BONI-FACIO, E., CIURNELLI, R., BELL, A.S., DI TOMMASO, A., RO-SATI, E., CRESCENZI, B., MECUCCI, C., SCREPANTI, I., MARCO-NI, P., MARTELLI, M.F., DI IANNI, M. y FALZETTI, F., 2010. NO-TCH1 PEST domain mutation is an adverse prognostic factor in B-CLL. *British journal of haematology* [en línea], vol. 151, no. 4, pp. 404-6. ISSN 1365-2141. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2010.08368.x. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20813007.
- SRIKRISHNA, G., 2011. S100A8 and S100A9: New insights into their roles in malignancy. *Journal of Innate Immunity*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 31-40. ISSN 1662811X. DOI 10.1159/000330095.

- STAMATOPOULOS, B., MEULEMAN, N., HAIBE-KAINS, B., SAUS-SOY, P., NESTE, E. Van Den, MICHAUX, L., HEIMANN, P., MAR-TIAT, P., BRON, D. y LAGNEAUX, L., 2009. microRNA-29c and microRNA-223 down-regulation has in vivo significance in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and improves disease risk stratification sion levels decreased significantly with progression from Binet stage A to C were significantly lower in poor p. *Blood*, vol. 113, no. 21, pp. 5237-5245. DOI 10.1182/blood-2008-11-189407.The.
- TEN HACKEN, E. y BURGER, J.A., 2014. Microenvironment dependency in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: The basis for new targeted therapies. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics* [en línea], vol. 144, no. 3, pp. 338-348. ISSN 1879016X. DOI 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2014.07.003. Disponible en: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2014.07.003.
- THÉRY, C., ZITVOGEL, L. y AMIGORENA, S., 2002. Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. *Nature reviews. Immunology*, vol. 2, no. 8, pp. 569-579. ISSN 1474-1733. DOI 10.1038/nri855.
- THUMA, F. y ZÖLLER, M., 2014. Outsmart tumor exosomes to steal the cancer initiating cell its niche. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* [en línea], vol. 28, pp. 39-50. ISSN 1044579X. DOI 10.1016/j.semcancer.2014.02.011. Disponible en: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2014.02.011.
- URABE, F., KOSAKA, N., YOSHIOKA, Y., EGAWA, S. y OCHIYA, T., 2017. The small vesicular culprits: the investigation of extracellular vesicles as new targets for cancer treatment. *Clinical and Translational Medicine* [en línea], vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 45. ISSN 2001-1326. DOI 10.1186/s40169-017-0176-z. Disponible en: https://clintransmed.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40169-017-0176-z.
- VALADI, H., EKSTRÖM, K., BOSSIOS, A., SJÖSTRAND, M., LEE, J.J. y LÖTVALL, J.O., 2007. Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nature Cell Biology* [en línea], vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 654-659. ISSN 1465-7392. DOI 10.1038/ncb1596. Disponible en: http://www.nature.com/articles/ncb1596.
- VAN'T VEER, M.B., BROOIJMANS, A.M., LANGERAK, A.W., VERHA-AF, B., GOUDSWAARD, C.S., GRAVELAND, W.J., VAN LOM, K. y

VALK, P.J.M., 2006. The predictive value of lipoprotein lipase for survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* [en línea], vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 56-63. [Consulta: 15 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 1592-8721. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16434371.

- VAN ATTEKUM, M.H.A., ELDERING, E. y KATER, A.P., 2017. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells are active participants in microenvironmental cross-talk. *Haematologica*, vol. 102, no. 9, pp. 1469-1476. ISSN 15928721. DOI 10.3324/haematol.2016.142679.
- VAN BOCKSTAELE, F., PEDE, V., JANSSENS, A., CALLEWAERT, F., OFFNER, F., VERHASSELT, B. y PHILIPPÉ, J., 2007. Lipoprotein lipase mRNA expression in whole blood is a prognostic marker in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Clinical Chemistry*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 204-212. ISSN 00099147. DOI 10.1373/clinchem.2006.076331.
- VASCONCELOS, Y., DAVI, F., LEVY, V., OPPEZZO, P., MAGNAC, C., MICHEL, A., YAMAMOTO, M., PRITSCH, O., MERLE-BÉRAL, H., MALOUM, K., AJCHENBAUM-CYMBALISTA, F. y DIGHIERO, G., 2003. Binet's staging system and VH genes are independent but complementary prognostic indicators in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, vol. 21, no. 21, pp. 3928-3932. ISSN 0732183X. DOI 10.1200/JCO.2003.02.134.
- VASCONCELOS, Y., DE VOS, J., VALLAT, L., RÈME, T., LALANNE, A.I., WANHERDRICK, K., MICHEL, A., NGUYEN-KHAC, F., OPPEZZO, P., MAGNAC, C., MALOUM, K., AJCHENBAUM-CYM-BALISTA, F., TROUSSARD, X., LEPORRIER, M., KLEIN, B., DI-GHIERO, G. y DAVI, F., 2005. Gene expression profiling of chronic lymphocytic leukemia can discriminate cases with stable disease and mutated Ig genes from those with progressive disease and unmutated Ig genes. *Leukemia* [en línea], vol. 19, no. 11, pp. 2002-5. [Consulta: 16 septiembre 2013]. ISSN 0887-6924. DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2403865. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16121219.
- WHITESIDE, T.L., 2017a. Exosome and mesenchymal stem cell cross-talk in the tumor microenvironment. *Seminars in Immunology* [en línea], no. September, pp. 0-1. ISSN 10445323. DOI 10.1016/j.smim.2017.12.003. Disponible en: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1044532317300106.

- WHITESIDE, T.L., 2017b. Exosomes carrying immunoinhibitory proteins and their role in cancer. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, vol. 189, no. 3, pp. 259-267. ISSN 13652249. DOI 10.1111/cei.12974.
- WOLFERS, J., LOZIER, A., RAPOSO, G., REGNAULT, A., THÉRY, C., MASURIER, C., FLAMENT, C., POUZIEUX, S., FAURE, F., TUR-SZ, T., ANGEVIN, E., AMIGORENA, S. y ZITVOGEL, L., 2001. Tumor-derived exosomes are a source of shared tumor rejection antigens for CTL cross-priming. *Nature Medicine*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 297-303. ISSN 10788956. DOI 10.1038/85438.
- XIAO, H., LÄSSER, C., SHELKE, G.V., WANG, J., RÅDINGER, M., LU-NAVAT, T.R., MALMHÄLL, C., LIN, L.H., LI, J., LI, L. y LÖTVALL, J., 2014. Mast cell exosomes promote lung adenocarcinoma cell proliferation – role of KIT-stem cell factor signaling. *Cell Communication and Signaling* [en línea], vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 64. ISSN 1478-811X. DOI 10.1186/s12964-014-0064-8. Disponible en: http://biosignaling.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12964-014-0064-8.
- YEH, Y.-Y., OZER, H.G., LEHMAN, a. M., MADDOCKS, K., YU, L., JOHNSON, a. J. y BYRD, J.C., 2015. Characterization of CLL exosomes reveals a distinct microRNA signature and enhanced secretion by activation of B-cell receptor signaling [en línea]. S.l.: s.n. ISBN 6142938330. Disponible en: http://www.bloodjournal.org/cgi/doi/10.1182/blood-2014-12-618470.
- ZENZ, T., DÖHNER, H. y STILGENBAUER, S., 2007. Genetics and riskstratified approach to therapy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Best practice & research. Clinical haematology*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 439-453. ISSN 15216926. DOI 10.1016/j.beha.2007.02.006.
- ZENZ, T., FULDA, S. y STILGENBAUER, S., 2010. More (on) prognostic factors in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. En: CommentJournal ArticleEngland, *Leuk Lymphoma* [en línea], vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 5-6. Disponible en: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=20001235.

ZHANG, H.G. y GRIZZLE, W.E., 2014. Exosomes: A novel pathway of local and distant intercellular communication that facilitates the growth and metastasis of neoplastic lesions. *American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 184, no. 1, pp. 28-41. ISSN 00029440. DOI 1014016/j.ajpath.2013.09.027.

Agradecimientos

Muchas personas han contribuido a la culminación exitosa de este trabajo.

En primer lugar agradezco a mi familia, especialmente a Micaela y Paloma -mis amores- que me han acompañado durante toda esta aventura y me han apoyado constantemente de mil maneras.

Agradezco especialmente también a Pablo, mi orientador, por haberme abierto las puertas de su laboratorio y guiarme durante este viaje por la leucemia linfoide, linfocítica o linfática cronica.

Al los miembros del tribunal por haber aceptado evaluar la tesis.

A mis compañeros de trabajo de todos los días en el Institut Pasteur de Montevideo: Claudia Ortega, Cecilia Abreu, Florencia Palacios, Pablo Morande, Noe Seija, Agustín Correa, Natalia Sotelo, Sandra Sernbo, Angimar Uriepero y Jimena Hochmann por hacerme una fiesta de cada jornada y enseñarme tantas cosas.

A los médicos clínicos del grupo uruguayo de LLC por su constante apoyo. A los pacientes que generosamente aceptaron donar su sangre para participar de estos estudios, contribuyendo de manera invaluable aún en los momentos más dificiles.

A mis compañeros del Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable: Rafael Cantera, Flavio Pazos, Maria José Ferreiro, Cristina Parada, Diego Silvera, Giorgina Bachino y Pablo Soto por haberme recibido de maravilla y haber contribuido de múltiples formas durante la fase final de la tesis.

A mis amigos de la SUBDYA: Soledad Astrada, Andrea Toledo, Paola Bianchimano, Santiago Ruiz, Florencia Palacios y Dario Tejera, por sus siempre buenos consejos y debate de ideas científicas y pedestres.

A mis colegas y amigos con quienes siempre he podido tener discusiones abiertas y enriquecedoras por haberme enseñado y prestado tantas cosas de forma tan generosa: Flavio Zolessi, Juan Pablo Tosar, Gonzalo Aparicio, Florencia Rammauro, Natalia Olivero.

A todo el Grupo Latinoamericano de LLC (LAG-CLL).

A todos mis colegas y amigos de Biologia Estructural.

A Thaïs Souto-Padron por tanta enseñanza y generosidad durante mi pasantía en la UFRJ.

A Sabina Victoria y Karen Perelmutter por la paciencia y su contínuo apoyo en el tobogan de la citometría de flujo.

A Marcela Díaz y Tabaré de los Campos por su contínuo apoyo durante el trabajo de microscopía y análisis de imagenes.

A John Brunzell por su generosidad con el anticuerpo 5d2.

A los desarrolladores y comunidad de ${\rm L\!AT}_{\rm E} {\rm Xpor}$ hacer de la escritura y ensamblado de la tesis un aprendizaje más y un divertido paseo por el código.

A Ariel Chaparro.

A la comunidad de R/Bioconductor por desarrollar las herramientas libres y de código abierto que utilicé durante la tesis, y por el continuo apoyo.

Agradecimientos

Anexos

Leukemia (2014), 1–11 © 2014 Macmillan Publishers Limited All rights reserved 0887-6924/14 www.nature.com/leu

ww.nature.com/leu

ORIGINAL ARTICLE Activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway by microRNA-22 results in CLL B-cell proliferation

F Palacios^{1,2}, C Abreu¹, D Prieto¹, P Morande¹, S Ruiz³, T Fernández-Calero⁴, H Naya⁴, G Libisch⁵, C Robello⁵, Al Landoni⁶, R Gabus⁶, G Dighiero⁶ and P Oppezzo^{1,2}

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is characterized by accumulation of clonal B cells arrested in GO/G1 stages that coexist, in different proportions, with proliferative B cells. Understanding the crosstalk between the proliferative subsets and their milieu could provide clues on CLL biology. We previously identified one of these subpopulations in the peripheral blood from unmutated patients that appears to be a hallmark of a progressive disease. Aiming to characterize the molecular mechanism underlying this proliferative behavior, we performed gene expression analysis comparing the global mRNA and microRNA expression of this leukemic subpopulation, and compared it with their quiescent counterparts. Our results suggest that proliferation of this fraction depend on microRNA-22 overexpression that induces phosphatase and tensin homolog downregulation and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathway activation. Transfection experiments demonstrated that mik-22 overexpression in CLL B cells switches on PI3K/AKT, pathway could be triggered by microenvironment signals like CD40 ligand/interleukin-4 and, more importantly, that this regulatory loop is also present in lymph nodes from progressive unmutated patients. Altogether, these results underline the key role of PI3K/AKT pathway in the generation of the CLL proliferative pool and provide additional rationale for the usage of PI3K

Leukemia advance online publication, 10 June 2014; doi:10.1038/leu.2014.158

INTRODUCTION

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is characterized by accumulation of clonal mature B lymphocytes.¹ Recent evidence indicates that disease evolution could depend on the relative balance between an accumulative pool (guiescent fraction (QF)) and a smaller proliferative fraction (PF).² Proliferative events occur in lymph nodes (LN) and bone marrow (BM), where leukemic cells undergo favorable proliferative conditions through interaction with the microenvironment.

As several endogenous stimuli in CLL microenvironment were shown to activate different kinases, a variety of novel kinase inhibitors have been designed. In the case of CLL, these mainly include inhibitors of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and Bruton tyrosine kinase that have generated significant promise.³⁴ Moreover, microRNAs Jaya key role in the pathogenesis and progression of human cancers.³⁵ In CLL, a microRNA signature was found to be associated with prognosis and disease progression.⁴

QF and PF differ in terms of expression of several molecules, including CCL22,⁵ CCL3 or CCL4 chemokines, CD38 (ref.7) and CD49d⁸ progression markers, apoptosis regulators like Survivin⁹ or proliferation markers such as Ki-67 and c-myc¹⁰ as well as the p27^{Kbp1} (p27), a cell cycle regulator.^{10–11} Different CLL proliferative fractions have been isolated and characterized by studying different molecule markers like CD38 (ref.12) or CD5/CXCR4 molecules.¹³ We first reported that leukemic cells obtained from peripheral blood (PB) blood (PB) of progressive unmutated (UM) cases express high levels of the mutagenic enzyme activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID).¹⁴ As its expression results from signals received in activated secondary lymphoid organs, we investigated whether tumoral cells expressing AID in PB correspond to proliferative cells recently egressed from proliferating centers.¹⁴ Our results showed that AID expression is mainly restricted to a CLL subset ongoing class switch recombination process and, interestingly, that the presence of this subpopulation was associated with proliferative and anti-apoptotic expression markers and correlated with a poorer clinical outcome.^{10,15}

In this work, we characterized the genomic expression profile (GEP) of the PF and QF in the same patients and compared the global mRNA and microRNA expression between both subsets. Our results suggest that the proliferative behavior of this subpopulation appears to depend on microRNA-22 overexpression that, following phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) downregulation, results in activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway. Finally, we propose that a similar regulatory loop could be present in the leukemic clone in proliferating centers of progressive UM CLL patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient samples

PB was obtained from 22 patients with a typical CLL diagnosis (Matutes score of 4 or 5).¹⁶ Patients were segregated into the following. (1) The progressive group (12 patients) defined by UM immunoglobulin V_H gene

¹Recombinant Protein Unit, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Montevideo, Uruguay; ²Immunobiology Department, School of Medicine, Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay; ¹Department of Neurodevelopmental Biology, Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable, Montevideo, Uruguay; ⁴Bioinformatics Unit, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Montevideo, Uruguay; ⁴Molecular Biology Unit, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Montevideo, Uruguay; ⁴Bioinformatics Unit, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Montevideo, Uruguay; ⁴Molecular Biology Unit, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Montevideo, Uruguay; ⁴Biology and Bone Marrow Transplantation, Hospital Maciel, Montevideo, Uruguay. Correspondence: Dr P Oppezzo, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Unit of Recombinant Protein, Mataojo 2020, Montevideo 11400, Uruguay.

E-mail: poppezzo@pasteur.edu.uy

npg

Received 29 January 2014; revised 6 May 2014; accepted 7 May 2014; accepted article preview online 14 May 2014

MiR-22 regulates CLL proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway F Palacios et al

(lgV₄) profile, AID and lipoprotein lipase expression at the mRNA level and presence in PB of at least 2% of CLL B cells ongoing class switch recombination process to IgG, as previously shown by us.¹⁰ This progressive group was characterized clinically by highly progressive disease, rapid lymphocyto doubling time (1 year), lymphocytosis > to 50000/mm³ and FCR treatment indicated before 3 years after CLL debut. Of these 12 patients, 4 (05, 60, 07 and 11 in Table 1) were studied following fludarabine and cyclophosphamide treatment (FC), at the moment of relapse. For the other 8 patients, the sample was obtained previous to any treatment. (2) The indolent group (10 patients included mutated VH cases, negative for lipoprotein lipase and AID molecular markers and absence of IgG subset in PB. Regarding clinical dat, these cases displayed a low lymphocytosis, low lymphocyte doubling time (> 2 years) and absence of followed at the Hespite TS years. Clinical and molecular characterization of all these patients (numbers 07, 08 and 12, Table 1). All patients were obtained from 3 UM CLL patients (numbers 07, 08 and 12, Table 1). All patients were double the Helsink Declaration.

MicroRNA and mRNA array

npg

2

MICLONIVA and TINIVA array Microarray procedures. Total RNA used to perform the array for mRNA and microRNA on CLL B cells was isolated from 0.5–1 × 10⁶ cells using mirVana isolation kit (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA, USA). The mRNA analysis was performed using a 4 × 44K Whole Human Genome Oligo-Microarray (G4112F, Agilent Technologies, Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA), in a two-color design interropating 41 000 unique human genes. Upregulated and downregulated genes (showing P<0.01) in PF relative to QF were used in an ontology analysis. Four biological dye swap replicates were performed. Microarray (G4470B, Agilent Technologies, Inc.), one-color platform containing 470 human miRNA probes according to the manufacturer's guidelines.

Microarray data analysis. Data analysis was accomplished using 'R'/ Bioconductor (webmaster@bioconductor.org; Hosting provided by Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center)^{1,7} Probes were flagged for filtering considering saturation, signal above background and uniformity. For microRNA and mRNA analysis, probes that had more than one replicate flagged were eliminated. Arrays were background corrected using normexp. Signal intensity was standardized across arrays via quantile normalization. Normalization was performed within and between arrays using Loess and Aquantile methods, respectively. Differential expression was assayed using the limma software and the ontology analysis conducted with GOHyperGAII function. Arrays analyses are available in GEO database (accession number GSE3270).

The mRNA and microRNA analysis expression by reverse transcription-PCR and quantitative PCR (Q-PCR). RNA isolation, reverse transcription-PCR and Q-PCR were carried out as previously described.¹⁰ Q-PCR evaluating fold change expression of mRNAs was performed in CLL samples (01-08 of Table 1) in order to confirm the GEP. For microRNAs, PCR analyses were performed as previously described.¹⁸ Array studies relating microRNA expression levels were assessed in four additional cases (04-08 CLLs in Table 1) to the samples used in the GEP study (01-04 in Table 1). The primers used for all reactions are provided in Supplementary Table S1.

Cell sorting studies and flow cytometry analysis

Isolation of CLL peripheral blood mononuclear cells from PB and LN, cytometry analysis and sorting experiments using the MoFlo cell sorter (Beckman Coulter, Buenos Aires, Argentina) were performed as previously described.¹⁰ The antibodies used are reported in Supplementary Table S2. In the case of the 12 progressive CLL patients, two fractions were isolated: one expressing exclusively membrane IgM (OF) and a minority fraction expressing either IgM plus IgG or exclusively IGG (PF). Purity of isolated subpopulations assessed by flow cytometry was >98%. Isolated subsets were also evaluated for CD5 and Ki-67 expression markers, AID mRNA expression and clonal IgV, rearrangement.

Confocal microscopy

This study was performed as previously described.¹⁹ Briefly, after incubation for 1 h at room temperature with mouse anti-human PTEN (1:20), rabbit anti-FOXD1a (1:00), goat anti-Survivin (1:100) or mouse antip27 (1:1600), washings were performed and incubation was then proceeded with anti-mouse Alexa 488 (1:2000), anti-abbit Alexa 546

CLL	Diagnostic date / Binet stage	Sample date/ Binet stage	Lymphocyte count at sampling x 10 ³ /µl	VDJ rearrangement ^a	FISH ^b	CD38% ^c	LPL (Q-PCR)	AID (Q-PCR)	lgG ⁽⁺⁾ subset (%) ^d	lgG ⁽⁺⁾ / Ki-67 ⁽⁺⁾ subset (%)	Disease- related death
01	2002/A	2003/C	128	Um - VH1-02	del 11q	38	(+)	(+)	5.2	3.9	Yes
02	2000/B	2010/B	220	Um - VH1-69*01	del 17p	16	(+/-)	(+)	3.2	3.0	Yes
03	2009/A	2009/A	54	Um - VH2-5*10	Normal	46	(+)	(+)	3.8	3.0	Yes
04	2005/A	2010/B	72	Um - VH1-69*01	Normal	19.5	(+)	(+)	4.1	2.5	Alive
05	2009/A	2011/B	140	Um - VH2-5*10	del 17p	36	(+/-)	(+)	3.3	1.5	No
06	2008/B	2010/B	170	Um - VH3-48*03	del 11q	22.5	(+)	(+)	5.0	3.2	Yes
07	2010/B	2010/B	130	Um - VH3-30*04	Tris 12	45.5	(+)	(+)	3.7	3.0	Yes
08	2011/B	2011/C	48	Um - VH3-11*01	Normal	1.9	(+/-)	(+)	2.5	1.7	Yes
09	2011/A	2011/A	105	Um - VH1-2*02	Normal	2.8	(+)	(+)	2.4	0.5	Alive
10	2012/A	2012/A	130	Um - VH1-69*01	Normal	46.5	(+)	(+/-)	3.5	0.3	Alive
11	2012/B	2012/B	160	Um - VH1-69*01	Normal	26.2	(+)	(+/-)	2.2	0.7	Alive
12	2005/A	2012/C	98	Um - VH4–34	Normal	3.9	(+)	(+)	3.2	2.7	Yes
13	2011/A	2011/A	14	Mut - VH3-48*02	N/D	N/D	(-)	(-)	Neg	Neg	Alive
14	2011/A	2011/A	8.9	Mut - VH1-03	del 13q	4.5	(-)	(-)	Neg	Neg	Alive
15	2011/A	2012/A	12	Mut - VH4–59*01	Normal	N/D	(-)	(-)	Neg	Neg	Alive
16	2010/A	2011/A	54.3	Mut - VH3-9*01	Normal	14	(-)	(–)	Neg	Neg	Alive
17	2008/A	2010/A	24.2	Mut - VH1-18*1	Normal	7.8	(-)	(–)	Neg	Neg	Alive
18	2012/A	2012/A	10.0	Mut - VH4-59*1	Normal	3.5	(-)	(–)	Neg	Neg	Alive
19	2012/A	2012/A	26.7	Mut - VH1-2*04	del 13q	N/D	(-)	(-)	Neg	Neg	Alive
20	2012/B	2012/B	21.9	Mut - VH3-23	Normal	32	(-)	(-)	Neg	Neg	Yes
21	2012/A	2012/A	17.9	Mut - VH3-48*02	Normal	8.9	(-)	(-)	Neg	Neg	Alive
22	2010/A	2012/A	6.5	Mut - VH6-1*01	Normal	N/D	(-)	(-)	Neg	Neg	Alive

Abbreviations: AID, activation-induced cytidine deaminase; CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; FISH, fluorescence *in situ* hybridization; lgG immunoglobulin G; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; N/D, not determined; Neg, negative; Q-PCR, quantitative PCR. ¹Unmutated (WUM) patients display <2% difference with the germline gene, whereas \geq % difference defines mutated (WUT) patients. ¹⁶FISH studies: ² freesults observed by cytometry assays using CD38 cutoff of 30%. ⁴Intracytoplasmic cytometry analysis of IgM and IgG subpopulations, Neg is \leq to 1% of IgG⁽⁺⁾ CLL B cells.

Leukemia (2014) 1-11

© 2014 Macmillan Publishers Limited

(1:1000), anti-goat Alexa 633 (1:1000) and anti-mouse phycoerythrin, respectively, for 1 h at room temperature. Nuclear staining with 4',6diamidino-2-phenylindole or propidium iodide (0.1 µg/ml) was performed. For antibody details see Supplementary Table S2.

The microRNA transfections and CLL B-cell stimulation. We transfected peripheral blood mononuclear cells of CLL patients with miR-22, antagomiR-22 or irrelevant miR conjugated to Cy3 fluorophore using lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY, USA). Penipheral blood mononuclear cells (2×10^{9} were resuspended in Opti-MKMI I (Invitrogen) and transfected with 50 nM of microRNA and 5 µ/Iml of lipofectamine. After 6h, the cells were washed and cultured in RPMI-1640 media (Invitrogen) supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum and evaluated by flow yctometry and/or confocal microscopy at 24 hf or PTEN and p27 protein or 48 h for Survivin and Ki-67 molecules. Transfection efficiency was evaluated by flow yctometry analysis using a Cy3 fluorophore incorporated at the C3' position of the synthesized oligos (miR-22, antagomiR 22 and irrelevant miR, see Supplementary Table S1). Only experiments with highest transfection efficiency, ranged between 75 and 98%, were evaluated. Activation with human soluble CD40 ligand (Preprotech, Mexico City, Mexico) and Interleukin-4 (IL-4; Preprotech) was performed for 4 days at 5 µg/mI and 5 ng/mI, respectively. Samples were taken for RNA extraction, flow yctometry and confocal microscopy at 20 and ycis.

Statistical analyses

Comparison of different mRNA gene expression from QF and PF of the same patient was evaluated by Q-PCR using either paired Wilcoxon signed rank test or two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-test. For protein-level MiR-22 regulates CLL proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway F Palacios et al npg

evaluation of PTEN, AKT, pAKT^{Thr008}, FOXO1, Survivin, p.27 and Ki-67, a paired Wilcoxon signed rank test was performed. Variables with P-values of <0.05 were considered to be significant. All analyses were done using GraphPad Prism, version 4.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). For microarray data analysis, statistical significance (P <0.05) was calculated using Student's t-test followed by Benjamini–Hochberg false discovery rate correction on GeneSpring GX11.02. software (Agilent Technologies). Inc.).

RESULTS

Isolation of proliferative and quiescent CLL subsets in progressive UM CLL patients

Clinical and molecular characterization of CLL patients included in this study are provided in Table 1. Fluorescence in situ hybridization status in our cohort does not correspond to a classical series of CLL patients, as reported by Dohner *et al.*²⁰ because our study focused in the comparison of highly progressive patients on one side and highly indolent patients on the other side. Eighty UM CLL cases were studied by flow cytometry to determine the frequency of the PF characterized by ongoing class switch recombination and AID mRNA expression. We found that 15% (12 out of 80 analyzed CLLs) exhibited this subpopulation, ranging between 1 and 3% of the total leukemic clone after surface Ig labeling. A representative case displaying the characterization of the QF and the PF is shown in Figure 1. The QF and the PF were defined as IgM⁺/CD5⁺/KI-67^{high}/AID⁺,



Figure 1. Proliferative and quiescent CLL fractions in a progressive UM CLL patient. (a–c) Representative flow cytometry profile from CLL patient number 03. (a) Surface expression of IgM and IgG CLL B cells and final sorter decision. R1is positive IgM and R2 is positive IgG surface markers. (b) Surface expression of IgG/CDS CLL B cells. (c) Intracytoplasmic expression of NeTA expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), quiescent and proliferative fractions of patient 03. Glycraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) was used as internal control. It is shown that AID expression predominates within the proliferative substat. (e) LL patient-specific μ and γ transcripts were amplified by reverse transcription-PCR (R1-PCR). The same clonal VH rearrangement was substantiated by sequence analysis.

© 2014 Macmillan Publishers Limited

Leukemia (2014) 1-11

MiR-22 regulates CLL proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway F Palacios *et al*

respectively, and both present the same clonal IgV_H rearrangement (Figures 1a–e). Cell sorter decision to isolate IgM⁺ from IgG⁺ cells is depicted in Figure 1a. Finally, to fully characterize both subsets we carried out GEP of the mRNA and microRNA molecules expressed by them.

Transcriptome and miRNome analysis of the CLL proliferative fraction suggest a role for an activated PI3K/AKT pathway To investigate the mechanisms involved in CLL proliferation, we

Io investigate the mechanisms involved in CLL proliferation, we evaluated the differential microRNA expression profiles of PF and QF isolated from four CLL cases (Table 1). Expression analysis of array studies followed by Student's r-test and Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate correction displayed six microRNAs as differentially expressed (*P* ≤ 0.05). MicroRNAs, miR-22, miR-107 and miR-15b were overexpressed in the PF, whereas the microRNAs, miR-26a, miR-29a and miR-150 were downregulated (Figure 2a). The microRNAs upregulated in the PF were confirmed by Q-PCR in 8 CLL sol-04 and 07-10; Figure 2b).

The mRNA GEP was also performed in the isolated PF and QF of patients 01–04 in Table 1. Our study showed a significant number of affected genes grouped in different clusters like cell activation, response to stimulus and stress and others (see Figure 2c). For a complete list of up- and downregulated genes in the PF, see Supplementary Table S3. After stringent guality control steps, we proceeded to perform gene ontology analysis to better define the different gene pathways involved in the PF. Despite the fact that these data were obtained in only four patients and they should be cautiously interpreted, the results showed that the PI3K/AKT pathway appeared to play a major role in this subset (Figure 2d and Supplementary Table S4). Among the most upregulated genes in the PF concerning PI3K/AKT pathway, we found classical cell cycle activators like Cyclin D2 (CCND2) and mitogen-activated protein kinase 1 (MAPK1), key anti-apoptotic molecules like BCL2A1, Survivin and proteins implicated in cells proliferation and migration like FYN, Talin-1 and Paxillin. In addition, PF displays low expression of tumor suppressor genes like PTEN and cell cycle regulator genes as p27 and the transcription factor FOXO1 (Figure 2e). Q-PCR of these genes was performed in order to confirm GEP analysis (Supplementary Table S5).

Interestingly, recent evidence demonstrated that miR-22 controls the signaling kinetics of PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway in human cell lines and regulates this cascade²¹ As AKT pathway is a promising target for CLL treatment,²² we investigated the molecular mechanism of miR-22 overexpression and its putative consequences on the AKT signaling in CLL proliferation.

The miRNA-22 is associated with PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway activation, Survivin overexpression and p27 downregulation

In this section we explored whether the proliferative behavior of the CLL PF could be associated to miR-22 overexpression and regulation of the PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway. We evaluated PTEN expression at the mRNA and protein levels and the total AKT expression in its basal and phosphorylated form (pAKT-^{transe}), which is a hallmark of the PI3K/AKT pathway activation. We also evaluated nuclear or cytosolic localization of the transcription factor FOXO1 and assessed Survivin and p27 protein expression levels.

Survivin and p27 protein expression levels. Results showed that in the PF there is a threefold overexpression of miR-22 and PTEN mRNA and a twofold underexpression of PTEN mRNA when compared with its quiescent counterpart. Significant statistical differences are shown in Figure 3a. In line with these results, significantly increased PTEN protein is visualized on the CLL B cells corresponding to the QF when compared with the PF of six CLL cases. Figure 3a depicts these results for CLL 06 patient.

As PTEN is a natural negative regulator of PI3K signaling, we investigated the expression of AKT in its basal and phosphorylated forms. Results showed a significant increase of the pAKT^{-Thr308} form in the PF compared with their quiescent counterpart from seven patients. In contrast, no significant differences were found in both fractions from the same CLL cases when total AKT was analyzed. A representative case (CLL 02) after flow cytometry analysis of pAKT Th³⁰⁸ is depicted in Figure 3b. As AKT activity is associated with nuclear export and cytosolic degradation of FoxO proteins,^{52,34} we investigated whether high phosphorylation of AKT should result in FOXO1 inactivation. Statistical analysis of total FOXO1 protein showed that cytoplasmic expression of FOXO1 in the PF is significantly increased when compared with the QF. As shown in Figure 3c, FOXO1 displays a homogeneous nuclear localization in the QF that contrasts with the predominant cytoplasmic localization in the PF.

In CLL, p27 (ref.25) and Survivin⁹ have been implicated in cell cycle arrest and survival, respectively. As both proteins are downstream of the PTEV/AKT/FOV0 pathway,^{6,6,27} we reasoned that expression analysis of these molecules could help explain the differential behavior between quiescent and proliferative CLL subsets. Our results showed that p27 expression is mainly visualized in the QF (Figure 3d). In addition, microscopy studies of the Survivin molecule showed a clear expression of this apoptotic inhibitor in the PF that contrasted with low or absent expression of this molecule in the QF (Figure 3e). Overall, these results suggest that the proliferative behavior of

Overall, these results suggest that the proliferative behavior of this PF may result from an activated PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway that in turn switches on cell survival signals like Survivin expression and downregulates cell cycle arrest proteins like p27.

The miR-22 regulates PTEN, p27 and Survivin protein expression in CLL B cells

Previous results in CLL suggest that leukemic B cells from patients with progressive disease display stronger AKT pathway activation.²⁸ As the results presented above suggest that miR-22 could be implicated in CLL B-cell proliferation as well as in AKT activation, we investigated whether inhibition of miR-22 might result in upregulation of PTEN and p27 molecules. To examine this possibility, we first evaluated peripheral blood mononuclear cells of the 22 CLL cases (Table 1), the phosphorylation status of AKT on Thr³⁰⁸ and the PTEN expression levels by flow extensions is CLL b cells (Figure 4a). This experiment was used to select the five extreme cases displaying highest phosphorylated AKT signals and lower PTEN expression (CLLs 01, 03, 04, 09 and 10 in Table 1) in order to proceed with the microRNA transfection assays. Our results showed that after antagomiR-22 transfection, PTEN protein levels were increased at similar expression values of indolent CLLs (Figure 4b). PTEN expression in a representative case transfected with the antagomiR-22 and the irrelevant microRNA control is shown in Figure 4c. We then evaluated the expression of p27 protein in PB from five progressive and five indolent CLL patients (first section of Figure 4d). Interestingly, after antagomiR-22 transfection of progressive CLL cases (01, 03, 04, 09 and 10 from Table 1), a significant increase in p27 protein level was observed when compared with untransfected and with irrelevant miR controls (Figure 4d). The p27 expression in a representative CLL sample is depicted in Figure 4f. Finally, we evaluated the assumption that miR-22 could also be implicated in Survivin expression through AKT pathway. To this aim, we first evaluated Survivin basal expression in the PB of indolent and progressive CLL cases. As previously described,⁹ only some responders to CD40 stimulation patients express Survivin in PB (first section Figure 4e). Then, we transfected CLL B cells from progressive cases (patients 01, 04, 08, 09 and 10 in Table 1), previously assessed as responders to CD40 ligand (CD40L; data not shown) and analyzed Survivin expression by confocal microscopy. Our results suggest that after transfection with miR-22, Survivin expression is upregulated at significant levels in the evaluated patients (Figure 4e). Upregulated Survivin displays a clear cytosolic localization, contrasting with low or no expression on irrelevant

npg



Figure 2. Comparative microRNA and mRNA gene expression analysis between proliferative and quiescent CLL fractions. (a) Differential microRNA expression of PF and QF. Relative fold change in the expression of miR-22, miR15b, miR-107, miR-26a, mir-29a and miR-150 in the PF. (b) Q-PCR of miR-22, miR15b and miR-107 expression in PF and QF of CLL B cells isolated from patients 01–04 in Table 1. The miR-22 and miR-15b were significantly overexpressed in the proliferative fraction (P = 0.012 and P = 0.032, respectively, Wilcoxon matched pairs test), but no significant differences were found for miR-107. The most differentially overexpressed when comparing the quiescent and the proliferative CLL fractions. (c) Analysis of mRNA expression profile. Ontology classes with an overrepresentation in our data set are shown. (d) Gene-set enrichment analysis (GSEA) for AKT pathway. Microarray data were analyzed using GSEA software to verify whether AKT gene set was significantly enriched in one of the phenotypes. AKT gene set was enriched in proliferative fraction on the left and those better correlating with quiescent fraction on the right. Each vertical blue line represents one of the AKT pathway. Energies on the expression value within the rank ordering of all genes. The further oright tooright position of each line indicates the relative position of the gene expression value within the rank ordering of all genes. The cumulative enrichment scores includes 17 840 genes, in genes, in the AKT pathway. Relative expression levels for genes in the shown in green, reaching a maximum enrichment at a score of 0.55. (e) Heatmap representing relative proliferative/quiescent gene expression in greens in the AKT pathway. Relative expression levels were obtained from microarray data analysis. Red represents low gene expression in PF relative to gene expression in quiescent cells, whereas green representing relative proliferative/quiescent gene expression in PF relative to gene expression in quiescent cells. Color scale is provided at

miR-transfected or untransfected CLL B cells (representative case in Figure 4f).

Altogether, these results indicate that miR-22 could play an important role in the proliferative behavior of CLL B cells by preventing PTEN tumor suppressor protein expression as well as the cell cycle inhibitor p27 and increasing Survivin expression.

CD40 engagement induces miR-22 expression, AKT activation, Survivin expression and CLL proliferation

To investigate the molecular mechanism that could trigger the PI3K/AKT cascade favoring CLL proliferation, we evaluated whether CD40L/IL-4 could be at the origin of this pathway through miR-22 overexpression. Thus, we stimulated CD40L responder patients (cases 01, 04, 09 and 10 in Table 1) with CD40L/IL-4 and evaluated miR-22, pAKT^{Thr308} and Survivin protein expression. Results showed that CD40L/L-4 activation results in a miR-22-specific overexpression, whereas no or low effects were evidenced when miR1201 or miR15b expression were tested as controls (Figure 5a and Supplementary Figure 51). These studies also showed increased levels of the pAKT^{Thr308} and Survivin

© 2014 Macmillan Publishers Limited

protein compared with unstimulated samples (Figures 5b and c), suggesting that CD40 engagement switches on the PI3K/AKT pathway and Survivin expression in CLL.

To confirm the relevance of miRNA-22 upregulation on PTEN/AKT pathway and CLL proliferation, we investigated whether Ki-67 proliferation marker could be increased after miR-22 transfection on leukemic cells. Thus, purified leukemic cells from eight CLL patients, four indolent and four progressor patients responsive to CD40 stimulation (CLL 01, 04, 09, 10, 13, 16, 20 and 22 in Table 1) were stimulated with CD40/Lt4 following transfection with miR-22 and an irrelevant microRNA. Results showed a significant increase in Ki-67 expression following miR-22 transfection compared with the experinental controls (Figures 5d and e). Interestingly, transfection with miR-22 and CD40 engagement appears to act in a synergistic way resulting in increased amounts of Ki-67 expression that contrasts with he absence of effect with irrelevant microRNA transfection in CD40// LL4-stimulated CLL B cells (Figures 5d and e). In addition, the results showed that the inhibition of miR-22 by AmiR-22 transfection during CD40L/LL4 stimulation decreased proliferation in CLL B cells. This evidence strongly supports the hypothesis that miR-22 contributes to CLL proliferation (Figure 5e). Although preliminary, these results

npg



Figure 3. Characterization of miR22, PTEN, AKT and FOXO1 molecule expression levels in quiescent (Q) and proliferative (P) cells from progressive UM CLL cases. (a) The miR-22 and PTEN mRNA expression and PTEN protein levels. Fold change expression of miR-22 and PTEN mRNA is underexpressed (mean = 2.7 ± 1.2 , p = 0.032 and mean = -2.5 ± 0.6 , P = 0.021, respectively.) PTEN protein expression in CPTEN protein level by CPCR in six CLL cases. (a) The miR-22 is overexpressed in the PF Jand PTEN mRNA is underexpressed (mean = 2.7 ± 1.2 , p = 0.032 and mean = -2.5 ± 0.6 , P = 0.021, respectively.) PTEN protein expression in CPTEN protein levels were observed in the PF when compared with their quiescent counterpart (41.3 ± 7.0 vs 52.8 ± 7.2 respectively, P = 0.017, Wilcoxon matched pairs test). MFRs, mean flucorescence intensities. Representative image of confocal microscopy showing PTEN expression in QF and PF from CLL 06. Scale bar: $S_{\rm UR}$ of total total AKT protein expression evaluated by flow cytometry. It is shown that low expression in QF and PF from CLL 06. Scale bar: $S_{\rm UR}$ of total AKT protein expression evaluated by flow cytometry in Q (open circle) and P (black triangle) from seven CLL cases (samples 01–07 in Table 1). Results showed a significant increase of the pAKT^{TM-308} form in the PF (mean = 53.65 \pm 10.64) when compared with their quiescent counterpart (mean = 34.29 \pm 5.0; P = 0.078, Wilcoxon matched pairs test). Representative pAKT^{TM-308} form of the CPI loads triangle) from seven CLL cases (samples 01–07 in Table 1). Results showed a significant increase of the pAKT^{TM-308} form in the PF (mean = 53.65 \pm 10.64) when compared with their quiescent counterpart (mean = 34.29 \pm 5.0; P = 0.057, Wilcoxon matched pairs test). Representative pAKT^{TM-308} form of the CPI lual localization of FOXO1. Specific fluorescence intensity in nucleus and cytoplasm was used to obtain cytopalism mas and to for CAL 0.20 showing MFIs in the PF (black peak) (P (white peak) and isotype control

suggest that CD40 engagement could lead to CLL proliferation through miR-22 upregulation followed by PI3K/AKT activation and Survivin overexpression.

Proliferative behavior of CLL B cells from lymph nodes is associated with absence of PTEN expression, activation of PI3K/ AKT pathway, downregulation of p27 and high expression of Survivin molecules

We assumed that the proliferative behavior of this PF resulted from downregulation of the PTEN molecule and activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway that in turn induced cell proliferation underlined by downregulation of p27 and high expression of Survivin proteins. To examine this hypothesis, we studied three different LNs from UM and progressive CLLs by isolating Ki-67-positive and -negative fractions. Next, we evaluated PTEN expression, PJ3K/AKT activation (pAKT^{Thr308}) and Survivin and p27 protein expression in both fractions.

Expression; round activation (part) and survival and p27 protein expression in both fractions. The results showed 7-10% Ki-67 positive cells in the three analyzed LNs. Flow cytometry analysis confirmed that almost all of this Ki-67 subset corresponded to the leukemic CDS⁺/CD19⁺ B cells (data not shown). R1 and R2 depict the Ki-67-negative and the Ki-67-positive cells, respectively (Figure 6a). PTEN expression in

Leukemia (2014) 1-11

© 2014 Macmillan Publishers Limited



MiR-22 regulates CLL proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway

relevant mik 20 **relevant** mik 21 **relevant** mik 22 **transfected relevant** mik 22 **transfected relevant** mik 22 **transfection regulates** PTEN, p27 and Survivin expression levels. (a) Higher phosphorylated AKT^{-Thr308} Elvels are observed in 12 progressive cases (mean = 44 ± 6.6 obtained from samples 01–12 from Table 1) when compared with 10 indolent CLL cases (mean = 24 ± 4.8 obtained from samples 13–22; P = 0.0059) after evaluation by flow cytometry. MFIs, mean fluorescence intensities. (b) Lower PTEN protein expression is observed by flow cytometry in progressive CLL cases (01–10 from Table 1) when compared with indolent CLL cases (11–22 from Table 1). PTEN protein expression is also depicted after transfection with antagomiR-22 (mean = 3.84 ± 0.48), whereas no differences were observed when these same cells were transfected with intrelevant mIR (mean = 1.67 ± 0.33) and with UT control (mean = 1.62 ± 0.23) that did not display significant liferences between them (P = 0.331). (c) Representative histogram of PTEN expression in CLL B cells transfected with intregomiR-22 (mean = 3.84 ± 0.48), whereas no differences between 0 them (P = 0.331). (a) Representative histogram of PTEN expression in CLL B cells with antagomiR-22 (mean = 3.84 ± 0.48), whereas no differences between 0 them (P = 0.331). (c) Representative histogram of PTEN expression in CLL B cells transfected with intrelevant mIR (mean = 1.67 ± 0.33) and with UT control microscopy in five progressive CLL cases (01, 0.3, 0.4, 0.40 9 and 10 from Table 1). Statistical analysis confirmed that transfection with antagomiR-22 in patients 01, 0.3, 0.4, 90 and 10 from Table 1. Survivin expression and UT cells. Cortols, mean = 9.34 ± 5.8 for antagomiR-22, mean = 61.4 ± 3.37 for irrelevant miR and mean = 52.1 ± 2.3 for UT cells). A typical immunoreactive pattern of p27 protein, similar to tose observed for the quiescent fraction previously described in Figures 3 and 4, was found. (e) Survivin protein expression evaluated by confocal microscopy in six

R1 exhibited a similar profile to that of the QF obtained from UM CLL patients, whereas low or no expression was found in fraction R2 (Figure 6b). In the three analyzed LNs, we found that the Ki-67positive fraction was enriched in cells that express pAKT^{Thr308}, whereas the nonphosphorylated AKT form predominated in the Ki-67-negative fraction (Figure 6c). Interestingly and supporting our initial hypothesis, we found that the R2 fraction expresses high Survivin levels and low or absent p27 expression (Figures 6d and e, respectively)

Despite the fact that we could not study miR-22 expression in these samples because we were unable to obtain enough RNA, we could demonstrate that the PF from different LNs is also associated with low PTEN expression, PI3K/AKT activation, Survivin expression and p27 downregulation. Altogether, these results confirm the importance of the PI3K/AKT pathway in the proliferative subset of CLL and suggest that a similar regulatory loop involving PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway could be relevant in an in vivo scenario in these UM CLL patients.

DISCUSSION

PI3K signaling pathway is a key signaling molecule in the relationship between CLL cells and the microenvironment. It mediates the transmission of signals from membrane receptors such as B-cell receptor, CXCR4 and CD40.²⁰ The main negative regulator of the PI3K/AKT pathway is PTEN,³⁰ whereas another important protein family involved in the AKT signaling are the FoxO transcription factors. When PTEN is active and AKT activity suppressed, FoxO proteins are able to enter the nucleus and upregulate genes such as p27, promoting cell cycle arrest.^{21,31} Overexpression of mIR-22 has been recently proposed to regulate the PTEV/AKT/FOXO.²¹

Leukemia (2014) 1-11



Figure 5. CD40 engagement induces miR-22 expression, activation of AKT pathway, Survivin expression and CLL proliferation. (a) The miR-1201, miR-15b and miR-22 fold change expression of CD40/LI-4-stimulated cells from four CD40 responder patients (CLLs 01, 04, 09 and 10 in Table 1) compared with that of unstimulated ones. (b, c) The pAKr ^{Thra08} and Survivin protein expression evaluated by flow cytometry and confocal microscopy respectively in the same unstimulated (US) and CD40/LI-4-stimulated, CD40 responder patients. MFIs, mean fluorescence intensities. (d) Cell percentage expressing KI-67 marker was evaluated by flow cytometry in CLLB cells from four indolent cases that respond to CD40 stimulation (13, 16, 20 and 22 in Table 1). KI-67 expression was evaluated after CD40/LI-4 stimulation, miR-22 transfection and stimulation with CD40/LI-4 followed by miR-22 or irrelevant miR transfection. C1, unstimulated and untransfected cells. (e) KI-67 expression evaluated by flow cytometry in CLL B cells for four progressive cases. CD40 responder patients, CLLS 01, 04, 09 and 10 in Table 1, were evaluated of KI-67 expression as proliferative marker. Percentage of positive KI-67 CLLB cells was evaluated after CD40/LI-4 stimulation, miR-22 transfection and amBr-22 plus CD40/LI-4 stimulation, antagomiR-22 transfection and antagomir-22 plus CD40/LI-4 stimulation antagomiR-22 transfection and antagomir-22 plus CD40/LI-4 stimulation with core carried out as specificity controls. AntagomiR-22 = AmiR-22 (**) = statistically significant differences (*P*<0.05).



Figure 6. Isolation of Ki-67-positive and -negative fractions from B-cell CLL LNs highlight activation of PTEN/AKT cascade, Survivin expression and downregulation of p27 protein. (a) Representative dot plot of CD19 and Ki-67 protein expression in the LN of an UM CLL patient. R1 and R2 show the gates settled for the sorting of negative and positive Ki-67 cells. (b) PTEN protein expression evaluated by confocal microscopy in Ki-67-negative and -positive cells from a representative LN. Green: PTEN, magenta: DNA. Scale bar: Sµm. (c) Flow cytometry histograms depicting expression of pAKT^{hinade} expression in Ki-67-negative (R1, gray) and Ki-67-positive (R2, black) CLL B cells. (d, e) Characterization of the expression levels of Survivin (left panels) and p27 (right panels) by confocal microscopy in the Ki-67-negative and Ki-67-positive CLL B cells from a representative LN. Scale bar: Sµm.

Understanding the crosstalk between malignant B cells and their milieu could give us new keys on the cellular and molecular biology of CLL.⁶ Our group succeeded in identifying a small PF

associated with a clinical poor outcome in a fraction of UM patients that is characterized by an active class switch recombination process and AID expression.¹⁰ The present work addresses the

Leukemia (2014) 1-11

npg

8

© 2014 Macmillan Publishers Limited

genomic and the molecular characterization of this subset, provides novel information about the proliferative behavior of these leukemic cells and suggests that miR-22 plays a key role in the proliferation mediated by AKT pathway in CLL Genomic characterization at the mRNA and microRNA levels of the PF showed that AKT signaling pathway is active in this leukemic subset and that miR-22 is the most overexpressed microRNA. As previous work suggested that miR-22 regulates the signaling kinetics of PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway²¹ leading to tumor proliferation,^{22,33} we speculated whether a similar pathway could take place in the leukemic PF of these patients. Our results showed that upregulation of miR-22 is associated with low PTEN expression at the mRNA and protein levels, and the pAKT^{Thr30®} form is increased in the PF compared with the QF of the same patients.

increased in the PF compared with the QF of the same patients. Recent work investigated PTEN/AKT signaling in ${\rm CLL},^{34-36}$ bu but Recent work investigated PIEN/AKI signaling in CLL^{-2, 25} but only few evidence concerning FoxO proteins expression in this leukemia is available.^{37,38} As cytoplasmic localization of FoxO proteins is a hallmark of AKT activity.²⁷ we proceeded to evaluate the FOXO1 protein localization in the PF and QF. As reported in other tumoral cells,^{22,39} our results clearly showed that FOXO1 protein was mostly translocated to the cytoplasmic compartment in the PF of UM patients. These results are in agreement with previous evidences linking miR-22 overexpression, inhibition of PTEN, PI3K/AKT pathway activation and cancer proliferation. FoxO proteins are also associated with cell cycle arrest by downregulating the p27 protein.^{23,26,39,41} As mRNA array analysis displayed low and high expression of p27 and Survivin respectively (Figure 3), and as it has been described that p27 is overexpressed in the QF of CLL,^{10,11} we evaluated the differential expression pattern of these proteins as well as whether this expression was related with PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway activation. Results showed that in the PF, p27 protein is downregulated and Survivin molecule overexpressed (Figure 5). Assuming that microenvironment interactions trigger Survivin expression⁹ and also downregulate p27 molecule,⁴² our results suggest that regulation of these two key molecules might be dependent on an activated PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway and play an important role in the leukemic proliferation. Results from transfection experiments with miR-22 and its specific antagomiR favor the view that miR-22 expression could play a role in PI3K/AKT activation through PTEN downregulation and suggest that this pathway is responsible for Survivin overexpression and p27 downregulation. In this line, previous results from Shehata $et al.^{34}$ and Martins $et al.^{43}$ suggest that reconstitution of PTEN activity in CLL is able to counteract the anti-apoptotic and proliferative behavior of AKT signaling.

The proliferating centers from LN and BM support leukemic cell accumulation and favor tumor-growing conditions.² In this sense, our results suggest that, at least in part, CD40 engagement could be responsible for miR-22 overexpression, activation of PTEN/AKT/ Survivin pathway and CLL B-cell proliferation. Supporting these remarks, some reports suggest that CD40L is responsible for the AKT activation signaling,^{47,47} whereas others have demonstrated hat PI3K regulates Survivin through AKT activation.^{46–48} Altogether, these data confirm previous results⁹ showing that the proliferative behavior of some CLL B cells triggered by CD40 engagement is associated with Survivin and Ki-67 expression, but in addition propose that this proliferative potential is dependent on miR-22 overexpression and an activated PI3K/AKT pathway. Finally, the relevance of these data is supported by the *in vivo* results obtained from the LNs of three different UM and progressive CLL cases.

A recent study comparing gene expression profiling of PB to that of LN and BM tumoral cells identified LN as a key site for proliferation.⁴⁹ CLL cells in the LN showed upregulation of gene signatures (E2F, c-MYC and Ki-67 overexpression) indicating B-cell receptor and nuclear factor-xB activation. The proliferative subset (IgG⁺, Ki-67⁺, AID⁺) described by our group displays very similar MiR-22 regulates CLL proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway F Palacios et al



npg

Figure 7. Hypothetical model proposed to explain the proliferative behavior of CLL subsets in UM progressive patients. (1, 2) The miR-22 expression is induced after CD40 engagement following interaction of B-cell CLL with the tumoral microenvironment of secondary lymphoid organs. (3) The miR-22 downregulates PTEN and the PI3K phosphorylates and converts PIP2 to PIP3 that recruits and activates PDK1. (4) PDK1 phosphorylates and activates the threonine protein kinase AKT (pAKT^{-mra80}) that inhibits the activities of the transcription factor FOXOI. (5) Inactivation of FOXOI leads to downregulation of proteins involved in cell-cycle arrest like p27. (6) Activation of PI3K/AKT cascade triggers Survivin expression that contributes to cell progression and proliferation. AKT could also activate the NF-xB cascade that in turn might induce AID expression in the proliferative subset of these UM progressive CLL patients.

markers to those found by Herishanu et al.49 in LN from CLL patients, and unpublished results from our laboratory suggest that this tumoral subset could recently egress toward the PB from a proliferating center in LN or BM. A model aiming to explain the proliferative behavior origin of this PF from progressive UM CLL patients is depicted in Figure 7. In this model, microenvironment signaling triggered by T-dependent signals as CD40L + IL4 could be at the origin of miR-22 overexpression. However, our results cannot exclude the existence of other upstream regulators of this microRNA. In this model, we propose that miR-22 overexpression downregulates PTEN, allowing that PI3K phosphorylates and converts PIP2 to PIP3 that in turn recruits and activates PDK1. Activation of PDK1 phosphorylates and activates the threonine protein kinase AKT (pAKT-Thr308) that inhibits the activities of the transcription factor FOXO1. This inactivation of FOXO1 leads to downregulation of proteins involved in cell-cycle arrest like p27. Furthermore, activation of PI3K/AKT cascade triggers Survivin expression that contributes to cell progression and proliferation. These data are in agreement with recent reports supporting the idea that Survivin acts as a proliferative marker in different hematopoietic cells.⁵⁰⁻⁵² Finally, it is also described that AKT

activates the NF-xB cascade that in turn might induce AID expression in this proliferative subset. Recently, three works by Bar *et al.*²¹ Liu *et al.*³² and Poliseno *et al.*³³ (reviewed in Xiong⁴⁰) have demonstrated that PTEN was a *bone fide* target of miR-22 and that overexpression of this cascade could lead to cell proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway. The fact that this microRNA is only expressed in this small PF could explain why its overexpression was not previously reported in CLL.^{4,53} Previous work suggests that optimal B-cell proliferation requires PI3K/AKT pathway activation (reviewed in Rodon *et al.*⁵⁴) However, activation of the PTEN/AKT/FOMCI cascade by overexpression of miR-22 triggered by CD40 engagement, which in turn regulates p27 and Survivin molecules in CLL, constitutes a novel and original contribution of this work.

Taken together, our data sustain the model of CLL B-cell growth/proliferation and provide conclusive evidence on the role

Leukemia (2014) 1-11

MiR-22 regulates CLL proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway F Palacios et al

of microenvironment interactions in the induction of the

npg

10

proliferative pool in CLL. They also underline the physiological importance of maintaining a stringent regulation of the PI3K/AKT pathway and suggest that Survivin overexpression and p27 downregulation are two faces of the same coin that could play a key role in CLL proliferation. Finally, we propose a new proliferative mechanism involving the regulatory loop miR-22/ PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway that could be relevant in the maintenance of the CLL proliferative subset in progressive and UM CLL patients.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest

ACKNOWI EDGEMENTS

This work was supported by grants from ANII: Fondo Clemente Estable (FCE-7273) and Fondo Maria Viña (FMV-7323). This work was partially funded by Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Argentina, FOCEM (MERCOSUR Structural Convergence Fund), COF 03/11 and CYTED Program. We thank Dr Alfonso Cavota for his help in the microRNA technologies, the Cell Biology Unit of the Institut Pasteur de Montevideo for their technical assistance in cell sorting analysis and Mrs Ivana Faccini for her helpful assistance with the manuscript correction. We also thank the patients with CLL for their cooperation and help in providing invaluable blood samples for this work

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FP, CA, DP, PM and SR performed experiments and collected CLL samples; TF-C, HN, GL and CR performed microarrays and statistical analysis; ANL, GD and RG performed clinical activities and data collection of CLL patients; PO and GD contributed to scientific design and revised the paper; PO and FP designed research, coordinated the study and data analysis and wrote the paper.

REFERENCES

- Dighiero G, Hamblin TJ, Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, Lancet 2008; 371: 1017–1029.
- 2 Caligaris-Cappio F, Bertilaccio MT, Scielzo C. How the microenvironr natural history of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Semin Cancer Biol 2013; 24: 43-48 3 Cho WC. MicroRNAs in cancer - from research to therapy. Biochim Biophys Acta
- 2010; 1805: 209-217. 4 Calin GA, Ferracin M, Cimmino A, Di Leva G, Shimizu M, Wojcik SE et al. A MicroRNA signature associated with prognosis and progression in chronic
- lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med 2005; 353: 1793–1801. 5 Ghia P, Strola G, Granziero L, Geuna M, Guida G, Sallusto F et al. Chronic
- lymphocytic leukemia B cells are endowed with the capacity to attract CD4+, CD40L + T cells by producing CCL22. Eur J Immunol 2002; 32: 1403-1413.
- 6 Burger JA, Ghia P, Rosenwald A, Caligaris-Cappio F. The microenvironment in mature B-cell malignancies: a target for new treatment strategies. *Blood* 2009; 114: 3367-3375.
- 7 Pepper C, Ward R, Lin TT, Brennan P, Starczynski J, Musson M et al. Highly purified CD38+ and CD38- sub-clones derived from the same chronic lymphocytic Leukemia patient have distinct gene expression signatures despite their monoclonal origin. Leukemia 2007; 21: 687–696.
- ucchetto A, Benedetti D, Tripodo C, Bomben R, Dal Bo M, Marconi D et al. CD38/ CD31, the CCL3 and CCL4 chemokines, and CD49d/vascular cell adhesior who can be and a set of the sequential events sustaining chronic lymphocytic leukemia cell survival. *Cancer Res* 2009; **69**: 4001–4009.
- 9 Granziero L, Ghia P, Circosta P, Gottardi D, Strola G, Geuna M et al. Survivin is expressed on CD40 stimulation and interfaces proliferation and apoptosis in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2001; 97: 2777-2783.
- 10 Palacios F, Moreno P, Morande P, Abreu C, Correa A, Porro V et al. High expression of AID and active class switch recombination might account for a more aggressive e in unmutated CLL patients: link with an activated microenvironment in CLL disease. Blood 2010; 115: 4488-4496.
- 11 Sanchez-Beato M, Saez AI, Martinez-Montero JC, Sol Mateo M, Sanchez-Verde L, Villuendas R et al. Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27KIP1 in lymphoid tissue p27KIP1 expression is inversely proportional to the proliferative index. Am J Pathol 1997; 151: 151-160.
- 12 Damle RN, Temburni S, Calissano C, Yancopoulos S, Banapour T, Sison C et al. CD38 expression labels an activated subset within chronic lymphocytic leukemia clones enriched in proliferating B cells. Blood 2007; 110: 3352-3359

- 13 Calissano C. Damle RN, Marsilio S, Yan XJ, Yancopoulos S, Haves G et al. Intraclonal complexity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: fractions enriched in recently born/ divided and older/quiescent cells Mol Med 2011: 17: 1374-1382
- 14 Oppezzo P, Vuillier F, Vasconcelos Y, Dumas G, Magnac C, Payelle-Brogard B et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells expressing AID display a dissociation between class switch recombination and somatic hypermutation. *Blood* 2003; **9**: 9
- 15 Oppezzo P, Dumas G, Lalanne AI, Payelle-Brogard B, Magnac C, Pritsch O et al. Different isoforms of BSAP regulate expression of AID in normal and chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. Blood 2005: 105: 2495-2503.
- Matutes E, Owusu-Ankomah K, Morilla R, Garcia Marco J, Houlihan A, Que TH et al. The immunological profile of B-cell disorders and proposal of a scoring system for the diagnosis of CLL. *Leukemia* 1994; 8: 1640–1645.
 17 Gentleman RC, Carey VJ, Bates DM, Bolstad B, Dettling M, Dudoit S *et al.*
- Bioconductor: open software development for computational biology and bioinformatics. Genome Biol 2004; 5: R80.
- 18 Chen C, Ridzon DA, Broomer AJ, Zhou Z, Lee DH, Nguyen JT et al. Real-time quantification of microRNAs by stem-loop RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 2005; 33: e179.
- 19 Moreno P, Abreu C, Borge M, Palacios F, Morande P, Pegazzano M et al. Lipoprotein lipase expression in unmutated CLL patients is the consequence of a demethylation process induced by the microenvironment. *Leukemia* 2013; 27: 721–725.
 Dohner H, Stilgenbauer S, Benner A, Leupolt E, Krober A, Bullinger L et al.
- Genomic aberrations and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med 2000: 343: 1910-1916.
- 21 Bar N, Dikstein R. miR-22 forms a regulatory loop in PTEN/AKT pathway and modulates signaling kinetics. PLoS One 2010; 5: e10859.
- 22 Herman SE, Gordon AL, Wagner AJ, Heerema NA, Zhao W, Flynn JM et al. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-delta inhibitor CAL-101 shows promising preclinical activity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia by antagonizing intrinsic and extrinsic survival signals. Blood 2010; 116: 2078-2088.
- 23 Stahl M, Dijkers PF, Kops GJ, Lens SM, Coffer PJ, Burgering BM et al. The forkhead transcription factor FoxO regulates transcription of p27Kip1 and Bim in response to IL-2. J Immunol 2002; 168: 5024-5031.
- 24 Medema RH, Kops GJ, Bos JL, Burgering BM. AFX-like Forkhead transcription factors mediate cell-cycle regulation by Ras and PKB through p27kip1. Nature 2000; 404: 782-787.
- 25 Vrhovac R, Delmer A, Tang R, Marie JP, Zittoun R, Ajchenbaum-Cymbalista F. Prognostic significance of the cell cycle inhibitor p27Kip1 in chronic B-cell lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* 1998; **91**: 4694–4700.
- 26 Chakrabarty A, Bhola NE, Sutton C, Ghosh R, Kuba MG, Dave B et al. Trastuzumab-resistant cells rely on a HER2-PI3K-FoxO-survivin axis and are sensitive to PI3K inhibitors, Cancer Res 2013: 73: 1190-1200.
- 27 Greer EL, Brunet A. FOXO transcription factors at the interface between longevity and tumor suppression. Oncogene 2005; 24: 7410-7425. 28 Longo PG, Laurenti L, Gobessi S, Petlickovski A, Pelosi M, Chiusolo P et al. The Akt
- signaling pathway determines the different proliferative capacity of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B-cells from patients with progressive and stable disease. Leukemia 2007: 21: 110-120.
- 29 Longo PG, Laurenti L, Gobessi S, Sica S, Leone G, Efremov DG. The Akt/Mcl-1 pathway plays a prominent role in mediating antiapoptotic signals downstread of the B-cell receptor in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. Blood 2008; 111: 846-855
- 30 Cully M, You H, Levine AJ, Mak TW. Beyond PTEN mutations: the PI3K pathway a an integrator of multiple inputs during tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 2006; 6: 184-192
- 31 Brunet A, Bonni A, Zigmond MJ, Lin MZ, Juo P, Hu LS et al. Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. Cell 1999; 96: 857-868.
- 32 Liu L, Jiang Y, Zhang H, Greenlee AR, Yu R, Yang Q. miR-22 functions a micro-oncogene in transformed human bronchial epithelial cells induced by anti-benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-diol-9,10-epoxide. Toxicol In Vitro 2010; 24: 1168–1175. 33 Poliseno L, Salmena L, Riccardi L, Fornari A, Song MS, Hobbs RM et al.
- Identification of the miR-106b \sim 25 microRNA cluster as a proto-oncogenic PTEN-targeting intron that cooperates with its host gene MCM7 in transformation. Sci Sianal 2010: 3: ra29.
- 34 Shehata M, Schnabl S, Demirtas D, Hilgarth M, Hubmann R, Ponath E et al. Reconstitution of PTEN activity by CK2 inhibitors and interference with the PI3-K/ Akt cascade counteract the antiapoptotic effect of human stromal cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2010; 116: 2513-2521.
- 35 Lupp S, Gumhold C, Ampofo E, Montenarh M, Rother K. CK2 kinase activity but not its binding to CK2 promoter regions is implicated in the regulation of CK2alpha and CK2beta gene expressions. Mol Cell Biochem 2013; 384: 71-82
- 36 Zou ZJ, Zhang R, Fan L, Wang L, Fang C, Zhang LN et al. Low expression level of phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome ten predicts poo prognosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma 2013; 54: 1159-1164.

© 2014 Macmillan Publishers Limited
- 37 Xie L, Ushmorov A, Leithauser F, Guan H, Steidl C, Farbinger J et al. 4 FOXO1 is a tumor suppressor in classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood 2012; 119: 3503–3511
- 38 Essafi M, Baudot AD, Mouska X, Cassuto JP, Ticchioni M, Deckert M. Cell-penetrating TAT-FOXO3 fusion proteins induce apoptotic cell death in leukemic cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* 2011; **10**: 37–46.
- 39 Ho WC, Pikor L, Gao Y, Elliott BE, Greer PA. Calpain 2 regulates Akt-FoxO-p27(Kip1) protein signaling pathway in mammary carcinoma. J Biol Chem 2012; 287: 15458–15465.
- 40 Xiong J. Emerging roles of microRNA-22 in human disease and normal physiology. Curr Mol Med 2012; 12: 247–258.
- Koff A. How to decrease p27Kip1 levels during tumor development. Cancer Cell 2006; 9: 75–76.
- 42 Frenquelli M, Muzio M, Scielzo C, Fazi C, Scarfo L, Rossi C et al. MicroRNA and proliferation control in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: functional relationship between miR-221/222 cluster and p27. Blood 2010; 115: 3949-3959.
 43 Martins LR, Lucio P, Silva MC, Anderes KL, Gameiro P, Silva MG et al. Targeting
- 43 Martins LR, Lucio P, Silva MC, Anderes KL, Gameiro P, Silva MG et al. Targeting CK2 overexpression and hyperactivation as a novel therapeutic tool in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2010; 116: 2724–2731.
- 44 Benson RJ, Hostager BS, Bishop GA. Rapid CD40-mediated rescue from CD95-induced apoptosis requires TNFR-associated factor-6 and PI3K. Eur J Immunol 2006: 36: 2535-2543.
- 45 Tai YT, Li X, Tong X, Santos D, Otsuki T, Catley L et al. Human anti-CD40 antagonist antibody triggers significant antitumor activity against human multiple myeloma. *Cancer Res* 2005; 65: 5898–5906.
- 46 Zhao P, Meng Q, Liu LZ, You YP, Liu N, Jiang BH. Regulation of survivin by PI3 Akt/p7056K1 pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2010; 395: 219–224.

- MiR-22 regulates CLL proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway F Palacios et al
- 47 Asanuma H, Torigoe T, Kamiguchi K, Hirohashi Y, Ohmura T, Hirata K et al. Survivin expression is regulated by coexpression of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 and epidermal growth factor receptor via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT signaling pathway in breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 2005; 65: 11018–11025.

npg

- 48 Papapetropoulos A, Fulton D, Mahboubi K, Kalb RG, O'Connor DS, Li F et al. Angiopoietin-1 inhibits endothelial cell apoptosis via the Akt/survivin pathway. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 9102-9105.
- 49 Herishanu Y, Perez-Galan P, Liu D, Biancotto A, Pittaluga S, Vire B et al. The lymph node microenvironment promotes B-cell receptor signaling, JNF-kappaB activation, and tumor preliferation in chronic lymphorytic leukemia. Blood 2011; 117: 563–574.
 563–574.
 50 Fukuda S, Singh P, Moh A, Abe M, Conway EM, Boswell HS et al. Survivin mediates
- 50 Fukuda S, Singh P, Moh A, Abe M, Conway EM, Boswell HS et al. Survivin mediates aberrant hematopoietic progenitor cell proliferation and acute leukemia in mice induced by internal tandem duplication of Fi13. Blood 2009; 114: 394–403.
- Li C, Yan Y, Ji W, Bao L, Qian H, Chen L *et al.* OCT4 positively regulates Survivin expression to promote cancer cell proliferation and leads to poor prognosis in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**: e49693.
 Martinez A, Bellosillo B, Bosch F, Ferrer A, Marce S, Villamor N *et al.* Nuclear
- 52 Martinez A, Bellosillo B, Bosch F, Ferrer A, Marce S, Villamor N et al. Nuclear survivin expression in mantle cell lymphoma is associated with cell proliferation and survival. Am J Pathol 2004; 164: 501–510.
- 53 Marton S, Garcia MR, Robello C, Persson H, Trajtenberg F, Pritsch O et al. Small RNAs analysis in CLL reveals a deregulation of miRNA expression and novel miRNA candidates of putative relevance in CLL pathogenesis. *Leukemia* 2008; 22: 330–338.
- 54 Rodon J, Dienstmann R, Serra V, Tabernero J. Development of PI3K inhibitors: lessons learned from early clinical trials. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 2013; 10: 143–153.

Supplementary Information accompanies this paper on the Leukemia website (http://www.nature.com/leu)

Leukemia & Lymphoma, 2015; Early Online: 1–6 © 2015 Informa UK, Ltd. ISSN: 1042-8194 print / 1029-2403 online DOI: 10.3109/10428194.2014.990900

informa healthcare

Dissecting chronic lymphocytic leukemia microenvironment signals in patients with unmutated disease: microRNA-22 regulates phosphatase and tensin homolog/AKT/FOXO1 pathway in proliferative leukemic cells

Florencia Palacios^{1,2}, Daniel Prieto¹, Cecilia Abreu¹, Santiago Ruiz³, Pablo Morande¹, Tamara Fernández-Calero⁴, Gabriela Libisch⁵, Ana Inés Landoni⁶ & Pablo Oppezzo^{1,2}

¹Recombinant Protein Unit, ⁴Bioinformatics Unit and ⁵Molecular Biology Unit, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Uruguay, ²Immunobiology Department, School of Medicine, Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay, ³Department of Neurodevelopmental Biology, Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable, Montevideo, Uruguay and ⁶Service of Hematology and Bone Marrow Transplantation, Hospital Maciel, Montevideo, Uruguay

Abstract

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is characterized by the accumulation of clonal B cells arrested in G0/G1 stages that coexist with proliferative B cells. We identified one of these proliferative subsets in the peripheral blood from patients with unmutated disease (UM). Aiming to characterize the molecular mechanism underlying this proliferative behavior, we performed gene expression analysis of the mRNA and microRNAs in this leukemic subpopulation and compared results with those for the quiescent counterpart. Our results suggest that proliferation of this subset mainly depends on microRNA-22 overexpression, which induces phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) downregulation and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathway activation. These results underline the role of the PI3K/AKT pathway at the origin of this proliferative pool in patients with UM CLL and provide additional rationale for the use of PI3K inhibitors.

Keywords: CLL microenvironment signals, unmutated patients

Introduction

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is an incurable disease of unknown etiology. Evidence suggests that crosstalk with accessory cells in the tissue microenvironment favors disease progression through the maintenance of a proliferating CLL B-cell subpopulation [1]. Furthermore, the tumoral microenvironment also regulates the expression of microRNAs (miRs), which play an important role in the prognosis and progression of CLL [2].

In secondary lymphoid organs, B-cells express activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), an enzyme that initiates somatic hypermutation and class switch recombination (CSR) processes, but might also contribute to cellular transformation and tumor progression through its mutagenic activity [3]. In CLL, we and others have demonstrated that AID is abnormally expressed in the peripheral blood (PB) of patients with unmutated CLL (UM) [4–6]. More recently, we identified that AID expression is mainly restricted to a small proliferative subset undergoing the CSR process, exhibiting high expression of proliferative molecules and correlated with a poor prognosis [7].

In this work we evaluated the gene expression profile (GEP) of the mRNA and miRs from this proliferative fraction (PF), identified as IgG+/CD5+/Ki-67high/AID+ cells, and compared it with the quiescent fraction (QF), identified as IgM+/CD5+/Ki-67low/AID-, of the same patient.

Our results suggest that overexpression of miR-22 is associated with the proliferative behavior of the PF through activation of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathway. We found that miR-22 down-regulates the tumor suppressor phosphatase and tensin homolog 10 (PTEN), which in turn switches on the PI3K/AKT pathway. The activation of this pathway appears to be related to the cytosolic translocation of the transcription factor FOXOI, overexpression of survivin and down-regulation of p27^{-kip-1} (p27). These results emphasize the importance of this PF in the PB of patients with UM CLL with a poor clinical outcome, and propose a novel miR (miR-22) as an important modulator of PI3K/AKT signaling in CLL.

Materials and methods

Patient samples

Twenty-two patients with CLL were segregated into two groups: (i) the progressive group defined by UM immunoglobulin profile, AID and lipoprotein lipase (LPL) expression at the mRNA level and presence in PB of at least 2% of CLL B-cells undergoing the CSR process to immunoglobulin G

Correspondence: Oppezzo Pablo, PhD, Institut Pasteur de Montevideo, Unit of Recombinant Protein, Mataojo 2020, Montevideo (11400), Uruguay. Tel: + 33-598-2-5220910. Fax: + 33-598-2-5224185. E-mail: poppezzo@pasteur.edu.uy Received 11 November 2014; accepted 16 November 2014

2 F. Palacios et al.

(IgG) [7]; (ii) the indolent group displaying a mutated immunoglobulin heavy chain variable (IgVH) profile, negative LPL and AID expression and absence of cells undergoing CSR. Patients were followed at the Hospital Maciel and provided informed consent according to the ethical regulations of Uruguay and the Declaration of Helsinki.

miR and mRNA array

RNA from CLL B-cells was isolated using a mirVana isolation kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). mRNA microarray analysis was performed using a 4×44K Whole Human Genome Oligo-Microarray (G4112F; Aglient, Santa Clara, CA) and miRNA microarray was performed using an 8×15K Human miRNA Microarray (G4470B; Aglient) containing 470 human miRNA probes. Data analysis was accomplished using R/Bioconductor. Differential expression was assayed using limma software and ontology analysis conducted with the GOHyperGAll function. Array analysis is available in the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database (accession number GSE53270).

Quantitative PCR analysis

Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), quantitative PCR (Q-PCR) and PCR analyses of miRs were carried out as previously described [7,8], respectively.

Cell sorting studies and flow cytometry analysis

Isolation of CLL PB mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from PB, cytometry analysis and sorting experiments were performed as previously described [7]. The QF expresses exclusively IgM surface Ig, and PF expresses IgM plus IgG, or exclusively IgG surface Ig. In all cases, the purity of isolated subpopulations was > 98%. Isolated subsets were also evaluated by CD5 and Ki-67 expression markers, AID mRNA expression and clonal IgVH rearrangement. We defined as the QF, IgM+CD5+Ki-67lowAID-, and as the PF, IgG+CD5+Ki-67highAID+.

Confocal microscopy and flow cytometry analysis

Analysis was performed as previously described [9]. Briefly, incubation was carried out for 1 h at room temperature (RT) with rabbit anti-FOXO1 (1:100); goat anti-survivin (1:100) or mouse anti-p27 (1:1600), washes were performed and incubation was then performed with anti-mouse Alexa 488 (1:2000), anti-rabbit Alexa 546 (1:1000), anti-goat Alexa 633 (1:1000) and anti-mouse phycoerythrin (PE) (1:1000), respectively, for 1 h at RT (Supplementary Table I to be found online at http://informahealthcare.com/doi/abs/10.3109/ 10428194.2014.990900). Nuclearstainingwith 4;6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) or propidium iodide was performed.

miR transfections and CLL B-cell stimulation

We transfected PBMCs of patients with CLL with miR-22, antagomiR-22 or irrelevant miR conjugated to Cy3 using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Waltham, MA). PBMCs (2×10^6) were resuspended in Opti-MEM1 (Invitrogen) and transfected with 50 nM of miR and 5 µL/mL of lipofectamine. After 6 h the cells were washed and cultured in RPM1 1640 medium (Invitrogen) supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and evaluated by flow cytometry and/or confocal microscopy at 24 h or 48 h. Transfection efficiency was evaluated by flow cytometry analysis using the Cy3 fluorophore incorporated at the 3' position of the synthesized oligos. Only experiments with highest transfection efficiency, ranging 75–98%, were evaluated. Stimulation of PBMCs from patients with CLL was carried out as previously described [9].

Statistical analyses

Comparison of different gene mRNA expressions from QF and PF of the same patient was evaluated by Q-PCR using either paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test or two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-test. For protein level evaluation of PTEN, AKT, pAKT^{-Thr308}, FOXO1, survivin, p27 and Ki-67, a paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed. Variables with *p*-values <0.05 were considered to be significant. All analyses were done using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA). For microarray data analysis, statistical significance ($p \leq 0.05$) was calculated with Student's *t*-test followed by Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate correction (FDR) using GeneSpring software.

Results

Transcriptome and microRNAome analysis of CLL PF highlight PI3K/AKT activated pathway

Analysis of the miR GEP of PF and QF isolated from four cases of UM CLL (Supplementary Table II to be found online http://informahealthcare.com/doi/abs/10.3109/10428 at 194.2014.990900) showed six differentially expressed miRs (p-value \leq 0.05). miR-22, miR-107 and miR-15b were overexpressed in the PF whereas miR-26a, miR-29a and miR-150 were down-regulated [Figure 1(B)]. Up-regulated miRs in the PF were confirmed by Q-PCR in eight cases of CLL [Figure 1(C)]. Concerning mRNA GEP, a significant number of differentially expressed genes were underlined in the PF. These could be grouped into different clusters related to cell activation, motility and migration, response to stress and others, as shown in Figure 1(D). We also performed gene ontology analysis of the differential GEPs between the PF and QF. The results suggested that the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway could be activated in this PF, in which increased expression of cell cycle activators such as mitogen-activated protein kinase 1 (MAPK1) and cyclin D2 (CCND2), antiapoptotic molecules such as as BCL2A1 and survivin, and proteins implicated in cell proliferation and migration such as FYN, talin-1 and paxillin were up-regulated [Figure 1(E)]. Also, the PF displayed low expression of the tumor suppressor PTEN and cell cycle regulator genes such as p27 and FOXO1. all of them related to the PI3K/AKT cascade [Figure 1(E)].

miR-22 is associated with PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway activation, survivin overexpression and p27 down-regulation

Since recent evidence demonstrated that miR-22 down-regulates PTEN and activates the AKT/FOXO1 pathway in human cell lines [10], we explored whether the proliferative behavior of the PF could be associated with miR-22 overexpression and its regulation of the PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway. For



miR-22 regulates CLL proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway 3

Figure 1. MicroRNA and mRNA comparative gene expression analysis between proliferative (PF) and quiescent (OF) CLL fractions. (A) Proliferative and quiescent CLL fractions in a patient with WD CLL Representative flow cytometry profile from patient with WD CLL (A) gene surface expression and intracytoplasmic expression of Ki-67 on both subsets (IgM and IgG) on UM CLL B - cells. Cells that express exclusively IgM surface Ig and cells that express IgM plus IgG or exclusively IgG surface Ig were isolated by cell sorter and defined as QF and PF, respectively. (B-E) Differential microRNA and mRNA expression of PF and QF. (B) Relative food change in expression of miR-22, miR-150, miR-160, miR-160, mir-29a and miR-150 in the PF. (C) Q-PCR of miR-22, miR-15b, and QF. (B) Relative food change in expression of miR-22, miR-15b, miR-107, miR-26a, mir-29a and miR-150 in the PF. (C) Q-PCR of miR-22, miR-15b, and miR-107 expression in PF and QF of CLL B-cells. miR-22 and miR-15b were significantly overexpressed in the PF (*P* = 0.012 and *P* = 0.032, respectively, WilcXoxon matched pairs test), but no significant differences were found for miR-107, miR-22 is the most differentially overexpressed when comparing the QF and the PF. (D) Analysis of mRNA expression profile. (E) Heatmap representing relative rollierative/quiescenia levels for genes in the AKT pathway. Relative expression profile. (E) Heatmap representing relative proliferative/quiescenia levels for genes in the AKT pathway. Relative expression profile. (E) Heatmap in Pirelative pairs and the represention of pirelative to gene expression in quiescent cells while green represents high gene expression in PF relative to gene expression in PF relative to gene expression in quiescent cells while green represents high gene level was confirmed by Q-PCR.

this, we evaluated PTEN, total AKT and pAKT^{-thr308} expression, which is one of the hallmarks of the activated PI3K/AKT pathway. We also assessed subcellular localization of FOXO1 and expression levels of survivin and p27 proteins. The results showed that in the PF, miR-22 was overexpressed by three-fold, whereas PTEN mRNA was underexpressed (two-fold) [Figure 2(A)]. A significant down-regulation of PTEN protein levels was observed in the PF when compared

4 F. Palacios et al.



with the QF of six cases of CLL [Figure 2(B)]. Since PTEN inhibits the P13K/AKT pathway, we investigated expression levels of unphosphorylated AKT and pAKT^{-Inr308}, respectively, in both subsets. Results showed no significant differences in total AKT expression between the two fractions. However, significantly increased levels of pAKT ^{Thr308} were evidenced in the PF compared to the QF in seven patients with CLL [Figures 2(C) and 2(D)]. Because translocation of FOXO1 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm is a consequence of an activated AKT pathway [11], we studied the subcellular localization of this

miR-22 regulates CLL proliferation via PI3K/AKT pathway 5

transcription factor in both subsets. Results showed that the QF displayed a homogeneous nuclear expression of FOXO1, whereas the PF predominantly exhibited a cytosolic localization of this transcription factor [Figures 2(E) and 2(F)]. Given that p27 [12] and survivin [13] have been implicated in cell cycle arrest and inhibition of apoptosis in CLL, respectively, and are associated with the PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 pathway [14], we studied their expression in the different fractions. Results showed that p27 expression was mainly found in the QF but not in the PF [Figure 2(G)], whereas high expression of survivin was mainly observed in the PF and was almost absent in the QF [Figure 2(H)].

CD40 engagement induces miR-22 expression and CLL proliferation

Since the results suggested that miR-22 could be implicated in CLL B-cell proliferation by activating the AKT pathway, we investigated whether inhibition of miR-22 might result in up-regulation of PTEN. To examine this possibility, we first evaluated pAKT^{Thr308} and PTEN expression levels in 22 patients with CLL. Then, we selected five cases displaying the highest pAKT signals and the lowest PTEN expression and proceeded with miR transfection assays. After inhibition of miR-22 by antagomiR-22 transfection, our results showed increased PTEN protein levels at similar expression values to those of indolent CLLs [Figure 2(1)]. These results suggest that miR-22 is able to down-regulate PTEN expression in CLL B-cells, enabling them to proliferate through the AKT activated pathway.

Regarding the observation that the PF expressed molecules related to the microenvironment interaction, we evaluated whether T-dependent signaling such as CD40L/ interleukin-4 (IL-4) could trigger CLL B-cell proliferation through miR-22 overexpression. For that, we stimulated CD40L-responsive patients with CD40L/IL-4 and evaluated the miR-22 expression. Our results showed that CD40L/IL-4 stimulation resulted in overexpression of miR-22, whereas low effects were evidenced for miR-1201 or miR-15b expression [Figure 2(J)].

To confirm the importance of miR-22 in CLL B-cell proliferation, we evaluated Ki-67 expression in four patients with CD40L responsive indolent disease and we stimulated B-cells with CD40L/IL-4 after transfection with miR-22 or with irrelevant miR controls. Our results showed a significant increase of Ki-67 expression after CD40L/IL-4 stimulation, to the same level as the condition with CD40L/IL-4 plus irrelevant miR transfected cells, when compared to B cells without stimulus. However, B cells with CD40L/IL-4 plus miR-22 transfection showed a significant increase in Ki-67 positive cells compared to B cells with CD40L/IL-4 plus irrelevant control [Figure 2(K)]. The results suggest that miR-22 could play a role in CLL proliferation.

Discussion

Understanding the crosstalk between malignant B-cells and their milieu could give us new clues on the cellular and molecular biology of CLL. It is clear that most proliferative events occur in the tissues, where leukemic cells are able to exploit microenvironmental interactions to acquire tumoral growing conditions [1]. This PF coexists, in different proportions, with clonal B-cells which are arrested in G0/G1 stages. The balance between the two compartments could contribute to the variable clinical course of patients with CLL [15].

In the present work, we evaluated the transcriptome and microRNAome of a CLL PF and conclude that miR-22 is the most overexpressed miR in this subset, and this overexpression switches on the AKT pathway in the proliferative leukemic cells.

Since a regulatory loop involving the miR-22/PTEN/AKT/ FOXO1 pathway has been demonstrated [10], we investigated the obseration that the proliferative behavior of the leukemic subset depended on miR-22 overexpression and an activated PTEN/AKT cascade. Our results suggest that up-regulation of miR-22 is associated with low PTEN expression at the mRNA and protein levels. Furthermore, in the PF, AKT is switched on probably through PDK1, which phosphorylates and activates the threonine protein kinase AKT (pAKT^{-Thr308}). Also, we observed that the transcription factor FOXO1 is mainly localized in the cytoplasm of the PF cells, whereas in the QF it showed nuclear localization. These data agree with previous results suggesting that AKT activity is associated with nuclear export and cytosolic degradation of FOXO proteins [11,14]. Also, two key molecules involved in the CLL biology, p27 and survivin, which appear to be downstream to the AKT/FOXO1 pathway, were studied. The results showed that in the PF, p27 protein is down-regulated and survivin is overexpressed in the PF of UM CLL. Finally, transfection experiments with CD40L engagement and evaluation of Ki-67 expression confirmed the proliferative feature of the PF and propose that microenvironmental signals could be involved in this tumor proliferation.

Taken together, our data provide new evidence helping to understand the crosstalk between this proliferative B-cell pool and its microenvironment. These findings emphasize the importance of this proliferative subset in PB from patients with UM CLL with poor clinical outcome, and highlight the relevance of microenvironmental signals in the maintenance of the CLL tumoral clone through the regulatory miR-22/ PTEN/AKT/FOXO1 cascade.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants from ANII: Fondo Clemente Estable (FCE-7273) and Fondo Maria Viñas (FAU-7323). This work was partially funded by FOCEM (MERCOSUR Structural Convergence Fund), COF 03/11 and CYTED Program. We wish to thank Dr. Alfonso Cayota for his help with miR technologies, the Cell Biology Unit of the Institut Pasteur de Montevideo for their technical assistance in cell sorting analysis and Mrs. Ivana Faccini for her helpful assistance with manuscript correction. We also thank the patients with CLL for their cooperation and help in providing invaluable blood samples for this work.

Potential conflict of interest: Disclosure forms provided by the authors are available with the full text of this article at www.informahealthcare.com/lal.

6 F. Palacios et al.

References

[1] Chiorazzi N. Cell proliferation and death: forgotten features of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol 2007;20:399-413.

[2] Mraz M, Kipps TJ. MicroRNAs and B cell receptor signaling in

 [3] Montamat-Sicotte D, Palacios F, Di Noia JM, et al. Origins and consequences of AID expression in lymphoid neoplasms. Curr Immunol Rev 2013;9:75–85.
[4] Oppezzo P, Vuillier F, Vasconcelos Y, et al. Chronic lymphocytic

[1] Oppezzo F, vulnet F, vasculteus J, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells expressing AID display a dissociation between class switch recombination and somatic hypermutation. Blood 2003;101:4029-4032.

[5] McCarthy H, Wierda WG, Barron LL, et al. High expression of activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) and splice variants is a

activation-induced cylutine deaminase (AD) in Spince Variants is a distinctive feature of poor-pognosis chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Biood 2003;101:4903-4908. [6] Oppezzo P, Dumas G, Lalanne AI, et al. Different isoforms of BSAP regulate expression of AID in normal and chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. Blood 2005;105:2495-2503.

[7] Palacios F, Moreno P, Morande P, et al. High expression of AID and active class switch recombination might account for a more

Supplementary material available online

Supplementary Tables I-II showing further data.

aggressive disease in unmutated CLL patients: link with an activated microenvironment in CLL disease. Blood 2010;115:4488-4496. [8] Chen C, Ridzon DA, Broomer AJ, et al. Real-time quantification of microRNAs by stem-loop RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 2005;33:e179. [9] Moreno P, Abreu C, Borge M, et al. Lipoprotein lipase expression in ummutated CLL patients is the consequence of a demethylation process induced by the microenvironment. Leukemia 2013;27:721-725. [10] Bar N, Dilkstein R. miR-22 forms a regulatory loop in PTEN/AKT pathway and modulates signaling kinetics. PLoS One 2010;5:e10859. [11] Stahl M, Dijkers PF, Kops GJ, et al. The forkhead transcription factor FoXO regulates transcription of p27[Xi] and Bim in response to II-2. JImmunol 2002;168:5024-5031. [12] Vrhovac R, Delmer A, Tang R, et al. Prognostic significance of the

cell cycle inhibitor p27Kip1 in chronic B-cell lymphocytic leukemia.
Blood 1998;91:4694-4700.
[13] Granziero L, Ghia P, Circosta P, et al. Survivin is expressed on

CD40 stimulation and interfaces proliferation and apoptosis in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2001;97:2777-2783.

[14] Chakrabarty A, Bhola NE, Sutton C, et al. Trastuzumab-resistant cells rely on a HER2-PI3K-FoxO-survivin axis and are sensitive to PI3K inhibitors. Cancer Res 2013;73:1190-1200.

[15] Caligaris-Cappio F. Role of the microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2003;123:380-388.